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City of Stirling Annual Report 2015/16

Where to Get a Copy
The Annual Report can be downloaded
from the City’s website (www.stirling.
wa.gov.au/annualreport) or accessed
in audio-visual format named ‘The
Year in Review’ on the City’s YouTube
channel (www.youtube.com/user/
cityofstirlingwa). It is also promoted
in media in the lead up to the Annual
Electors General Meeting.
The City produces a limited number
of hard copies of the Annual Report,
in line with its ongoing commitment to
sustainability. These may be viewed
by the public at the Administration
Centre and the six Stirling Libraries.
Alternatively, a copy of the report can
be requested by calling the City’s
Customer Contact Centre on
(08) 9205 8555.
Alternative Format
All City of Stirling publications are
available in alternative formats,
including large print, on request. Please
phone the City on (08) 9205 8555.
The Annual Report can be translated
into the below languages by calling the
Translating and Interpreting Service
(TIS) on 13 14 50.
• Arabic

• Greek

• Chinese

• Italian

• Croatian

• Juba Arabic

• Dinka

• Vietnamese.

Further Reading
To find out more about the
Global Reporting Initiative, visit
www.globalreporting.org

Welcome
The City of Stirling is proud to present the
Annual Report for 2015/16, highlighting
the achievements and challenges faced by
the City in this financial year. Continuing
to operate as an open and accountable
organisation, the City has outlined the scope
of its services, and presents information
on our financial and strategic performance
during the 2015/16 financial year.

Introduction
The Western Australian Local Government
Act 1995 requires local governments to
produce an annual report by 31 December
each year. The City of Stirling Annual Report
is compiled in-house and is reviewed by
the Chief Executive Officer, Executive and
Management Team to ensure its accuracy.
The financial statements have been certified
by an independent auditor and signed by
the Chief Executive Officer.

The Strategic Community Plan and
its supporting Corporate Business
Plan form the City’s vision for the
development of the City over the next
10 years and beyond. These documents
outline the community’s aspirations for
the City of Stirling in 2023. The 2015/16
Annual Report charts the third year
of reporting against the 2013-2023
Strategic Community Plan. It explains
how the City has delivered on its vision
to be a place where people choose to
live, work, visit and invest, with safe and
thriving neighbourhoods, and a range of
housing, employment and recreational
opportunities.
The City recognises the need to build
a sustainable future for the community.
To achieve this, the City has adopted
the Global Reporting Initiative (GRI)
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as a means of monitoring progress
towards sustainability and outlining a
strategy to realise its goals. The GRI
process enables the City to deliver on
reporting commitments in a transparent,
consistent and internationally credible
framework. The City has chosen GRI
indicators that are most relevant to its
activities. The GRI Index can be found
on page 168 of this report.
Key performance indicators have
been tested on a sample basis by
the Internal Auditor.
The report is divided into six main
sections:
• An overview of the City including
reports from His Worship the Mayor,
Chief Executive Officer and the
Director Corporate Services

• Information about the City’s Council
and governance
• Information about the organisation
• A strategic performance report
• A service performance report
• Statements and indexes including
detailed Financial Statements.
Please enjoy reading this report and if
you have any feedback to improve how
we report to the community, please
contact the City on (08) 9205 8555 or
email stirling@stirling.wa.gov.au

Performance Highlights
Against Objectives

The City of Stirling 2015/16 Annual Report outlines progress toward the vision
and strategic objectives set out in the Strategic Community Plan (2013-2023).
This report measures the City’s performance against what we set out to
achieve in our 2015/16 to 2018/19 Corporate Business Plan. The Corporate
Business Plan, together with the Strategic Community Plan, forms the City’s
‘Plan for the Future’.
Listed in the plan are six aspirational objectives that further describe the City’s
vision for the future. Each aspirational objective is centred on a theme. The
following table highlights the City’s major achievements and challenges in
2015/16 against these six aspirational objectives. A more detailed report of the
City’s achievements to realise these aspirational objectives begins on page 76.

Theme 1: Liveable
City and Thriving
Neighbourhoods

Theme 4:
Accessible and
Connected City

Theme 2:
Sustainable
Environment

Theme 5:
Prosperous City

Theme 3:
Engaged
Communities

Theme 6: Making
It Happen – City’s
Capacity to Deliver
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Theme 1: Liveable City and
Thriving Neighbourhoods

Theme 2: Sustainable
Environment

Theme 3: Engaged
Communities

The City of Stirling will have beautiful
streetscapes, open spaces and a
range of housing choices creating
a strong sense of place. People will
be encouraged to be active through
a variety of exciting events and
recreational activities. Residents will
feel safe and there will be access to
quality health and care services to meet
the changing needs of the community.

The City of Stirling will value, protect
and improve the environment by using
natural resources wisely, reducing
the impact of our activities on the
environment and protecting wildlife
and natural habitats. The City will
support and encourage everyone in
the community to work towards a
sustainable future.

The City of Stirling will be a place where
people from diverse backgrounds will
feel included and respected. Residents
will be informed and involved in
important local issues and encouraged
to participate in community life.

Major Achievements in 2015/16
• Completed construction of the $3.1
million Mirrabooka Stage 3 project.
• Metropolitan Redevelopment
Authority and the City of Stirling
commenced the construction of the
forward works for the Scarborough
Redevelopment project.
• The City’s Summerset Festival again
attracted over 40,000 visitors to
more than 50 events throughout the
City over two fun-packed weeks in
January and February 2016.
Challenges 2015/16
• The City and community have a
significant challenge ahead to plant
and protect trees if we are to achieve
Council’s goal of 18 per cent tree
canopy cover across the City by
2030. The existing canopy cover is
12.9 per cent and over the last four
years the City has lost 81 Hectares
(810,000m²) of tree canopy. Around
two-thirds of this loss has come from
residential land.
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Major Achievements in 2015/16
• The City implemented new waste
collection and recycling services in
2015/16 that resulted in 44 per cent
of Municipal Waste being diverted
from landfill, up from 34 per cent
last year.
• The City completed a two-year
Community Energy Efficiency
Program worth $879,056 with
$293,018 of Federal Government
funding. This program included
upgrades to City facilities as well
as community energy education
activities with around 2,000 people
participating.
• A total of 71,000 trees and shrubs
were planted under the Million Trees
initiative – an 11.5 per cent increase
on last year.
Challenges 2015/16
• The City did not achieve the State’s
commercial and industrial waste
recycling target for 2015. Focus
is now on the delivery of further
recycling initiatives that will continue
to increase waste recovery and
contribute towards the 2020 State
waste diversion target of 70 per cent.

Major Achievements in 2015/16
• The City received a Certificate of
Appreciation for an outstanding
contribution to the delivery of
Australian Citizenship ceremonies
from the Department of Immigration
and Border Protection.
• The City was the winner of the
Promoting Indigenous Recognition
Award category in the 2016 National
Awards for Local Government.
• The Wadjak Northside Aboriginal
Resource Centre officially opened
in November 2015. The City,
in partnership with the Wadjak
Northside Aboriginal Community
Group and Lotterywest, renovated a
kindergarten in Balga to develop this
resource centre.
Challenges 2015/16
• Keeping residents engaged with
recycling services to ensure that
services are used to their full
potential, maximising items that
are recycled or recovered and
reducing landfill.

Theme 4: Accessible
and Connected City
The City of Stirling will be accessible
with sustainable transport solutions,
safer roads and parking availability.
Improved technology will create a
connected community with many of
the City’s services available online.
Major Achievements in 2015/16
• As part of its ongoing commitment
to improving accessibility, the City
has completed more than $1.5m of
works to improve disability access
across some of the City’s most
high-profile buildings.
• The City received an additional $1.3
million from the Federal Government’s
Roads to Recovery program.
• The City secured access to digital
training for 98 local businesses
through a combination of Federal
Government Digital Enterprise
Training and City-funded training
grants.

Theme 5: Prosperous City
The City of Stirling will be fostering
business development and employment
opportunities, making it a great place
to invest. Our attractions and events
will stimulate tourism, increasing the
number of visitors to our City.
Major Achievements in 2015/16
• The State Government announced a
further $18 million investment in the
Scarborough Redevelopment Project
being delivered by the Metropolitan
Redevelopment Authority in
conjunction with the City.
• Major Development Applications to
expand retail facilities in Stirling City
Centre and Karrinyup Town Centre
were approved by the Metropolitan
Northwest Joint Development
Assessment Panel.
• The City continued to partner
with the Cities of Wanneroo and
Joondalup to promote the Sunset
Coast region as a tourist destination.

Challenges 2015/16

Challenges 2015/16

• The rollout of the National Broadband
Network infrastructure only accesses
approximately 14,700 properties
in the City. The remainder of the
City is not currently programmed
for the NBN rollout and community
expectation and demand far exceed
this number. An estimated 68,000
properties are still to be connected
to the NBN by 2018.

• Changes in the State Planning
Framework have resulted in
significant delays to the City
implementing its planning
frameworks for the Mirrabooka,
Stirling City Centre and Herdsman
Glendalough areas.

Theme 6: Making It Happen
– City’s Capacity to Deliver
The City of Stirling will continue to
be recognised both regionally and
nationally as a Council committed
to quality services and continuous
improvement. We will build on this
reputation while continuing to be
among the best-performing local
governments in Australia and beyond.
Major Achievements in 2015/16
• Over 80 employees participated
in the Kaleidoscope Cultural
Awareness Program in its first year
and a further 43 employees attended
during the first half of 2016.
• Implementation of the City’s Property
Strategy initiatives has achieved an
increase in gross revenues of 57 per
cent and improved occupancy levels
from 72 per cent to 87 per cent from
the Property Investment Portfolio.
• The City has developed an online
learning facility which is utilised to
develop customised learning and
development programs.
Challenges 2015/16
• The demands of numerous large
capital works projects, coupled with
the City’s continued provision of
high-quality services and facilities,
provides various resourcing and
financial challenges to the City.
Planning and executing these
projects while maintaining service
levels can have long-term financial
sustainability impacts for the City. It
is therefore critical that a balanced
approach is taken at all times.
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The City’s Leadership Approach
Our Vision

Our Values

The City of Stirling will be a place
where people choose to live, work,
visit and invest. We will have safe and
thriving neighbourhoods with a range
of housing, employment and
recreational opportunities. We will
engage with our diverse community
to help shape our future into the City
of Stirling - City of Choice.

• Integrity

Our Mission
To serve the City’s diverse community
through delivering efficient, responsive
and sustainable services.
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• Accountability
• Environment
• Community Participation
• Respect
• Diversity

Our Commitment
to Sustainability
The City of Stirling defines
sustainable development as:
Meeting the needs of current and future
generations through simultaneous
social, environmental and economic
improvement.
The City will achieve this through:
Social Development
The City will work to create places
offering a high quality of life where
people choose to live and work, now
and in the future. These are places that
are well planned, built and run; are safe,
harmonious and inclusive; and where
everyone has a voice, can participate in
decision-making and shape the future
of their communities.

Environmental Protection
and Enhancement

Principle Three: Improving
lives and human rights

The City will minimise its environmental
footprint by using scarce resources like
water and energy wisely and reducing
the amount of waste that goes to
landfill. The City will act as a steward
to protect and preserve and, where
possible, to enhance the rich diversity
of plants, animals and wildlife habitats
in this City. The City will act to protect
the community from the impact of
climate change and preserve the quality
of the air, soil and water we all depend
upon for life and wellbeing. The City will
encourage and support the community
to live sustainably.

The decisions that we make for our
benefit today are not at someone else’s
expense, and we work to improve the
lives of everyone in our community.

Economic Development
The City will work to promote a
local economy that is competitive,
generates a high number of good
job opportunities for local people,
and supports a thriving and dynamic
business sector. The City will help
businesses and consumers manage
their environmental impacts through
education, incentives and regulation.
The City has the following Sustainability
Principles which will guide its approach
to sustainability:
Principle One: Long-term
decision making
All decisions will reflect and give equal
importance to the long-term impacts
on the community, environment and
economy as well as the achievement of
shorter-term goals.
Principle Two: Fairness
for all generations
The City will manage resources in a
way that ensures that our children and
grandchildren will also enjoy sufficient
resources, and that everyone will have
access to those resources.

Principle Four: Environmentally and
socially responsible development
The planning and development of our
City and public places will be done in
the most environmentally and peoplefriendly way that is possible.
Principle Five: Acting
with precaution
When the City identifies a threat of
serious or irreversible environmental
harm it will take action based upon
reasonable knowledge, rather than
waiting for absolute proof of the
consequences.

Our Service Commitment
The City of Stirling is committed to
being a dynamic, effective customerfocussed organisation with a positive
work culture.
Our Customer Charter ensures the
City successfully delivers services
with a strong focus on our customers,
and is reviewed on an annual basis.
The City of Stirling’s customer
commitments are to ensure that we will:
• Be professional, polite, courteous
and helpful
• Handle all customer enquiries and
interactions in a personalised manner
• Provide the correct information
and assistance
• Respond in a timely manner
• Value all feedback.

Principle Six: Conserving the natural
environment and biodiversity
The City will strive to protect, retain,
enhance and manage the diversity
of animal, plant and human life within
the City of Stirling, and the rest of
the world.
Principle Seven: Minimising
the impact of operations,
goods and services

Further Reading
To find out more about the City
Customer Service Charter go
to www.stirling.wa.gov.au/
customercharter

In everything it does and buys the City
will consider the environmental and
social resources that have been used
to produce those things, and the
impacts from their disposal and use,
as well as cost.
Principle Eight: Accountability,
transparency and engagement
The City will report its performance
clearly, accurately and fully, and involve
the community in decision making.
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Snapshot of Stirling
The City of Stirling, located 8 kilometres north of Perth CBD, is 104.7 square kilometres
stretching from the beautiful western coastline encompassing Scarborough and Trigg
beaches to Dianella in the east and Mount Lawley in the south.

Estimated residential population

Figure 1: City of Stirling Estimated Residential Population Growth
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Source: Australian Bureau of Statistics, Regional Population Growth, Australia. Ref 3218.0
The City of Stirling was named after
the suburb of Stirling, the location of
the council’s first Civic Centre and
Works Depot. The suburb was named
after Admiral Sir James Stirling, who
explored and colonised the Swan River
and was the first Governor of Western
Australia. The suburb was originally
an extension of Osborne Park, an area
rich in market gardens. The locality
remained part of Osborne Park until
1976, when it was officially gazetted
as Stirling.

Aboriginal History

February 1871 marked the year of the
inaugural Perth Road Board meeting,
at which eligible landowners elected the
first Board members. The Board was
entrusted with responsibility for roads
within a 225 square mile area, including
a vast area of the current municipalities
of Stirling, Wanneroo and Joondalup,
with Wanneroo Road the first major
road to be cleared and established.

When colonisation began in 1829,
Yellagonga was the elder of the
Aboriginal people to whom Mooro
country belonged. A coastal wetlands
trail for Nyoongar people extended from
the Swan River along a chain of lakes
at Monger and north through Herdsman
and Gwelup along the coastal corridor
to Yanchep. There are clusters of
Aboriginal Heritage Sites registered at
each of the lakes in this chain.

In 1961, the Perth Road Board became
the Shire of Perth, and in 1971 the
Shire officially became a city – the
City of Stirling.
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The City of Stirling acknowledges
the Nyoongar people as the original
custodians of the land. The Nyoongar
people have occupied the south-west
region of WA for over 40,000 years. The
Nyoongar nation is made up of many
regions. The City of Stirling falls within
Mooro Country which extends from the
Indian Ocean in the west and the Swan
River in the south, to Ellenbrook in the
east and beyond Yanchep in the north.

Further Reading
To find out more about the
history of the City of Stirling go
to www.stirling.wa.gov.au/
history

Indian Ocean

Perth

Perth

Fremantle

Population
The City of Stirling has one of the most
diverse populations in Australia, with
an estimated population of 227,566
representing a wide variety of cultures,
ages and household types.
The City of Stirling has one of the
highest rates of overseas migration in
the country with over 15,000 Stirling
residents having moved to Australia
from overseas in the last five years
(Federal Government, Settlement
Database).
According to the 2011 Census, nearly
25 per cent of City of Stirling residents
speak a language other than English
(LOTE) at home. Over 18 identified
languages are spoken by 77.4 per cent
of LOTE residents, with the remaining
32.6 per cent nominating ‘other
languages’ on their census form.

• 35.8 percent (70,008) of the City’s
population were born overseas – a
13,121 increase from 2006 Census.
• 22.4 per cent of the population
were born in a non-main English
speaking country.
• 9.8 per cent (19,209) of the
population were born overseas
and have arrived since 2006.

Table 1: A Diverse Population
Residents Born in
Australia

57.7%

Residents Who speak
a Non-English
Language at Home

24.3%

Aboriginal and Torres
Strait Island Peoples

1.2%

• 6.7 per cent (13,017) of the
population were born overseas,
come from mainly non-English
speaking countries and have
arrived since 2006.
• The top 10 LOTE are Italian,
Vietnamese, Macedonian, Mandarin,
Cantonese, Arabic, Greek, Gujarati,
Spanish and Serbian.
• 22.1 per cent of the City of Stirling
population were born overseas and
are Australian citizens.
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Calendar of Events
The City provides a rich and diverse selection of free and low-cost events and activities. The annual calendar
celebrates the many cultures, talents and interests of residents. Below is an overview of the more significant
events hosted by the City in 2015/16.

15

15

July
• 8th NAIDOC Event
• 10th Mind Your Arts workshop series commences
• 22nd Get Ahead of the Game Club Development Forum

August

15

15
October
• 7th Rates Prize Draw
• 10th City of Stirling Art Award and Exhibition
• 17th Safer Stirling Event

September

15

15
December

November

• 3rd Art Exhibition by Joe Camilleri Day Club
• 13th Christmas Carols by Candlelight:
Stirling, Hamersley, Scarborough, Mt Lawley, North Beach

January

16

16

• 22nd Sunset Verandah commences
• 22nd Summerset Arts Festival commences
• 26th Stirling Australia Day Breakfast
and Premiers Active Citizen Awards
• 27th Stirling Libaries: Writers Festival commences

February

• 30th Glowride
• 31st Morro Tours

• 6th Charles Riley Memorial Reserve Open Day
• 7th Summerset Arts Festival closing concert

16
March
•
•
•
•

3rd Adopt-A-Park Supporters Appreciation Day
18th Harmony Day
19th WAAPA In The Park
19th Blessing of the Roads

• 3rd Community Jam

April

• 16th Stirling Times Kids Kerfuffle
• 25th ANZAC DAY Dawn Services:
North Beach, Mt Lawley, Nollamara, Osborne Park
• 26th Youth Skate Competition
• 27th Mirrabooka Stage 3 Official Opening
• 30th Welcome to Stirling refugee event

16
May
• 15th Celebration Park Official Opening
• 25th National Simultaneous Storytime
• 27th Reconciliation Walk

16
16

June
• 8th Club Development Seminar
• 14th Mayoral Business Breakfast
• 23rd City of Stirling Living Green Community
Sustainability Awards
• 29th Heritage Awards

Stirling’s Major Projects
In 2015/16, the City delivered over $50.9 million-worth of capital works projects. These infrastructure projects contribute to
making the City safer and more accessible.. The projects included construction works, maintenance and upgrades.
A summary of the Capital Works Projects are shown in Table 2.
Table 2: Capital Works Program Highlights 2015/16
Parks, sports and recreation (including pavilions and toilets)
Breckler Park, Dianella Change Room

$409,729

Dianella Hockey/Cricket Club

$476,009

Yokine Bowling Club

$201,459

Macaulay Clubroom

$260,166

Karrinyup Clubroom

$159,894

Stirling Civic Garden

$205,460

Stirling Leisure Centre, Herb Graham - Mirrabooka Futsal

$293,562

Community facilities
Stirling Community Centre, Hamersley

$695,156

Citywide Playground Renewal

$216,194

Luketina Reserve Park Upgrade

$185,274

Corporate properties
Replace Data Centre Air Conditioning

$265,169

Roads, footpaths and traffic management
Grindleford Drive Road Extension and Drainage Upgrade

$1,198,600

Strategic Footpath Program (45 new footpaths)

$1,690,800

Balcatta Road Resurfacing: South C’way (Erindale to Wanneroo)

$967,300

Walderton Avenue Traffic Management (Balga to Arkana)

$646,200

Scarborough Beach Road Resurfacing (Drake to Harborne)

$614,500

Duke Street Resurfacing (Scarborough Beach Road to Newborough)

$572,500

Hamilton Street Traffic Management (Hutton to North Beach)

$529,100

Latrobe Street Traffic Management (Hector to Bradford)

$508,200

Liege Street Road Upgrade (Scarborough Beach Road to Pearson Street) Stage 2

$468,400

Self Explaining Roads - Stage 1 (Innaloo Precinct)

$1,800

Parking installations, upgrades and extensions
Trigg Beach Northern Car Park Extension

16

$675,200

Drainage upgrades and flood mitigation
Ravenscar Street Drainage Upgrade (Moorland to Beatrice)

$532,500

Shearn Crescent Drainage Upgrade (Stage 1)

$420,200

Kweda Way Drainage Upgrade (Stage 1)

$286,200

Fleet and plant
Purchase of new and renewal of the City’s fleet and plant

$10,152,200

Corporate systems
Purchase of information technology

$992,347

Strategic projects
Three-Bin Kerbside Collections

$848,640

Rights of Way – Construction Upgrades

$1,994,800

Rights of Way – Lighting Retrofits

$1,028,800

Charles Riley Memorial Reserve Master Plan

$1,202,263

Paid Parking Strategy

$1,331,328

Mirrabooka Regional Centre Improvement Strategy

$3,237,821

Scarborough Beach Revitalisation Strategy

$1,681,486

Scarborough Beach Pool

$1,662,383

Carine Regional Open Space Master Plan Implementation

$622,989

The City secured over $20 million in grants, subsidies and contributions from State, Local, and Federal Government in
2015/16 to deliver projects and programs to the community. This included $4.6 million of Federal Government funding
through the Financial Assistance Grants program.
Some examples of these grants, subsidies and contributions are featured below.
Three-Bin Kerbside Collections
The City received a grant of $1.1 million from the WA Waste Authority towards the City’s new multiple-bin kerbside system.
The new system enables the City of Stirling to meet the WA Waste Authority’s target of diverting 50 per cent of household
waste from landfill by 2015 and 65 per cent by 2020.
Warriapendi Kindergarten
Lotterywest contributed $356,000 for property improvements to convert the former Warriapendi Kindergarten into an
Aboriginal Resource Centre. The new centre will be leased and operated by the WADJAK Northside Aboriginal Community
Group and will provide a valuable resource for the community to learn about local Aboriginal culture.
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As Mayor, it is with
great pleasure that
I present the City
of Stirling’s Annual
Report for 2015/16,
on behalf of my
fellow Councillors.

Mayor’s Message
2015/16 is a period that I am
particularly proud to say has resulted
in the City making significant
improvements in the way we interact
with businesses. We have implemented
many organisational improvements
resulting in the cutting of red tape,
ultimately delivering a boost to investor
confidence in the City.
Interest in the City of Stirling from the
retail sector was significant during
2015/16 with AMP submitting and
the Joint Development Assessment
Panel (JDAP) approving a $600 million
application to expand the Karrinyup
Shopping Centre. Set to almost double
the size of the centre, the project will
include new retail, dining, entertainment
areas and community spaces, and more
than 130 multiple dwellings.
In addition, Westfield’s application for
a $450 million project for its first-stage
makeover of the Westfield Innaloo
Shopping Centre was submitted
and subsequently approved by the
JDAP. The transformation will feature
expanded retail, commercial and
community spaces as well as a modern
roof-top entertainment precinct. This
project will play a significant part in the
transformation of the Stirling City Centre
into Perth’s second CBD.
Investor confidence in the City of
Stirling was at an all-time high during
2015/16, with more than $1.47 billion
in development applications lodged
with the City. This brings the tally of
development applications lodged with
the City in the past two years to over
$4 billion.
Stage 3 works of the Mirrabooka
Town Centre Redevelopment were
completed in December 2015, resulting
in the creation of a new main street
for the burgeoning suburb. Alongside
Stirling Libraries - Mirrabooka, the new
street now connects Sudbury Road
and Chesterfield Road, which now
accommodates a cyclist and pedestrianfriendly streetscape to enhance the

area. This brings the total investment in
the revitalisation of Mirrabooka to $26
million and has attracted over $18 million
of private development applications
since June 2015. As well as a new main
street, State 3 works have provided
a new community meeting place and
two development lots. The community
meeting place in the forecourt of the
library features public art and a potential
setting for food vehicles in the future.
With the Stirling economy worth just
over $12 billion per annum, along with
strong and diverse business sectors,
the area continues to grow. It is the
second largest employment district in
Western Australia after the Perth CBD,
with 68,000 local jobs employing over
100,000 people.
Changes to the City’s Local Planning
Scheme No. 3 last year mean compliant
proposed single dwellings (outside of
Heritage Protection Areas) are no longer
required to seek planning approval and
now only require a Building Permit. Since
their implementation, these changes
have streamlined the application
and development process, thereby
considerably reducing the processing
time required for straightforward single
dwelling approvals and cutting red tape
for straightforward single dwellings.
The City’s online e-lodgement system for
development applications and building
licences entered its second year. This
service has enabled registered users to
make planning and building applications
quickly via the City’s website, which
also allows the user to pay online and
track key milestones in the application
process at the click of a button. The
number of regular users of this online
system has increased considerably since
the system was first launched, with over
25 per cent of all the City’s development
applications and building licences now
being lodged via this system. This has
considerably streamlined the process
by making it far simpler for our regular
customers when dealing with the City.

This year, the State Government
announced an additional $18 million
towards the funding of the public realm
works bringing a combined investment
between the State Government and the
City to revitalise Scarborough Beach to
just over $100 million. On the back of
this, investor confidence in Scarborough
has bucked the trend of the mining
downturn in Western Australia, with over
$46 million of development applications
approved by the Metropolitan
Redevelopment Authority (MRA) in the
past 12 months for the area.
Works began in May to transform
Scarborough into the best beachfront
destination in Australian. The City’s
$26 million, 50-metre outdoor heated
beachside pool is the jewel in the crown
for the redevelopment. Once complete,
the redevelopment will provide a range
of leisure, economic and investment
opportunities, generating 8000 direct
and flow-on jobs and an estimated $25
million income per year over 17 years. It
is also estimated to accommodate 635
new dwellings and add 11,730 sqm of
office and retail space to the area.
Finally, being the Mayor of the City of
Stirling is about being part of a great
team that is hard working and totally
committed. The successes of the year
would not be possible without the
support and dedication of my fellow
Councillors, the City’s Chief Executive
Officer, Executive Team, employees,
the community and, of course, the
many volunteers who contribute each
day to make the City such a fantastic
place to live. Thank you to all who have
contributed to the combined success of
2015/16.
The City of Stirling certainly is an exciting
place to live, work and invest.

Giovanni Italiano (JP)
Mayor
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CEO’s Message
As Chief Executive Officer, I am
delighted with the progress we have
made over the past year. The City’s
exceptional results in the 2015/16
Annual Resident Satisfaction Research
reflected this effort, with a satisfaction
rating of 91 per cent recorded. The
City of Stirling’s prudent financial
management resulted in a balanced
budget, with the average increase in
rates kept low at 1.9 per cent. This
was one of the lowest rate increases in
the metropolitan area and is the lowest
increase the City has implemented since
1997/98. The City’s rate, at 4.563 cents
in the dollar, demonstrates the City’s
overall financial stability and excellent
financial management.

New Waste
Collection System

Progress on
Strategic Projects

The rollout of the new three-bin program
was the single-largest logistical project
ever undertaken by a local government
authority in Western Australia. I’m
happy to report that our residents have
embraced the new system, and the
City’s diversion from landfill rates are
steadily increasing.

Work on the Stirling City Centre precinct
has continued to achieve crucial
successes. The City has continued to
encourage government and the private
sector to invest in this key activity area
and facilitate the development of new
local business opportunities to allow
the project to be fully realised. With the
City being home to a growing population
and a thoroughfare for many commuters
heading to work, the transport strategy
remained a high priority. Strategic
planning for the main activity corridors
of Beaufort Street and Scarborough
Beach Road were also undertaken to
ensure infrastructure and amenity meet
the current and future needs of residents
and commuters.
Additionally, the City’s $100 million
partnership with the State Government
in the redevelopment of Scarborough
Beach has begun with forward works
beginning in May of 2016.
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2015/16 was the City’s first year of
operation of a new three-bin household
waste collection system (part of the
State Government’s ‘Better Bins’
program) after transitioning from a
single-bin program. The new program
manages waste for ratepayers into three
categories: household waste, recycling
and green waste. The City also replaced
the former bulk verge-side collection
with an on-demand skip bin service,
allowing residents to dispose of their
household waste at their convenience.
In addition, other on-demand services
were introduced including mattress,
white goods and e-waste disposal.

Responsible
Asset Management
The City is the steward of approximately
$2.9 billion worth of assets. These
assets underpin community access
to services and facilities, which
enhance the well-being of the City of
Stirling community. The provision and
maintenance of assets and associated
services is at the heart of the City’s longterm commitment to its residents. As a
key component of the City’s long-term
asset sustainability, the City invested
$95 million in 2015/16 towards asset
renewal, upgrades and new assets.

The progress achieved during the year
is the result of a concerted team effort
and consistently high customer service.
My gratitude therefore goes to the
Mayor, Councillors, Executive Team,
employees and volunteers for their
hard work and support. This has been
another year of significant achievements
and opportunities which have been
embraced by the City and our residents.
Looking forward, the City of Stirling’s
future looks bright.

Stuart Jardine
Chief Executive Officer

In 2015/16, the City
of Stirling continued
its strong strategic
focus to ensure that its
amenity and services
were among the best
in Western Australia.

Director Corporate
Services Report
Long-term financial sustainability is the key
objective of the City of Stirling’s financial
plan. With careful planning, the community
can be assured that the City has the financial
resources to achieve the objectives set out in
the Strategic Community Plan.

Summary
• Operating surplus of $11.7 million,
$7.8 million favourable to the
budgeted surplus of $3.9 million
(compared to $22.2 million surplus
in 2014/15). The favourable surplus
of $7.8 million was influenced by
reduced running costs ($1.4 million);
reduced depreciation related
to reduced capital expenditure
($2.4 million); reduced employee
costs ($1.6 million); and reduced
maintenance costs ($2.2 million)
from procurement savings.
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• Council’s total capital works
expenditure was $51.3 million
(compared to $54.7 million in
2014/15).
• Rates and charges comprised
$160.1 million (76 per cent) of
the total operating budget of $209.6
million (compared to
$154.5 million [74 per cent] of $207.4
million in 2014/15).

• Cash holdings increased by
$5.8 million to $138.2 million
(compared to a $21.3 million
increase to $132.4 million in
2014/15).
• Net assets of $2.9 billion. This
includes infrastructure ($1.735
million); property, plant and
equipment ($971 million); and
cash and cash equivalents
($138 million).

Net operating surplus in 2015/16
was $11.7 million, a reduction from
$22.2 million in 2014/15. This reduction
is influenced by reduced Grants and
Subsidies ($4.6 million); increased
employee costs ($3.3 million); and
increased depreciation costs
($2.3 million) related to increased
capital expenditure.

Figure 2: Net Operating Result
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Figure 3: Revenue, Expenses and Net Operating Result

Figure 3 shows the trend in the City’s
revenue, expenses and net result
from operating activities for the past
five years. This demonstrates the
net operating result, which is more
indicative of net funds available to
fund the City’s day-to-day operations.
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Sourcing the City’s Revenue

Figure 4: Sources of Revenue

Figure 4 shows the various sources of
the City’s $209.6 million revenue during
2015/16.The largest contributions to
revenue were provided by general rates
(60 per cent); waste service charges (15
per cent); fees and charges (9 per cent);
and grants and subsidies (5 percent).
Revenue from general rates and service
charges increased by 4 per cent
compared to 2014/15. This included an
increase of more than 1,200 ratepayers
over the financial year. The increase in
waste service charges was influenced
by the increased levies and charges
associated with providing the service.

3%
3% 3%

1%
1%

General Rates $125.7m
Waste Services Charges $31.6m

5%

Fees & Charges $19.5m
9%

Grants & Subsidies $9.7m
60%

Interest & Earnings $5.8m
Registrations/Licences
& Permits $5.5m

15%

Other Revenue/Income $5.6m
Contributions, Reimbursements
& Donations $3.4m
Security Charge $2.8

Identifying the City’s
Expenses

Figure 5: Expenses by Type

Figure 5 shows the allocation of
the City’s $197.9 million operating
expenditure.
The primary expense components
shown in Figure 5 include materials and
services (49 percent), employee costs
(30 per cent) and depreciation (15 per
cent). The City’s total expenses have
increased by approximately 6 per cent
since 2014/15. This increase is mainly
within two major expenditure categories
of materials and services and relates
to ongoing maintenance and running
costs of the City’s infrastructure.

4% 2%

15%
Materials & Services $98.1m
Employee Costs $58.7m
49%

Depreciation $29.7m
Utilities $7.7m

30%

Other Expenditure $3.7m
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The City’s Services –
Where Rates Are Spent
The City of Stirling’s 895 employees
deliver over 200 services and programs
to the community through 11 main
service cost centres.
These services and programs include
asbestos management, drainage,
community events, libraries, initiatives
for families, meals-on-wheels, planning
approvals, aged care, recreation,
community centres, governance,
waste services and parks.

earnings and $40.1 million from
other fees, charges and revenue.
The City had 94,036 ratepayers in
2015/16 and the average rates for a
residential property in the City of Stirling
were $1,225. The City’s rates rise for
the year continued to be one of the
lowest in the metropolitan region of
Western Australia at 1.90 per cent.
A snapshot of the 2015/16 budgeted
expenditure for the main service cost
centres as well as the City’s 2015/16
revenue budget is shown in Figure 6.
For more information about the City’s
Financial Performance in 2015/16
see the Director Corporate Services
Report starting on page 22 and the
comprehensive Financial Statements
starting on page 179.

The annual expenditure budget for the
City of Stirling in 2015/16 was $282.4
million. The revenue was received
mainly from rates ($125.6 million).
The City also received $18.3
million from grants, subsidies and
contributions, $31.8 million from
waste services, $7.8 million in interest

The City’s 2015/16
Revenue Budget
General Rates

$m
125.6

Grants, Subsidies and
Contributions (Operating
and Non-Operating)

18.3

Profit on Sale of Assets

1.9

Fees, Charges and Other
Revenue

40.1

Waste Services

31.8

Interest Earnings
Total

7.8
225.5

The difference between revenue
and expenditure is mainly related to
non-cash items, the largest being
depreciation, along with specific
projects.

Figure 6: Expenditure by Service Cost Centre and Revenue Budget 2015/16
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Library Services
$8.0m

Table 3: Summary of the Statement of Financial Position
2016 $

2015 $

2,876,068,401

2,851,169,047

31,386,483

32,882,656

Net Assets

2,844,681,918

2,818,286,391

Total Equity

2,844,681,918

2,818,286,391

Total Assets
Total Liabilities

Statement of
Financial Position
Table 3 provides a summary of the
City’s Statement of Financial Position,
reporting what the City owns (total
assets); what the City owes (total
liabilities); the difference in their totals
(net assets) and the City’s net worth
(total equity). Commentary on the
City’s assets and liabilities is provided
below while the full Statement of
Financial Position can be viewed in
the comprehensive Financial
Statements, starting on page 179.

Assets: What the City Owns
The major components of the City’s
assets include:
• Infrastructure, property, plant
and equipment (land, buildings,
roads, drainage)
• Capital works in progress
• Cash assets (mainly short-term
investments).
Together, these components account
for almost all assets. As at 30 June
2016, the City held $2.9 billion of
assets, an increase of $25 million
from 2014/15. This increase was due
largely to the revaluation of plant and
equipment, along with some land and
buildings, which was a mandatory
requirement of the Local Government
(Financial Regulations) to measure
non-current assets at Fair Value. This

was effective from 1 July 2012, with all
classes of non-current assets revalued
by 30 June 2015.

Reviewing our Liabilities:
What the City Owes
The City’s liabilities include amounts
owing to suppliers and amounts owing
to employees for leave entitlements.
The City’s total liabilities were $31.4
million as at 30 June 2016, a decrease
of $1.5 million from 2014/15. Of the
total liabilities, $13.8 million relates to
amounts owing to suppliers and $15.8
million owing to employees, the majority
of which relates to annual and long
service leave. The City currently has
895 full-time equivalent employees.

Statement of
Changes in Equity
The Statement of Changes in Equity
summarises the change in value of Total
Ratepayers Equity. The value of equity
can only change as a result of:
• The profit or loss from operations
described as surplus or deficit in the
income statement
• The use of monies from the City’s
Reserves

The total equity at 30 June 2016 is $2.8
billion, an increase of $26 million from
2014/15. This increase is mainly due to
the revaluation of plant, equipment, land
and buildings required by Fair Value.

Statement of Cash Flows
The Statement of Cash Flows
summarises the City’s cash payments
and receipts for the year and the level
of cash at the end of the financial year.
The statement shows the City’s ability
to pay our bills to continue normal
operations and have money available
for the construction of assets. In total,
the City’s cash holdings increased by
$5.8 million from 2014/15 due to an
increase in the City’s restricted reserves
and also an increase in funds invested,
related to increased revenue and
reduced expenditure.

Future Outlook
The City’s prudent financial
management delivers a high level
of service, while the City continues
to remain debt-free. It provides the
flexibility to fund a range of exciting
major projects, which will present a
variety of long-term benefits to the City
in a sustainable manner.
The City is in a solid financial position,
as demonstrated by the financial
ratios that are presented on page 160
of the Strategic Performance Report,
and its finances remain aligned to
strategic priorities.

Ed Herne
Director Corporate Services

• A change in the value of non-current
assets, resulting from a revaluation
of these assets.
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Council
As one of Australia’s three tiers
of government (federal, state and
local), local government most closely
affects the daily lives of citizens.
The sector is often referred to as
councils, shires and local councils.

Democracy in the City of Stirling
The City of Stirling is one of 140 local
governments in Western Australia
operating in accordance with the Local
Government Act 1995.
The Act sets out a system of
local government by providing for
the constitution of elected local
governments in the State, describing
the functions of local governments,
providing for the conduct of elections
and polls, and providing a framework
for the administration and financial
management of local government and
the scrutiny of their affairs.

Local Government Elections
Local government elections are held
every two years, with the next election
due in October 2017. Voting in the local
government elections is open to any
person registered on the State Electoral
Roll for that local government.

The Role of the Mayor
and Councillors

Councillors make important decisions
relating to the whole of the local
government by considering the views of
the community. They also work together
with the community, the Chief Executive
Officer and Council administration to
set the strategic direction of the City.
The specific role of Councillors, as
determined by the Local Government
Act 1995 is to:

Cr Giovanni Italiano JP is the serving
Mayor of the City of Stirling. The role of
the Mayor is to:

• Represent the interests of
electors, ratepayers and residents
of the district

• Preside at Council Meetings
in accordance with the Local
Government Act 1995

• Provide leadership and guidance to
the community in the district

Any eligible elector can stand
to nominate for election with no
requirement for a candidate to belong
to a political party or other organisation.
Councillors are voted in for a four-year
term with the Council electing the
offices of Mayor and Deputy Mayor.

• Provide leadership and guidance to
the community
• Carry out civic and ceremonial duties
• Speak on behalf of the local
government
• Liaise with the Chief Executive
Officer and the local government on
the performance of its functions.
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• Facilitate communication between
the community and the Council
• Participate in the local government’s
decision-making processes at
Council and Committee Meetings.

Councillor Profiles
The City of Stirling has seven wards: Balga, Coastal,
Doubleview, Hamersley, Inglewood, Lawley and Osborne.
Residents are represented by two Councillors in each ward.

Osborne Ward

Cr Giovanni Italiano JP
Mayor

Cr David Michael

City of Stirling Councillor since: 2007
Also elected to Council: 1996-2001

Bachelor of Economics
City of Stirling Councillor since: 2005

Contact details:

Contact details:

T 08 9205 8555
E giovanni.italiano@stirling.wa.gov.au

T 0413 020 207
E david.michael@stirling.wa.gov.au

Mayor Italiano was elected as Mayor of the City of Stirling
in October 2013 and is currently serving his second term as
Mayor. He also held the position of Deputy Mayor between
2009 and 2011. Mayor Italiano is passionate about the City of
Stirling and has been a resident of the Osborne Ward for more
than 60 years.

Cr Michael is the youngest Councillor to ever be elected to the
City of Stirling and served as Deputy Mayor between 2011 and
2013. He has special interests in maintaining the City’s strong
financial position, ensuring a sustainable City, protecting local
history and supporting sporting and community groups. Cr
Michael was born in Mount Lawley and has lived in Tuart Hill
for most of his life, attending Tuart Hill Primary School and
Servite College.

Mayor Italiano is a registered builder and has a keen interest
in improving the local economy and growth opportunities to
ensure Stirling is a strong and prosperous City for all residents
and ratepayers to enjoy.
He is very proud to be serving the community he has lived
amongst for nearly his whole life.
Mayor Italiano is a member of the following Committees:
• Audit Committee
• Chief Executive Officer’s Performance Review Committee
• Metropolitan North-West Joint Development Assessment
Panel – Delegate
• Planning and Development Committee
• Strategic Property Committee
• Tamala Park Regional Council – Chairperson
• Tamala Park Regional Council – Chief Executive Officer
Performance Review Committee
• Tamala Park Regional Council – Management Committee
• Western Australian Local Government Association – North
Metropolitan Zone Committee – Delegate.

Cr Michael is a member of the following Committees and
Working Groups:
• Audit Committee – Presiding Member
• Chief Executive Officer’s Performance Review Committee
• Crime Prevention Working Group
• Community and Resources Committee
• Metropolitan North–West Joint Development Assessment
Panel – Alternate Member
• Strategic Property Committee
• Tamala Park Regional Council
• Tamala Park Regional Council – Audit Committee –
Chairperson
• Western Australian Local Government Association – North
Metropolitan Zone Committee – Chairperson
• Western Australian Local Government Association – North
Metropolitan Zone State – Council Representative
• Western Australian Local Government Association –
Planning and Community Development Policy TeamMember.
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Balga Ward

Cr Keith Sargent
Cr David Boothman JP

Deputy Mayor

City of Stirling Councillor since: 1994

City of Stirling Councillor since: 2011

Contact details:

Contact details:

T 0419 047 224
E david.boothman@stirling.wa.gov.au

T 0402 202 149
E keith.sargent@stirling.wa.gov.au

Cr Boothman is a retired police officer and has special
interests in crime prevention, planning, sustainability,
environment and community safety issues. Cr Boothman
served as the Deputy Mayor from 2000 to 2001 and also
as the Mayor from 2007 to 2013. Cr Boothman received his
appointment as a Justice of the Peace in March 2016.

Cr Sargent was elected as Deputy Mayor in October 2015 and
has been working in retail for the last 20 years. He has a strong
commitment to the area he has called home his whole life and
is always willing to help the community. Cr Sargent believes
strongly in bringing the community together through creating
awareness, sports and events that the whole City of Stirling
can enjoy and participate in.

Cr Boothman is a member of the following Committees and
Working Groups:
• Chief Executive Officer’s Performance Review Committee
• Crime Prevention Working Group – Chairperson
• Metropolitan North–West Joint Development Assessment
Panel – Delegate
• Metropolitan Redevelopment Authority Land
Redevelopment Committee for Scarborough – Member

Cr Sargent is involved in a number of community groups
including the Parents and Citizens Association and School
Council at the Gladys Newton School for Special Needs and
Balga Primary School. He also serves as Treasurer for the
Balga Friday Market. Cr Sargent has particular interests in
community safety, keeping our local streets clean and tidy, and
preservation of ‘bush forever’ sites and local parks.

• Mindarie Regional Council – Deputy Chairperson

Cr Sargent is a member of the following Committees and
Working Groups:

• Mindarie Regional Council – Audit Committee

• Chief Executive Officer’s Performance Review Committee

• Planning and Development Committee

• Community and Resources Committee

• Road Safety Working Group

• Crime Prevention Working Group

• Western Australian Local Government Association – North
Metropolitan Zone Committee – Deputy Chairperson

• Road Safety Working Group

• Western Australian Local Government Association – North
Metropolitan Zone State – Deputy Council Representative.
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• Strategic Property Committee.

Coastal Ward

Cr Karen Caddy
Cr Mark Irwin

Bachelor of Metallurgical Engineering;
Graduate Diploma Business;
Graduate Member, Australian Institute
of Company Directors
City of Stirling Councillor since: 2013

Bachelor of Science (Sports
Science); Diploma of Management
City of Stirling Councillor since: 2015

Contact details:

Contact details:

T 0419 477 757
E karen.caddy@stirling.wa.gov.au

T 0418 911 319
E mark.irwin@stirling.wa.gov.au

Cr Caddy has extensive business and management
experience, having worked for a range of international
companies including Rio Tinto and BHP Billiton. Her aim in
joining Council was to employ her professional skills and
expertise to enhance Council decision-making and ensure high
standards of governance and transparency.

Cr Mark Irwin was born and raised in Scarborough, attending
local primary and high schools. He is married with three
children who are all involved in local community groups and
sporting clubs. He and his wife have operated a successful
health and fitness business for 20 years.

Cr Caddy has been a resident of Stirling for 20 years
and currently lives in Scarborough. She understands the
unique value of our coastal region and promotes sensitive
development that achieves a balance between the needs of
the environment, residents and local businesses.
Cr Caddy is community-minded and passionately believes
that clubs and community organisations are the life-blood of
our society. As former Chairman of the Scarborough Tennis
Club and a board member of the Scarborough Sportsmen’s
Club, she understands the challenges of running volunteer
organisations and seeks to ensure these organisations remain
vital and financially sustainable.
Cr Caddy is a member of the following Committees and
Working Groups:
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

Audit Committee
Chief Executive Officer’s Performance Review Committee
Community and Resources Committee – Presiding Member
Natural Environment Working Group
Stirling Business Alliance – Board member
Strategic Property Committee – Deputy Presiding Member
Tamala Park Regional Council
Tamala Park Regional Council – Audit Committee
Western Australian Local Government Association – North
Metropolitan Zone Committee – Deputy Delegate.

Cr Irwin is passionate about community service and has been
an active member of Scarboro Surf Life Saving Club since he
was 9 years of age. He has held many positions at the Club,
including President for 5 years and President/Chair of Surf
Life Saving WA for 6 years, while holding board positons at
National level. Among other community based roles, Cr Irwin
has held board positons on the Small Business Development
Corporation, Stirling Business Association and the Doubleview
Primary Independent Public School. Through these roles, Cr
Irwin has forged successful relationships with local, state and
national bodies.
Cr Irwin’s strength is his ability to openly discuss issues with
stakeholders. He has an inclusive management style, inspiring
confidence with meaningful consultation and respectful
consideration of advice.
Cr Irwin is a member of the following Committees and Working
Groups:
•
•
•
•
•
•

Audit Committee
Chief Executive Officer’s Performance Review Committee
Local Emergency Management Committee
Planning and Development Committee
Strategic Property Committee
Scarborough Redevelopment Community Advisory Group
– Member.
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Doubleview Ward

Cr Stephanie Proud JP

Cr Elizabeth Re

City of Stirling Councillor since: 2007

City of Stirling Councillor since: 2005

Contact details:

Contact details:

T 0411 070 793
E stephanie.proud@stirling.wa.gov.au

T 0419 913 988
E elizabeth.re@stirling.wa.gov.au

Cr Proud has been a small business owner/operator since 1989.
Her diverse administrative career path includes small, medium
and corporate businesses and local government. In April 2016
Cr Proud received her appointment as a Justice of the Peace.

Cr Re was born in Mount Lawley and has lived in the City
of Stirling in the suburb of Woodlands nearly all her life. She
has actively contributed to the Stirling community for over 20
years by encouraging the creation of more footpaths, activities
in parks and more sustainability practices within the City of
Stirling. Cr Re has worked for over 30 years for State and
local governments in the areas of sustainability, environmental
health and public health.

She has lived in the City of Stirling with her family since
1992 and represented the community on many community
organisations, schools and local action groups. These include
the Scarborough and Districts Progress Association Inc.,
Woodlands/Doubleview Progress Association Inc., Scarborough
High Open Space Action Group and the Pool on Site – Public
Open Space Group.
Cr Proud has been a past member of the Murdoch University
Animal Ethics Committee and is currently a RACWA Councillor.
Cr Proud is a strong advocate for community recreation and a
passionate supporter of the Scarborough Pool and skate and
BMX sites City-wide. She was fundamental to the delivery of the
outdoor exercise equipment installed around Jackadder Lake in
Woodlands, and at A.S. Luketina Reserve in Wembley Downs.
Cr Proud is also interested in the preservation of public open
space, the protection of the natural environment and sustainable
and moderated residential development in accordance with
Residential Guidelines and responsible financial management.
Cr Proud is acutely aware of road safety aspects with the
population increase in WA, and the need for appropriate
infrastructure and community awareness.
Cr Proud is a member of the following Committees and
Working Groups:
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
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Audit Committee
Chief Executive Officer’s Performance Review Committee
Crime Prevention Working Group
Mindarie Regional Council
Mindarie Regional Council – Audit Committee –
Deputy Chairperson
North West Regional Road Sub Group – Chairperson
Planning and Development Committee – Deputy
Presiding Member
Road Safety Working Group – Chairperson
Strategic Property Committee – Presiding Member
Western Australian Local Government Association –
North Metropolitan Zone Committee – Deputy Delegate.

Cr Re has been involved in many local committees. She has
been an office bearer on the Australian Local Government
Women’s Association in WA and the National Council
of Women, as well as founding several local community
organisations. She was the first woman appointed as a
Health and Building Inspector in local government in Western
Australia. Her advocacy on behalf of women and diversity in
the workplace in local government was recognised in 2010
with an Australian Ambassador for the Year of Women in Local
Government. Cr Re has special interests in sustainability,
health, public transport and preservation of the environment
and parks.
Cr Re is a member of the following Committees and
Working Groups:
•
•
•
•
•

Chief Executive Officer’s Performance Review Committee
Community and Resources Committee
Local Emergency Management Committee
Mindarie Regional Council – Alternate Member
Road Safety Working Group.

Hamersley Ward

Cr Andrew Guilfoyle

Cr Samantha Jenkinson

Bachelor of Arts (Honours), Doctor of
Philosophy (PhD) in Psychology
City of Stirling Councillor since: 2013

Bachelor of Social Work; Certificate IV
Workplace Training and Assessment.
City of Stirling Councillor since: 2011

Contact details:

Contact details:

T 0427 285 970
E andrew.guilfoyle@stirling.wa.gov.au

T 0412 887 674
E samantha.jenkinson@stirling.wa.gov.au

Cr Guilfoyle is interested in local issues of local people. He has
been a resident for 12 years, choosing the City to live with his
wife and three children and is very much enjoying his first term
as a Councillor.

Cr Jenkinson lives in Karrinyup with her husband and family.
Her children have attended local schools and been involved
in a number of local sporting groups. As a trained social
worker, Cr Jenkinson has worked and advocated in many
areas, with a particular focus on people being included in
their communities and in control of their lives.

Cr Guilfoyle actively serves the community within a range
of volunteer activities through schools, recreation clubs and
the Hamersley Habitat Community Food Garden, and as
Chairperson for Westcoast Care and patron of various
sporting groups.
With 30 years of experience in the area of Community
Psychology, he was previously director of a successful social
research consultancy. He was also Head of Psychology
(ECU) where he won national teaching awards, was founding
Chair of a University Research Ethics Committee and
championed community consultation and accountable
decision-making. He was managing large Commonwealth,
international, national, regional and local-funded projects on
ways to build community and family resilience, social support,
belongingness, health and well-being.
On Council he is aiming to build residential quality of life and
healthy investment values, alongside protecting our beautiful
natural environment, parks, reserves, bushland, lakes and
public open spaces, small or large, for all to access and
enjoy. Cr Guilfoyle is looking at ways to build responsible
infrastructure and facilities which benefit all by creating
opportunities for diverse residents of all ages to connect
through their preferred recreational leisure community-based
social activities, programs and events. He is ever-keen to learn
what issues are important to local residents and to serve the
community by representing these on Council decisions.

Cr Jenkinson works part-time as Executive Director for
People with Disabilities WA, the peak consumer advocacy
group for people with disability. She has a background of
many years’ experience on government advisory bodies and
not-for-profit boards at both State and national levels. Her
specific interests are in the fields of usable and accessible
community facilities, sustainable parks and reserves,
sustainable urban planning, community involvement in
services, and improving the opportunities for the diversity in
our communities to be included and celebrated.
Cr Jenkinson is a member of the following Committees and
Working Groups:
• Chief Executive Officer’s Performance Review Committee
• Mindarie Regional Council
• Mindarie Regional Council – Project Advisory Group –
Deputy Member
• Natural Environment Working Group
• Planning and Development Committee – Presiding Member
• Stirling Business Alliance – Board Member
• Strategic Property Committee.

Cr Guilfoyle is a member of the following Committees and
Working Groups:
• Chief Executive Officer’s Performance Review Committee
• Community and Resources Committee – Deputy Presiding
Member
• Mindarie Regional Council – Municipal Waste Advisory
Council
• Mindarie Regional Council
• Natural Environment Working Group
• Strategic Property Committee.
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Inglewood Ward

Cr Terry Tyzack
City of Stirling Councillor since: 1991
Also elected to Council: 1974 –1977;
1978 –1982; 1983 –1989

Cr David Lagan
City of Stirling Councillor since: 2011

Contact details:

Contact details:

T 0408 068 597
E david.lagan@stirling.wa.gov.au

T 0419 045 980
E terry.tyzack@stirling.wa.gov.au

Cr Lagan served as Deputy Mayor at the City of Stirling
between 2013 and 2015. He has a background in teaching,
teacher training and events management with specific focus
on health and physical activity in the primary years. He has
taught throughout WA and internationally.

Cr Terry Tyzack is a Fellow of the Royal Australian Institute
of Architects, an Honorary Fellow of the Planning Institute
of Australia, a Rotary International Paul Harris Fellow and a
Life Member of the Western Australian Local Government
Association.

Cr Lagan is the recipient of two Premier’s Awards through
the ACHPER awards system for contributions to education
in WA schools.

Cr Tyzack has served a total of 39 years as a City of Stirling
Councillor including two terms as Mayor in 1984 and 2005 and
Deputy Mayor in 1995. He has represented local government
on important regional and state committees including the
Western Australian Planning Commission.

Having worked in the Australian Sports Commission in the
AASC program, he has extensive experience with community
engagement and budget prioritisation and is keen to develop
activity within the City for all age groups.
Cr Lagan grew up in a family recognised as pioneers in the
WA wine industry and he is keenly aware of the need for both
progressive ideas and new and innovative business models.

Cr Tyzack has maintained a strong commitment to the wider
community throughout his adult life. In addition to his service
to local government, he has served as Chair of the Governing
Council of West Coast College of TAFE and Deputy Chair of
Mercy Private Hospital Board.

With two teenage children, Cr Lagan is mindful of the need for
well-funded community resources catering for families. He is
keen to remain available to all ratepayers and at the forefront
of delivery of the City’s vision into the future.

Cr Tyzack believes that sound financial planning is the key
to a strong local government and consistently advocates for
responsible spending and decision–making, with emphasis
on projects and initiatives that demonstrate sustainability and
deliver broad community benefits.

Cr Lagan is a member of the following Committees:

Cr Tyzack is a member of the following Committees:

• Audit Committee – Deputy Presiding Member

• Audit Committee

• Chief Executive Officer’s Performance Review Committee

• Chief Executive Officer’s Performance Review Committee

• Community and Resources Committee

• Planning and Development Committee

• North West Districts Planning Committee

• Strategic Property Committee.

• Strategic Property Committee
• Western Australian Local Government Association – North
Metropolitan Zone Committee – Delegate.
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Lawley Ward

Cr Rod Willox AM JP
Bachelor of Medical Science;
Bachelor of Science (Path);
Diploma of Occupational Health
and Safety Management.
City of Stirling Councillor since: 1993

Cr Joe Ferrante
Graduate Diploma of Business
(Marketing).
City of Stirling Councillor since: 2011

Contact details:

Contact details:

T 0419 249 288
E rod.willox@stirling.wa.gov.au

T 0418 891 274
E joe.ferrante@stirling.wa.gov.au

Cr Willox is now retired from his professional career as
a medical scientist in the field of pathology. He served
as Deputy Mayor from 1997 to 1999 and has chaired all
standing committees, the Mindarie Regional Council, Tamala
Park Regional Council and Tamala Park Regional Council
Management Committee. Cr Willox has particular interests in
environmental sustainability, heritage protection, community
safety and emergency management. He was a long–serving
member of the Australian Defence Force as an infantry officer
until his retirement at the rank of Colonel. He is a graduate of
the Joint Services Staff College Canberra and a life member of
the Australian Defence Force Colleges Association.

Cr Ferrante is a State Sales Manager WA/NT for a national
government corporation. In his role he manages three
Australian states - WA, SA and NT. He has lived in the City
of Stirling for over 45 years, growing up in Tuart Hill and its
surrounding suburbs. He was also a director of a mediumsized business with over 22 staff, and a sales manager for a
multi-national consumer goods company.

Cr Willox has had extensive experience in leadership;
personnel, asset and resource management; strategic
planning; logistics and policy formulation. He has served on
numerous boards at state and national levels as a chairman
and member, including several years as the Metropolitan
Member on the Local Government Advisory Board of WA.
He was made a Member of the Order of Australia in 2003
and received the Centenary of Federation Medal for service
to the community and defence. In 2011, he received the
Distinguished Service Award from WALGA, and in 2013 the
Eminent Service Award for his commitment, eminent service
and contribution to the Association of Local Government.

Cr Ferrante has particular interests in community safety,
heritage protection and serving the community. He is also
a former treasurer and coach of the Perth Junior Soccer
Club, patron of the Yokine Bowling Club and Alexander Park
Tennis Club, a Parent and Citizens Association member at
Yokine Primary School and an Area Coordinator of Clean
Up Australia. Cr Ferrante has a specific interest in the
preservation of parks, public open space and sustainable
residential development.
Cr Ferrante is a member of the following Committees:
• Audit Committee
• Community and Resources Committee
• Chief Executive Officer’s Performance Review Committee.

Cr Willox is a member of the following Committees:
• Chief Executive Officer’s Performance Review Committee
• Metropolitan North–West Joint Development Assessment
Panel – Alternate Member
• Planning and Development Committee
• Tamala Park Regional Council
• Tamala Park Regional Council – Audit Committee
• Tamala Park Regional Council – CEO Performance Review
Committee.
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Councillors in the Community
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Cr Lagan with Inglewood Little Athletics members

Cr Guilfoyle at 2016 Youth Skate Event

Cr Italiano and Liza Harvey at Mirrabooka Stage 3 works launch

Cr Re promoting the Wembley Downs District Fair

Cr Jenkinson at the Hamersley Autumn Club

Cr Tyzack with artist Mel McVee and
Inglewood retailer Vince Garreffa

Cr Willox promoting the City’s new skip bin program

Cr Willox, Cr Ferrante and Cr Lagan promoting
Beaufort Street Green Space Grants

Cr Proud congratulating new citizens
at a Citizenship Ceremony

Cr Boothman, Cr Italiano and Cr Sargent
at Mirrabooka Stage 3 launch

Cr Caddy hands out certificates at a
Scarborough tree planting event

Cr Irwin with Stirling Natural Environment
Coastcare members

Cr Boothman and Cr Sargent with
Mohammad Davids at Mirrabooka Mosque

Cr Michael at 2016 Stirling Times Kids Kerfuffle
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Council Meetings
The Council of the City of Stirling consists of the 14 elected
Councillors sitting as one body, with the Mayor as Presiding Member.
Council is the policy and decision-making body for the City and
meets at 7.00pm, usually on the first and third Tuesday of every
month. The Chief Executive Officer and the Directors of the City
also attend Council Meetings to assist the Councillors with
information as required.
Members of the public are welcome to attend Council Meetings but
are not permitted to take part in Council debate, although up to three
questions may be presented during Public Question Time.
Minutes of the Council Meetings are available to the public and are
published on the City of Stirling website in the week following the
Council Meeting.
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Councillor Meeting Attendance
In October 2015, following the Local Government Elections, one new Councillor was appointed to represent the City’s
Coastal Ward. The tables below show the attendance of both sets of Councillors (pre and post-election) from 1 July 2015
to 17 October 2015 and 18 October 2015 to 30 June 2016.
City of Stirling Councillor attendance at meetings - 1 July 2015 - 17 October 2015

Council (6)

Community
and
Resources
Committee (3)

Planning and
Development
Committee (3)

Strategic
Property
Committee (1)

1*

4*

2

3*

1*

K Caddy

0

5*

3*

2

1

J Ferrante

0*

5*

2*

2

0

A Guilfoyle

0

6*

2*

0

0

G Italiano JP

2*

5*

3

3*

1*

S Jenkinson

1

4*

3

2*

0

D Lagan

2*

6*

3*

3

1*

D Michael

2*

6*

3*

2

0

S Proud

2

6*

3

3*

1*

E Re

0

6*

3*

1

0

K Sargent

0*

6*

3*

3

0

B Stewart

1*

6*

1

3*

0*

T Tyzack

2*

5*

3

2*

1*

R Willox AM JP

0

5*

2

2*

0

Audit
Committee (2)

D Boothman

Councillor

CEO
Performance
Review
Committee (4)

Council (12)

Special
Meeting of
Council (2)

Community
and
Resources
Committee (8)

Planning and
Development
Committee (9)

Strategic
Property
Committee (3)

D Boothman JP

2

4*

10*

2*

7

9*

0

K Caddy

3*

2*

11*

1*

8*

6

3*

J Ferrante

2*

0*

10*

2*

6*

3

1

A Guilfoyle

1

4*

11*

2*

6*

3

2*

M Irwin

3*

4*

12*

2*

8

9*

3*

G Italiano JP

2*

3*

11*

2*

5

7*

3*

S Jenkinson

0

2*

11*

2*

4

7*

3*

D Lagan

3*

2*

12*

2*

7*

7

2*

D Michael

3*

3*

11*

2*

8*

4

3*

S Proud JP

3*

4*

12*

2*

8

9*

3*

E Re

1

4*

11*

2*

7*

2

0

K Sargent

3

4*

12*

2*

8*

9

2*

T Tyzack

3*

2*

11*

2*

8

7*

2*

R Willox AM JP

1

2*

12*

2*

4

8*

0

Councillor

Audit
Committee (3)

City of Stirling Councillor attendance at meetings - 18 October 2015 - 30 June 2016

Numbers in brackets represent total number of meetings held during that period. Asterisk (*) denotes committee members.
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Council Committees
The City of Stirling currently has five
Council committees:
• Planning and Development
Committee
• Community and Resources
Committee
• Audit Committee
• Chief Executive Officer’s
Performance Review Committee
• Strategic Property Committee.
The Planning and Development
Committee and the Community and
Resources Committee meet once
a month. The other committees do
not meet as frequently. Committee
members consider information
provided in reports submitted by
specialist City officers then decide
on a course of action and make
recommendations to be considered
at the next Council meeting.
Planning and Development
Committee
This committee meets once a month
and consists of seven elected
Councillors. The objective of the
Committee is to advise Council on
matters that pertain to the Planning
and Development Directorate of the
City of Stirling, and covers items
such as development approvals, city
planning, environmental health and
compliance, economic development
and urban regeneration.
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Community and Resources
Committee
This committee meets once a month
and consists of seven elected
Councillors. The objective of the
Committee is to advise Council
on matters that pertain to waste
management, engineering design,
engineering operations, recreation and
leisure, parks and reserves, libraries,
arts and culture, community services,
transport, city building operations,
human resources, governance, finance
and corporate projects.
Chief Executive Officer’s
Performance Review Committee
The Chief Executive Officer’s
Performance Review Committee
is responsible for evaluating the
City’s Chief Executive Officer on his
performance and for approving
changes such as salary. The committee
meets once a month from February
to July and consists of all 14 elected
Councillors with the Mayor as the
Presiding Member.
Strategic Property Committee
This committee meets at least once
each quarter, and consists of the
Mayor and nine elected Councillors.
The objective of the Committee is to
provide recommendations to Council
on property investment strategies to
deliver long-term financial and social
returns to the City in accordance with
the City of Stirling Property Strategy.

Further Reading:
Agenda and Minutes from
all committee and Council
meetings are available
from the City’s website
www.stirling.wa.gov.au
Please see page 65 for
information relating to the
Audit Committee.

Reimbursement of
Expenses of Councillors
Under the Local Government Act 1995
Councillors are entitled to certain
allowances and are able to receive
reimbursements for expenses incurred
while undertaking Council business.
The Elected Members’ Allowances
and Expenses Policy outlines these
allowances and the expenses the City
will reimburse to Elected Members.
It aims to ensure accountability and
transparency in relation to all expenses
claimed by Councillors.
Allowances:

Council Governance
Elected Member Conduct
Section 5.121 of the Local Government
Act 1995 requires a local government
to maintain a register of complaints
that result in an action under
Section 5.110(6)(b) or (c) of the Local
Government Act 1995.
There were three (3) complaints made
under Section 5.121 of the Local
Government Act 1995 during the
reporting period.

• Mayoral and Deputy Mayoral
Allowance
• IT and Telecommunication
Allowance.

As a result, the City conducted a full
review of the following local laws:

Expenses:

• Keeping and Control of Cats Local
Law 1999

• Travel

Delegation is the assignment of
responsibility or authority from Council
to the Chief Executive Officer and
other City employees to perform a
specific legislative function. The Local
Government Act 1995 requires that the
City’s Delegations of Authority Register
is reviewed annually. A report on the
Council’s statutory delegation was
considered by Council at its meeting
held on 31 May 2016.

Local Laws and Council Policies
The City constantly reviews its local
laws, policies and internal procedures
to ensure they meet statutory
requirements and are relevant.

• Meeting Attendance Fees

Delegations

• Cabcharge

• Health Local Law 2009

• Child Care Cost.

• Bee Keeping Local Law 2008
• Dogs Local Law 2008

Chief Executive Officer
and Delegations
Delegations of authority are required
in order to provide officers with the
power to carry out duties and make
determinations. Under the Local
Government Act 1995, both Council
and the Chief Executive Officer are
given certain functions and duties
to be discharged.
The Chief Executive Officer may
delegate to any other officer the
authority to perform functions and
duties under the Act or implement
Council decisions.
Delegations of authority are retained
in accordance with legal requirements
for document retention and keeping
of records.

• Fencing Local Law 2008.
In addition, the City amended its
Parking Local Law 2014 and Local
Government Property Local Law 2009.
Furthermore, the City gave a risk rating
to each Council policy (High, Medium or
Low) and commenced the review cycle
(annual, biennial and triennial).
Governance Health Check
During the year, the City initiated a
self-audit to assess the extent to which
it measures up to joint venture with
the Independent Commission Against
Corruption (ICAC). An independent
assessment was conducted on
Delegation of Authority, Code of
Conduct: Ethics and Values, and
Council’s Policy Manual.
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”

They are always very helpful if
you have a phone query.
If you have to go to the office
the staff are very helpful.
Marketing Effectiveness
Survey November 2015

About the
Organisation
The City of Stirling is committed to
providing services, programs and
activities that meet the needs of our
community. This section provides
an overview of how the organisation
is structured and operates.

Organisational
Structure
The City of Stirling operates through a structure comprised
of four Directorates: Community Development, Corporate
Services, Infrastructure, and Planning and Development.
Each Directorate is led by a Director who reports to the Chief
Executive Officer (CEO). Directorates are made up of business
units, each overseen by a business unit manager. The CEO
also has a business unit under his leadership.
The CEO is appointed by and directly accountable to the
Council, who are elected by the residents of the City of Stirling.
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Organisation Chart as at 30 June 2016

Community / Customers

Council

Governance and
Council Support

Chief Executive Officer

Executive Services

Planning and
Development

Community
Development

Corporate
Services

Infrastructure

Approvals

Community Safety

Asset Management

City Building

City Planning

Community Services

Corporate Information
Services

Engineering Design

Library Services

Finance Services

Engineering Operations

Marketing and
Communications

Human Resources

Parks and Reserves

Economic
Development and
Urban Regeneration
Health and Compliance

Recreation and Leisure
Services

Waste and Fleet
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Executive Profiles

Stuart Jardine

Ed Herne

Chief Executive Officer

Director Corporate Services

Master of Business Administration;
Post Graduate Diploma of Management
Studies (Distinction); Chartered
Secretary - Commonwealth ‘Institute
Prize’; Certificate in Teaching; Fellow
of the Local Government Managers
Association. In 2012, Stuart received
the Eminent Service Award for his
contribution to WA Local Government.
Stuart has been the Chief Executive
Officer of the City of Stirling, Western
Australia’s largest local government,
for nine years. He has a leading role
in several major strategic projects
including:
• Stirling Regional Centre
• Scarborough Beach Redevelopment
• Mirrabooka Regional Centre
Regeneration.
Under his stewardship, the City of
Stirling has consistently improved its
customer satisfaction performance
rating, from a low of 65 per cent in 2005
to a record high of 93 per cent in 2014.
He has received numerous accolades
including awards for innovation,
reporting, sustainability and planning.
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Before joining the City of Stirling,
Stuart was the Chief Executive Officer
at the City of Gosnells, where his
passion and drive delivered substantial
and sweeping changes, attracting
international praise and recognition.
Stuart possesses significant
international local government
experience, with a career spanning over
35 years. He has played a key role in
several local governments in Australia
and the United Kingdom. He was the
first Australian to be appointed to the
prestigious Board of Directors of the
International Downtown Association of
America in recognition of his work.
Stuart lives in the area with his family
and firmly believes that creating vibrant
places like Stirling doesn’t happen by
chance. It takes a passionate focus with
a determination to embrace bold ideas
to build an exciting future and achieve
the vision of the City of Stirling, the City
of Choice.

Bachelor of Business (Finance and
Accounting), Certified Practicing
Accountant.
Joining the City of Stirling in August
2004, Ed has been a Certified
Practicing Accountant for 33 years.
Previously the Director of Finance and
Resources within the Division of Arts at
Murdoch University, Ed has also held
the position of company director for a
number of small-medium businesses
as well as large corporations, including
Brambles and Elders.

Trevor Holland

Michael Littleton

Ross Povey

Director Community Development

Director Infrastructure

Director Planning and Development

Diploma of Public Administration,
Certificate of Industrial Relations.

Master of Business Administration,
Graduate Diploma of Technology;
Graduate Diploma of Management;
Bachelor of Technology (Civil
Engineering); Graduate, Australian
Institute of Company Directors

Master of Business Administration
(Dist); Bachelor of Arts - Urban and
Regional Planning (Hons); Bachelor
of Architecture (Hons); Bachelor of
Applied Science (Architectural Science)
(Dist); Graduate, Australian Institute of
Company Directors.

Trevor has over 30 years of experience
in local government, holding key
executive positions in the fields of
human resources, finance, contract
management, and cultural and social
services.
He was appointed as the City’s Director
of Community Development in 1999
and was the Acting Chief Executive
Officer for the City of Stirling for six
months in 2007. Before his career in
local government, Trevor worked in
management positions in the public and
private sector, including the national
machinery and steel industry, and the
Western Australian Meat Commission.
Trevor also served in the Royal
Australian Army.

Michael joined the City of Stirling in
November 2014. He has held senior
executive roles within the local
government sector for over 20 years.
Michael manages a diverse portfolio
with primary responsibility for the
engineering, technical, and operational
functions of the organisation. The
infrastructure team has a substantial
capital and operating program to
deliver which will see significant
improvement of community assets
over the coming years.

Since joining the City of Stirling
in January 2005, Ross has been
responsible for the major economic
development and urban regeneration
projects undertaken by the City, as
well as City planning, sustainability,
approvals activities, and health and
compliance functions.
Previously, Ross spent five years at
the City of South Perth as Director of
Strategic and Regulatory Services.
Ross began his career in the field of
architecture, focussing on the design
and development of health, aged care,
housing and community facilities before
moving into local government, where he
has held senior management positions
at Cottesloe, South Perth and Stirling.
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”

I have never had a problem
and they seem to always be
improving the community.
Marketing Effectiveness
Survey May 2016

Our People
The City of Stirling’s workforce of
894.54 (established full-time equivalent)
is one of its most valuable resources.
Employees are highly talented and
experienced, and possess the skills and
abilities to deliver exceptional services.

The City is recognised for supporting
work-life balance through a range of
flexible work options and offers a range
of ancillary opportunities to deliver
a holistic and fulfilling employment
experience.

The City prides itself on being an
Employer of Choice. Being part of Team
Stirling has advantages beyond working
within a great team of people. The
City has a performance-driven culture
and offers a wide range of benefits,
assisting employees personally,
professionally and financially.

Employee turnover levels remain at a
satisfactory level, in line with the City’s
target of below 15 per cent. Employee
turnover during the 2015/16 financial
year was 9.9 per cent.
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Figure 8 illustrates the employee
turnover rate from 2011/12 to 2015/16.

Workplace Philosophy
The City’s Team Stirling ethos
encourages the workforce to
collaborate and synergise in
an environment of continuous
improvement. The City’s core values,
Code of Conduct, competency
framework and performance review
process collectively create the
foundation for a sound workplace
philosophy.

The City’s Workforce
Plan 2013-2017

Figure 7: Male and Female Apportionment
(to 1st Tier Supervisor level) at 30 June 2016

71.4%

Council

The City’s Workforce Plan 2013-2017
outlines how the City will invest in its
workforce and ensure it continues to
be an Employer of Choice. This plan
describes a range of initiatives and
actions in the areas of recruitment
and talent management, reward and
recognition, leadership, performance,
learning and development, diversity,
safety, health and wellbeing, and
engagement.

28.6%

Executive
Team

100%

Business Unit
Managers

61.1%

38.9%

1st Tier
Supervisors

57.7%

42.3%

0

20
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80
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% Annual employee turnover

Figure 8: Employee Turnover Rate

15

12.9%

11.2%

11.9%

Additionally, all employees are given
the opportunity to participate in cultural
learning to increase their understanding
and appreciation of equity and diversity.
10.7%

10

9.9%

5

0

2011/12

2012/13

2013/14

The City aims to ensure that it is an
equitable and diverse workplace. In an
effort to improve the understanding of
equity and diversity, the City recognised
and celebrated a range of events
throughout the year, including Harmony
Day, National Aborigines and Islanders
Day Observance Committee (NAIDOC)
Week and International Women’s Day
to support, acknowledge and celebrate
diversity in all its forms.

2014/15

2015/16

During the 2015/16 year, the City
continued its partnership with the
National Disability Recruitment
Coordinator (NDRC). The NDRC is an
Australian Government-funded service
which partners with organisations
to build disability knowledge and
confidence, and provides assistance to
break down barriers to employment for
people with disability.
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Table 4: Senior Officers’ Remuneration

Figure 9: Established Workforce–Age Profile as at 30 June 2016

4.2%

Salary Band

No. of
Officers

$100,000-109,000

66

$110,000-119,000

50

65+

$120,000-129,000

2

55-64

$130,000-139,000

2

45-54

$140,000-149,000

6

35-44

$150,000-159,000

12

25-34

$170,000-179,000

1

16-24

$190,000-199,000

4

$320,000-329,000

1

Total

144

3.3%

21.1%

27.7%

This partnership has supported the
City in developing and implementing an
action plan with a range of initiatives.
The initiatives include increasing the
number of employees with disability
across the organisation and building
disability confidence through a mix of
training, awareness-raising activities
and consideration of good practice
strategies. In addition, it has helped
develop relationships with Disability
Employment Services (DES) as a
source of talent. The City is proud of
the achievements made so far through
these partnerships and will continue
to foster these positive ongoing
relationships. Figure 7 provides the
breakdown of the City’s structure to first
tier supervisor level in terms of male
and female apportionment.

21.4%

22.3%

Our Recruitment Processes

Payment to Employees

The City has an in-house resourcing
team that facilitates merit-based
selection processes to ensure that
it remains an Equal Opportunity
Employer. The City of Stirling
recognises employees as one of its
most valuable assets, which makes
it imperative to recruit effectively and
select the right people.

Regulation 19B of the Local
Government (Administration)
Regulations 1996 requires the City
to include in its annual report:

Workforce Profile
Figure 9 illustrates the City’s established
workforce in age bands. There is a wide
range of ages employed, from 16 to 24
to over 65 years of age. This is a clear
demonstration of how the City values,
recognises and respects the contributions
of people with different backgrounds,
experiences and perspectives.

• The number of employees of the
City entitled to an annual salary of
$100,000 or more
• The number of those employees with
an annual salary entitlement that falls
within each band of the $10,000 over
$100,000, which are illustrated in
Table 4.
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Access and Inclusion
All new employees attending corporate
orientation with the City receive an
access and inclusion summary that
provides information on the purpose of
the Disability Access and Inclusion Plan.
The City’s Workforce Plan 2013-2017
includes the provision of employee
learning interventions to support
and encourage a disability-confident
workplace culture. As such, disability
awareness training for all employees is
scheduled on an annual basis. A total of
70 employees attended training during
2015/16.
As previously mentioned, the City
continued its partnership with the
National Disability Recruitment
Coordinator in 2015/16 to
collaboratively raise awareness and
break down barriers to employment for
people with disability.
In early 2016, a ‘Reasonable
Adjustments Management Practice’
was developed to guide decisions
around adapting the workplace to
support a person with a disability.

Conditions of Employment
Employees at the City are covered by
two industrial agreements: the Outside
Workforce Agreement and the Inside
Workforce Agreement. The agreements
came into effect on 31 October 2014
and 16 May 2013 respectively and
expire on 30 October 2017 and 15 May
2016 respectively.
During 2015/16 the City commenced
negotiations for its Inside Workforce
Agreement and is currently in process
of finalising the process with employees
and the Fair Work Commission.
The City contributes the statutory
component of each employee’s salary
to a complying superannuation fund
of their choice and will increase the

54

superannuation contributions in line
with legislation. Employees also
have the option to make additional
contributions to their superannuation
fund with the City matching an
employee’s additional contributions
up to a maximum of six per cent.
The City offers a range of benefits to
employees including:
• An Employee Assistance Program
for employees requiring support for
personal or work-related matters
• Flexible Working Arrangements,
including a nine-day fortnight,
job sharing and part-time work
arrangements
• A Health and Wellbeing Program,
including annual health checks, flu
vaccinations and skin screening
• The purchase of additional annual
leave
• Parental leave
• Discounted recreational membership
• Study leave and financial assistance
for professional qualifications
• Learning and development
interventions for professional and
personal development
• Employee Reward and Recognition
Program
• Phased retirement.
In addition to the benefits outlined
above, and in line with best practice
and applicable guidelines and
legislation, all positions within the
City are sized using the Mercer CED
Job Evaluation system that ensures
that there is no bias in the reward and
remuneration of all employees.
As a part of the City’s Workforce
Plan, and in accordance with good
governance practices, the City
continues to develop and review the
management practices and procedures

that affect its employees. Employee
grievances are dealt with in a timely
and effective manner in accordance
with the City’s policies and
management practices.
The City ensures that communication
with its employees is open, relevant and
timely. In 2015/16, the City developed
and implemented an Employee
Engagement, Communication and
Participation Framework which
encourages engagement with the
workforce through a range of channels
including:
• Team Brief: The City’s monthly
employee newsletter. Key focus
areas for Team Brief include
celebrating individual and team
success, encouraging connections
and sharing information with each
other.
• Bi-Annual Employee Briefing
Sessions: Employee briefing
sessions were held by the Chief
Executive Officer throughout
the past financial year. These
sessions provided an opportunity
for the Chief Executive Officer or
Directors to update all employees
on key City initiatives and celebrate
achievements.
• SharePoint: The City’s intranet
system. All City of Stirling employees
who use a work computer have
access to the SharePoint site.
SharePoint provides relevant
communication updates, as well
as access to the City’s policies,
management practices and other
work-related documents. The
SharePoint site also provides
access to Web Kiosk, the City’s
employee self-service information
portal. Pay slips, leave balances and
other employee information may
be accessed and updated where
applicable.

• Tool Box meetings: Regular meetings
with members of the Outside
Workforce and their supervisor.
The aim of Tool Box meetings is
to communicate and discuss work
or safety-related issues, share
information, receive updates and
obtain relevant training.
• Performance Reviews: Annual
performance reviews give employees
and their supervisors the opportunity
to discuss the employee’s
performance, aspirations, and
current and future learning and
development needs.
• Team meetings: Regular meetings
with supervisors or Business Unit
Managers to engage employees,
help boost productivity, increase
effective decision-making and
reduce the number of problems
requiring urgent attention.

Celebrating Achievements
– Reward and
Recognition Program
The City believes in celebrating the
achievements of its employees and has
introduced the following initiatives:
Stirling Stars Annual Event
The Stirling Stars event is held
on an annual basis and gives the
City an opportunity to formally
recognise, honour and thank
long-term employees and those
who have excelled in their roles.
The Stirling Star Program, which
includes Stirling Star of the Month/
Year, Rising Star of the Year and
Stirling Team of the Year, is designed
to recognise employees who provide
excellent service to the City’s internal
and external customers, including:
• Employees who challenge current
processes and procedures with a
view to developing new initiatives,
ideas and solutions

• Employees who are effective team
members and proactively foster the
ethos of Team Stirling
• Employees who build appropriate
and professional relationships
with others using excellent
communication skills to ensure
people understand their message.
Years of Service
The City formally recognises employees
with more than five years’ service.
Employees currently receive a Years of
Service badge and framed certificate,
which is presented by their business
unit manager.
Employees commemorating an
anniversary of 25, 30, 35 or 40+ years
of service and nominees for the Stirling
Star of the Year, Rising Star of the Year
and Stirling Team of the Year Awards
are invited to participate in the Stirling
Stars event, sponsored by the Osborne
Park Rotary Club. Eligible employees
receive a framed certificate and a gift as
a token of appreciation from the City for
their contribution. During 2015, a total
of 26 employees were recognised for
25 years or more service, including two
employees with 45 years.
The Stirling Star of the Year, Rising Star
of the Year and Stirling Team of the
Year, which are all announced at the
event, receive a trophy.
This is a truly rewarding, enjoyable
and memorable event for all employees
who attend.
Graduation Program
In November 2015, the Mayor and
Chief Executive Officer hosted the
City’s fifth Graduation Celebration. The
event acknowledged and congratulated
21 employees who completed City
of Stirling sponsored qualifications in
the areas of Project Management and
Management and Surveying, as well as
12 employees who completed a Cert III
in Parks and Gardens traineeship.

Learning and Development
The City’s overall productivity
improves by investing in personal
and professional development in the
workplace. Learning and development
opportunities are provided for
employees via on-the-job training,
internal and external workshops
and other learning opportunities.
These initiatives result in recognised
qualifications, attendance at
conferences and seminars, and the
completion of online study programs.
Every year, the City undertakes a
Training Needs Analysis. In 2015/16,
the following key training needs were
identified and appropriate learning
interventions were delivered:
• Diploma Project Management
• MS Project Management
• Diploma Leadership and
Management
• Cert IV Frontline Management
• Leadership
• Leading Change Lunch Time
Sessions
• Coping with and Embracing Change
• Conflict Resolution
• Performance Review Process
• Managing Poor Performers
• Disability Awareness
• Cultural Diversity
• Aboriginal Cultural Awareness
• Women’s Development Program
• Mentoring Program
• Pathway to Management
• Pathway to Leadership
• Strategic Planning
• Understanding and Managing Stress
• Managing Stress for Leaders
• Resilience Building
• Investigation Skills
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• Busyness to Effectiveness
• Email Workflow Mastery
• Corporate e-Learning
• Code of Conduct
• Bullying, Harassment and
Discrimination in the Workplace
• Recruitment and Selection
• Report Writing
• Tender Review
• Sustainability
• Risk Management
• Various computer software courses
• Various customer service-focused
workshops
• Tailored training for a number of
business units and individuals e.g.
one-to-one coaching, team building
and leadership.
Leadership Development
In 2015/16, the Leadership Team,
consisting of the Chief Executive
Officer, four Directors and 19 Business
Unit Managers, participated in a range
of professional and personal learning
and development initiatives.
Online Training
During 2015/16, the City developed
and implemented a further two online
training programs: Recruitment and
Selection and Report Writing. This
increased its in-house e-learning
programs to a total of 9. A further
two courses are currently under
development.
The number of e-learning enrolments
for the 2015/16 financial year totalled
4,237 – an average of five enrolments
per full-time equivalent.
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City’s Annual Code of
Conduct Training
As part of the City’s ongoing
Misconduct Awareness education
program, the online Code of Conduct
course is completed annually by all
employees. In August 2015, all City of
Stirling employees received training
on the City’s Code of Conduct. All
new employees received Code of
Conduct training as part of Corporate
Orientation, provided during the first
week of employment. The online Code
of Conduct course was reviewed
and updated in the first part of 2016
in readiness for the annual refresher
training scheduled for August 2016.
Study Assistance
The City acknowledges that the
sustainability of any organisation is
strengthened through systematic
professional development and by
developing its talent pool. To encourage
professional development and assist
City of Stirling employees to meet
the increasing costs of professional
development, an enhanced Study
Assistance Management Practice
was endorsed and implemented in
2013. The management practice is
not only designed to assist employees
financially, but to encourage employees
to remain with the organisation for a
minimum of two years after obtaining
their qualifications.
The Study Assistance Program provides
City of Stirling employees with up to
$2,000 per year towards study for
nationally recognised qualifications, or
up to five hours per week study leave.

Funding Opportunities
In 2015/16, the City secured federal and
state government funding towards inhouse facilitated nationally recognised
qualifications such as Diploma of
Project Management and Diploma of
Management, ultimately providing a
saving to the City of $60,000.
Apprenticeships/Traineeships
The City currently has four employees
registered on traineeships. These
traineeships enable employees to
study for and complete nationally
recognised qualifications while
working, with the costs partly offset
by federal/state funding. Twelve
employees completed in-house
traineeships during 2015/16, attracting
$30,000 in incentives for the City.
Future Learning and Development
In 2016/17, the following learning and
development initiatives are planned:
• Performance review process training
• Dealing with disciplinary and
performance management training
• Further traineeship programs
• Cultural awareness training
• Disability awareness training
• Aboriginal cultural awareness
training
• Women in leadership program
• Organisational mentoring program
• Leadership and management training
• Project Management training
• Preparing for retirement.
Further learning and development
initiatives will be identified, developed
and implemented as part of City’s
Training Needs Analysis.

Health and Wellbeing

Figure 10: Workers’ Compensation Claims lodged with LGIS
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Employee Safety,
Health and Wellbeing
The City places a high priority on
Occupational Safety and Health (OSH)
through leadership and individual
commitment. The City is currently
developing a newly integrated
Occupational Safety and Health
Management system in alignment
with AS/NZS 4801 that will be
implemented in collaboration with
the Risk Management Information
System in early 2017.
Safety Committees
The Safety Health and Operational
Risk Management Group continues
to promote and facilitate the
coordination of continual OSH
improvements at the City.
The Works Safety Committee continues
to operate with members of the
committee, focussing on delivering and
maintaining a work environment that is
safe, risk-averse and injury free.

2013/14

2014/15

2015/16

Partnerships
The City continues to work with
the Cities of Joondalup, Swan
and Wanneroo in a strategic OSH
partnership, in alliance with the LGIS,
to provide benchmarking opportunities
and synergies across the four councils.
Policies, Management
Practices and Procedures
During 2015/16, a number of
Occupational Safety and Health
management practices and
procedures were reviewed and
updated as necessary.
Safe Work Method Statements
The City completed an extensive review
of all Safe Work Method Statements
(SWMS) and is continuing to review the
documents on an ongoing basis.

The City of Stirling participated in the
5th Annual Occupational Safety and
Health Conference in association with
the Cities of Joondalup, Swan and
Wanneroo and supported by LGIS.
Health and Wellbeing Champions and
OSH professionals from the four local
governments delivered the one-day
event, which was attended by Health
and Safety Representatives. The “It’s
FundaMENTAL” conference focussed
on mental health in the workplace and
was designed to provide delegates with
the latest information on identifying
early warning signs of mental health
issues. It also aimed to demystify
mental health issues through practical
hands-on activities and presentations.
As part of the City’s commitment to
improve the health and wellbeing of
its employees, the following initiatives
were implemented in 2015/16:
• Full health assessments were provided
to Councillors and 266 employees.
• Influenza vaccinations were provided
to Councillors and 374 employees.
• Skin screening was provided to
Councillors and 504 employees.
A number of health and wellbeing
focus groups have been scheduled to
help identify potential health initiatives
that will complement the City’s current
Health and Wellbeing Plan.
Workers’ Compensation
In 2015/16, the number of Workers’
Compensation claims reported and
lodged with LGIS was 67. Concurrently,
improvements within the Injury
Management system and additional
OSH initiatives have been instigated
with a number of programs to be rolled
out over the next financial period. Figure
10 provides the number of Workers’
Compensation claims made at the City
since the 2010/11 financial year.
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Occupational Safety and Health
Learning and Development
Lost Time Injuries
In line with the Worksafe Australia National Standard, the City has
adopted the measure of Lost Time Injury Frequency Rate to assist
in tracking incidents relating to Occupational Health and Safety. For
ease of interpretation, the frequency rate provides the number of injury
occurrences for each one million hours worked.
The following formula is applied:
(Number of lost time injuries in accounting period)

• First aid training
• Health and Safety Representative
training
• Suspicious package handling

x 1,000,000

• Manual Task training

(Total hours worked in accounting period)

• Ergonomic training.

For the City of Stirling in 2015/16, the result is as follows:

Corporate Risk Management

(26 lost time injuries in accounting period)		

Corporate Risk Management has
continued to evolve throughout
2015/16. Risk Management maturity
has increased. The advertising of the
tender to supply and install a Risk
Management information system is a
significant step towards more efficient
management and reporting of risks.

x 1,000,000

(1,679, 804 hours worked in accounting period)		
Therefore, the Lost Time Injury Frequency Rate = 15.48
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A range of specialist learning
opportunities were coordinated and
implemented across the City, including:

Our Volunteers

Connection 2

Community Men’s Shed

The City of Stirling is fortunate to
have over 496 people volunteering
their services across the City. These
dedicated people contribute in excess
of 69,000 hours of their time to help
our community. During 2015/16, the
City has focussed on ensuring that all
volunteers are trained to undertake their
role in a professional and safe manner.
The City has increased the volunteers
that come from a multicultural
background and is also recruiting from
a younger demographic. This has had
an impact on the type of projects the
volunteers support in the community.

Connect 2 (formerly Community
Connections) helps HACC-eligible
clients connect with their local
community. Eligible residents can
be part of small (six to eight people)
social groups, or they can access
activities at their community centres.
Volunteers assist with bus transport
and provide support at small social
group gatherings. The City has piloted
a home visitors scheme assisting
isolated HACC-eligible clients to remain
connected in their own homes. A
volunteer visits these people weekly.

The Stirling Community Men’s Shed
allows social interaction for men in a
friendly and safe atmosphere. ‘The
Shed’ is aimed primarily at men over
the age of 55 who are seeking mental
and physical stimulation. Activities at
the Shed include woodworking and
gardening and it also offers male health
workshops, along with guest speakers
at regular meetings. Male volunteers
assist members with activities, as
well as provide one-on-one activity
assistance for HACC participants.

Volunteers deliver many services and
activities, which provide valuable
assistance to residents. Here are
just a few examples of the valuable
contributions by the City’s volunteers.
Community Day Clubs
The City of Stirling operates three adult
day clubs aimed at facilitating social
interaction and supporting wellness.
The Nollamara and Stirling centres cater
for Home and Community Care (HACC)
eligible seniors and the Scarborough
centre offers programs and activities
for adults with an intellectual
disability. Volunteers provide support
via activities, skills development,
concerts and outing supervision, meal
preparation and transport assistance.
Community and Activity Centres
The City of Stirling operates multiple
community centres, providing a hub for
various groups within the community.
These centres are home to seniors
groups, pensioner groups, the Stirling
Silver program (activities for active
seniors) and a great number of other
user groups who pay a fee for usage.
Volunteers support the Stirling Silver
program by providing administration
assistance, information and a friendly
face to community members.

Conversational English
Volunteers coordinate English
conversation groups held at Stirling
Libraries - Mirrabooka and Osborne.
This group is an opportunity for
attendees to practice their English
language skills in an informal setting.
Volunteers plan and lead conversation
topics during group sessions. This
program has been particularly
successful due to the fact that it is
largely run by newly-arrived volunteers.
Animal Care Facility
The City of Stirling has an Animal
Care Facility (ACF) for lost or
wandering dogs. Dogs are collected
by their owners or made available
for re-homing. Volunteers assist by
cleaning kennels as well as feeding and
walking dogs. Volunteers also assist
at the facility by attending to daily
administration and reception duties.
Books on Wheels
Library Services operate six library
branches. The Books on Wheels service
is available to City of Stirling residents
who cannot visit a public library due to
age or physical disability. Volunteers
help deliver this service by selecting,
delivering or returning books using the
Books on Wheels van.

Family Services
The City’s Family Services team
run a range of programs that aim
to strengthen families, connect
communities and promote health and
wellbeing. Programs include parenting,
craft, art, dance and photography
workshops; intergenerational activities;
sporting clinics and healthy lifestyle
initiatives. There are also several small
events to celebrate different occasions
throughout the year. Volunteers
assist with the organisation and
implementation of these programs,
activities and events.
Justice of the Peace
The City provides a Justice of the
Peace (JP) service at its Administration
Centre. Registered JPs can volunteer
their services.
Meals on Wheels
The City operates the largest Meals
on Wheels program in the state. The
program provides two-course, nutritious
meals and essential social interaction
seven days a week to eligible clients.
Volunteers deliver meals using their own
vehicles, and have personal contact
with clients who may have limited
contact with others during the day. The
City now provides meal delivery to a
number of other local governments.
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As a result, the number of volunteers
working in this area has significantly
increased.

Events are held on Saturday mornings
for people of all ages, creating a fun
and productive atmosphere.

Mount Flora Museum

Mirrabooka Mothers
Neighbourhood Project

The Mount Flora Museum, housed
in a former water tank in Waterman’s
Bay, exhibits photographs, stories,
artefacts and everyday memorabilia
that explore the history of the City of
Stirling. Volunteers assist by meeting
and welcoming visitors to the museum
once per month.
Stirling Silver Program
Aimed at active seniors, the Stirling
Silver program is run through our
community centres, and caters for a
wide range of interests. Volunteers
assist with workshops and bus visits
to various destinations within the Perth
region, providing entertainment and
social engagement opportunities for
community members.
Community Transport Services
Community Transport Services provides
transport options to HACC-eligible
clients for a wide range of activities
including one-on-one shopping trips,
shopping buses, and transport to
and from medical appointments. The
service also offers social outings with
the Tuesday Travellers and Wednesday
Wanderers programs. Volunteers assist
by using their own vehicles to transport
clients for one-on-one activities or by
joining the bus on group outings.
Community Tree Planting Program
The Community Tree Planting Program
aims to increase the number of
street trees in the City with help from
the community. During the May to
September planting season, Volunteer
Street Tree Captains and Volunteer
Street Tree Planters join forces with
local residents to plant street trees in
their suburb to revitalise their streets.
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This program is funded by the
Department of Social Services through
Communities for Children and operates
from Mirrabooka. This is a mentoring
program for newly-arrived mothers of
children aged 0 - 12 years. It provides
an opportunity for volunteer mentors
to provide education and information
workshops to these mothers.
Volunteers also provide an information
hub, operating from Stirling Libraries Mirrabooka.
Job Shop
The Job Shop service, run by
volunteers, offers an appointmentbased service providing advice,
guidance and employability skills. It is
based in the Osborne Activity Centre
and operates four days per week.
Local Committee and Groups
In addition to these regular roles, our
volunteers contribute their time to local
committees and groups including:
• Autumn clubs

Support for Volunteers
Each year, the City undertakes
programs and improvements to ensure
that the City’s volunteers are supported
in their roles. In 2015/16, these
included:
• A mandatory volunteer induction
program to ensure that all volunteers
receive important information before
their deployment
• A volunteer reference manual for all
volunteers that outlines their rights
and responsibilities
• Continuation of the annual survey to
ascertain volunteer satisfaction
• Continuation of the ‘Volunteer
Star of the Month’ program where
volunteers nominated for their
contribution are in the running to win
a $50 gift voucher. This nominee is
then eligible for the Premiers Awards
held each year
• An update to all volunteer
information, licence checks, areas of
deployment and volunteer position
descriptions
• Annual Volunteer Dinners to formally
acknowledge the valuable work
undertaken by volunteers within our
community

• Aboriginal Action Group

• A number of informal events are
undertaken each year to enable
volunteers to be recognised for their
efforts with Stirling residents

• Ratepayer, Probus, Rotary, Lions
Groups

• First Aid Training to volunteers
operating in high-risk areas.

• Pensioner groups
• DSAP – Disability Advisory Panel

• Consultative People with Disability
Group
• Sporting clubs
• Parents and Friends Groups
• Playgroups
• Surf Lifesaving
• Volunteering WA.

Awards and Recognition
The City of Stirling received a number
of prestigious awards in 2015/16.
These awards acknowledge the City’s
innovative work in key areas and
demonstrate that Stirling is a leader
in local government. These awards
also recognise the City’s philosophy
of continuously improving the way it
provides services, facilities, programs
and activities. Some key awards won by
the City in 2015/16 include:
• A Gold Award for its 2014/15
Annual Report at the Australasian
Reporting Awards
• A Certificate of Appreciation from
the Department of Immigration and
Border Protection for an outstanding
contribution to the delivery of
Australian Citizenship ceremonies in
the local community
• A National Award for Promoting
Indigenous Recognition for the
City’s Aboriginal Engagement
Project at the 2016 National
Awards for Local Government
• A High Commendation for the
Leisure and/or Open Space:
Planning Award at the Parks and
Leisure Australia (WA) Awards for the
City’s Princess Wallington Reserve
Community Parkland project.
Premier’s Australia Day
Active Citizenship Awards
The City’s Australia Awards were
presented this year at the City of Stirling
Civic Complex. The Attorney General
Michael Mishin attended, and Judith
Fordham (Criminal Barrister) was the
Australia Day Ambassador for the
event. The Active Citizenship Award
was awarded to Oliver Lovelle for his
commitment and contribution to the
community. Oliver worked extensively
with a diverse range of community
groups in the Dianella area.

The Active Citizenship Award for a
person under 25 years was awarded to
Scott Guerini. Scott was nine years old
and had fundraised over $76,000 since
2010. He also walked a marathon (over
42km) for Telethon in just over 11 hours.
The Active Citizenship Award for
a community group or event was
presented to the Emanon Group.
The Emanon Group have volunteered
their time to the Stirling Women’s
Centre for over 27 years. The Women’s
Centre is a refuge for women and
children experiencing family and
domestic violence.
The City of Stirling Volunteer of the
Year went to Mrs Gail Edwards. Gail
has worked for the City as a dedicated
volunteer with Stirling Volunteer
Transport for many years. Gail also
contributed a substantial number of
hours over and above what she had
committed to in her volunteer role for
the year.
The City of Stirling Community
Volunteer of the Year award went to
Mrs Carmel Byrne. Carmel has been
active in maintaining a local reserve
for many years, supplying plants and
maintaining the gardens. Carmel has
assumed the responsibility for the
reserve, including provision of fertilizer
and other chemicals, mowing, edging
and hand watering for the benefit of
the community.

Connecting with
the Community
The City of Stirling aims to create a
community where people are actively
involved in decision-making and where
dialogue with the City is continuous
and constructive. There are many
opportunities for people to be actively
involved in their community and
everyone is encouraged to participate.

Communication
The City has a positive relationship
with the local and state media and
responds to questions from journalists
on a daily basis. In the interest of
transparency, the City has a strict
policy of never issuing a ‘no comment’
response, endeavouring to provide an
open and honest dialogue within the
required timeframe.
In 2015/16, the City responded to
283 media enquiries from local and
state-wide media outlets, covering a
variety of topics. These topics included
planning matters, the City’s budget,
community events and environmental
issues, as well as waste collection
and disposal. Additionally, during the
2015/16 year, the Mayor and officers
were called on to give 58 television
and radio interviews. These activities,
along with the circulation of 67 positive
media releases, generated well over
$2.5 million in unpaid media coverage
for the City.
The City is committed to providing
ongoing updates to the community
about important issues. As such it
uses a variety of channels, including
a monthly newsletter (Stirling Scoop);
a quarterly publication (Stirling Scene)
delivered to 98,000 households in the
City; and monthly radio broadcasts.
In addition, updates are shared with
the community via the City’s website,
publications, posters, e-newsletters,
community events, Facebook, YouTube,
Twitter and other forms of advertising.
The Stirling Scoop is a monthly
newsletter featuring timely updates
on the City’s news, events, views and
activities. It is published in three local
newspapers that provide coverage
across the City’s entire geographical
area and is widely read by our
community.
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The Stirling Scene is an eight-page
publication delivered to 98,000
households on a quarterly basis. This
publication employs a conversational
tone that aims to encourage a high
level of engagement with residents
and an active role in community life.
Accordingly, this publication features a
‘Kids Corner’ section, frequently asked
questions, a community noticeboard,
vouchers for local businesses, and
updates on major projects.
In conjunction with Stirling Scoop
and Stirling Scene, the City has a full
page advertisement (Stirling Notices)
each week in three local newspapers
to deliver relevant messages to the
community.
Each year the City produces hundreds
of publications, from simple flyers and
posters to the Annual Report, Strategic
Community Plan and Corporate
Business Plan. In addition, the popular
Community Calendar is produced
annually, containing the dates of
important community events, Council
and committee meetings, firebreak
details and animal registration deadlines.
Publications are delivered either direct
to householders or distributed through
the City’s libraries, recreation and
community centres.
Digital Communications
Our website is the City’s most
important source of public information.
The significance of this resource –
affording unprecedented access and
convenience to our residents – cannot
be underestimated and will continue
to grow.
In 2014/15, the website was visited
1.4 million times by 712,000 unique
visitors. The average number of pages
viewed per visit was 2.39 and of these
visits, 48.7 per cent were new visitors
to the site and 51.3 per cent were
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returning visitors.

reaching 22,500.

Our website offers the opportunity for
community members to subscribe to
41 different e-newsletters, covering a
wide variety of topics such as Citywide news, libraries, arts and events,
sustainable living and recreation. In
2015/16, the City enabled its website
to be mobile device aware, so that
it can operate on any smart device.
Throughout 2015/16, a total of 175
e-newsletters were sent to over
47,400 subscribers.

With social media emerging as an
integral and ideal medium for engaging
with the community, we anticipate an
increased use of these tools in the
future. In 2015/16, the City took control
of all existing Facebook pages and
combined them into one page, giving
it more credibility and acting as a focal
point for social media interaction with
the community.

Social media continues to be a useful
tool for sharing City information with
our community. The City employs a
centralised Facebook strategy, whereby
one site delivers timely and targeted
messages to key audiences about
many of the City’s 200-plus services.
The City’s Facebook page has attracted
a following of almost 20,000 followers.
Twitter is used at a corporate level to
promote programs, activities, events
and consultation and to relay important
and sometimes urgent information. In
2015/16 the City tweeted 226 times to
our 3,751 followers.
The City is an industry leader in digital
storytelling. Creating digital stories
to illustrate complex concepts and
promote City initiatives and services
has been a particular focus throughout
the year. Topics covered have ranged
from The Year in Review (a digital
interpretation of the Annual Report) and
the ‘My New Bins’ campaign to the
‘Open for Business’ presentation for
the Annual Mayoral Breakfast and the
Summerset Arts Festival highlights reel.
The digital stories were presented to
industry leaders directly, shown on our
network of digital screens throughout
City facilities, displayed as cinema
advertisements, embedded in our
website and/or uploaded to YouTube.
In 2015/16, the City uploaded 22 digital
stories to YouTube with total views

Community Consultation
The City of Stirling is committed to
providing ways for our community to
play an active role in decision-making.
There have been many opportunities
for community members to provide
feedback on City programs and issues.
The City has continued to make
significant progress in accordance
with the outlined timeline targets of the
Reconciliation Action Plan 2014–2016
to facilitate meaningful relationships
between Aboriginal and non-Aboriginal
people. The City also continued to
foster partnerships with the local
Aboriginal community.
Several actions outlined in the plan are
already underway including the City
appointing an Aboriginal Engagement
Officer and collecting oral histories
from elders for a local history project. In
addition, the City supported the popular
Mooro Country Tours for the public
and worked with the Wadjak Northside
Aboriginal Community Group to support
the newly-created Aboriginal Resource
and Cultural Centre in Balga.
Finally, the City conducted 65 statutory
public consultations.
Customer Service
Customer service is the responsibility of
all City of Stirling employees. The City is
committed to delivering high standards
of service to ensure our customers

receive a positive experience, in line
with the City’s Customer Service
Charter commitments.
To embed a customer-focussed culture,
customer service plays a pivotal role
in the City’s corporate orientation
program. Information regarding the
City’s service standards and the
importance of communication and
customer engagement is presented
to new employees. A customer
service e-learning program is also
individually completed.
A variety of customer service training
courses were delivered across the
City during the 2015/16 financial
year, including Innovation, Emotional
Intelligence, Self-Leadership and
Perspective Changing. Communicationrelated sessions and tailored
workshops focussing on the City’s
internal Customer Service Standards
were also provided.
The City’s dedicated Contact Centre
received 255,484 enquiries during the
2015/16 financial year (an increase of
15 per cent compared with the previous
year) and actioned 80 per cent of those
enquiries at first contact.
Community Festivals and Events
The City of Stirling is vibrant and active,
and continues to host a large number
of high-quality community events of all
sizes throughout the year.
Mind Your Arts is a series of workshops
designed to give residents a taste of
different art practices at subsidised
rates. Twelve workshops were held
throughout 2015/16, including felting,
weaving, block printing, copper
lanterns, kids stationery, line and wash,
screen printing and macramé.
The City is committed to supporting
community and not-for-profit groups
deliver events within the City to help
build connected, positive communities.

Qualifying events that have a community
or arts aspect are funded through the
Cultural Development Fund and receive
value-in-kind support from a variety of
departments. The City is proud to have
funded 35 events, totalling $152,000
with ‘Flagship Funded’ events being
Beaufort Street Festival, Wembley
Downs District Fair, Balga Community
Connect, Carols at Scarborough, Rotary
Carine Community Fair and the Osborne
Park Agricultural Show.
The City also sponsors commercial
events that have a large community
benefit or that provide access for
demographics not currently catered for
by existing events. Sponsored events
include King of the Point Trigg Beach
and Kids Wonderland Stirling, to the
total value of $20,000.

free activities and entertainment.
The City continues its partnership
with the West Australian Academy of
Performing Arts to present WAAPA in the
Park, a free concert under the stars with
performances by students of WAAPA,
the up-and-coming stars of WA.
In 2015/16, 147 events were run within
the City, some one-day events and
some running across a series of dates,
entertaining an estimated 290,000
event-goers.

The ever-popular Summerset Arts
Festival successfully capped off its
eighth year in 2016, transforming parks,
buildings and neighbourhoods into
pop-up venues, creative spaces and
hubs of activity. Celebrating the City’s
unique lifestyle, diversity, heritage and
culture, the festival attracts more than
30,000 people to over 50 events held
at a variety of locations across the City
of Stirling.
The award-winning Sunset Veranda
pop-up venue returned to Scarborough
Beach for a superb season of worldclass entertainment, once again as
an official Fringe World venue. The
free community concert concluded of
the festival, entertaining up to 10,000
people with local and international
musical acts, this year held at Carine
Open Space.
The Kids Kerfuffle children’s obstacle
course and fair event exploded in
popularity in its second year. Held at the
beautiful Civic Gardens in Stirling, this
sell-out event provided children with the
opportunity to participate in an obstacle
course-style adventure and peripheral
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”

They do everything they
say they are going to do
Marketing Effectiveness
Survey February 2016

Corporate Governance
The City of Stirling is serious about
preventing misconduct, corruption and
fraud, and has introduced a Code of
Conduct for employees and Councillors
in their dealings with the community
and others, and a Statement of
Business Ethics to manage our relations
with suppliers.

• Taking all reasonable measures to
prevent disclosure of confidential
information

Code of Conduct

The Audit Committee

• Not engaging in any form of
collusion, especially with City
employees

The City of Stirling established an Audit
Committee in the 1990s. The Audit
Committee reports to Council and is
responsible for advising Council on all
matters relating to:

• Not discussing City business or
information with the media

• The integrity of the City’s financial
statements

• Reporting any unethical practices in
business relationships.

• Compliance with legal and statutory
requirements
• External audit

• Ethical decision making

It also includes information on the City’s
commitment to ethical dealings with
providers, and what can be expected
from us, such as:

• Obligations and responsibilities of
managers

• Using public resources effectively
and efficiently

• Appropriate and inappropriate
behaviour between colleagues

• Dealing with all individuals and
organisations in a fair, honest and
ethical manner

The Audit Committee has been
established in accordance with the
requirements of s7.1A of the Local
Government Act 1995. This section
requires every local government to
establish an audit committee of three
or more persons to exercise the powers
and discharge the duties conferred on
it. The Audit Committee currently has
no powers delegated to it by Council.

The City’s Code of Conduct for City
officers and Councillors covers the
following topics:

• Ethical interactions with the
community
• Professional standards of
appearance, confidentiality and
appointments
• Use of City resources, including
intellectual property and
discretionary expenses.
Statement of Business Ethics
A Statement of Business Ethics
has been introduced to outline the
expectations of providers of goods and
services. These include:
• Complying with all Australian laws
• Understanding the City’s policies,
guidelines and procedures on
purchasing
• Providing accurate and reliable
advice and information when
required
• Declaring actual or perceived
conflicts of interest as soon as
practicable
• Dealing ethically, fairly and honestly

• Avoiding any conflicts of interest
(whether real or perceived)
• Never seeking gifts or other personal
benefits
• Treating all suppliers impartially and
fairly and giving equal access to
information to assist with quotations,
tendering or supply
• Fully and clearly documented
procurements for an effective
audit trail, allowing for effective
performance reviews of contracts
• As far as reasonably possible,
purchasing energy-efficient
equipment, environmentally-friendly
products, and products containing
recycled materials, taking into
account value for money
• Not requesting tenders unless
the City has a firm commitment
to proceed to contract (however,
the Council reserves the right not
to proceed with any tender so
advertised)
• Not disclosing confidential or
proprietary information.

• Internal audit
• Risk Management Framework.

Audit Committee Activity
Council last approved the Audit
Committee Terms of Reference in
2015. The Committee is required to
meet on a quarterly basis and met
on five occasions during 2015/16:
10 August 2015, 14 September 2015,
3 November 2015, 22 February 2016
and 9 May 2016.
The Audit Committee comprises the
following members:
• Councillor K Caddy
• Councillor J Ferrante
• Councillor M Irwin
• Councillor G Italiano JP (Mayor)
• Councillor D Lagan
• Councillor D Michael
• Councillor S Proud JP
• Councillor T Tyzack
• External Member Stephen Linden.
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Independent Member

Risk Management

Stephen Linden had a long career at
Fremantle Ports in middle management
positions. For the past 20-plus years
he has been a director of companies
providing governance, internal audit
and risk management advisory
services in WA, the Northern Territory
and the Australian Capital Territory.
Mr Linden is well qualified with a
Bachelor of Business, is a CPA and
is the independent member on a
number of other audit committees. He
has been a member of the Institute
of Internal Auditors (IIA) international
guidance-setting committees for the
past nine years. A former director of
IIA – Australia, Mr Linden is currently
Chapter Chair of IIA - WA. He has been
a member of the City’s Audit Committee
since 2007 and his current appointment
expires in October 2017.

The Audit Committee is responsible for
monitoring the City’s Risk Management
Framework.

External Audit
The Audit Committee recommends
the appointment of the City’s external
auditor to Council.
In accordance with his contract,
the external auditor attends Audit
Committee meetings as required.
Each year, the external auditor makes
a presentation to the Audit Committee
on the audit plan for the forthcoming
external audit.
The external auditor presents the
management letter, if applicable, to the
Audit Committee.
The Audit Committee monitors
the progress in implementing any
action plans arising from the
management letter.
The Audit Committee occasionally
seeks advice from the external auditor
during the meetings.
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The Audit Committee receives a report
from the internal auditor in relation to
the Chief Executive Officer’s biennial
review of the City’s risk management
systems and procedures.
The Internal Auditor conducts formal
audits of risk management on a
periodic basis. The most recent audit
was reported in August 2016.
The City’s risk management coordinator
makes presentations to the Audit
Committee as required.
Compliance
The Audit Committee recommends a
report to Council on the City’s annual
compliance audit return, which is
required to be signed by the Mayor and
Chief Executive Officer and forwarded
to the Department of Local Government
and Communities.
The Audit Committee receives a
report on the six-monthly control selfassessment process for compliance
in a number of areas that are no
longer part of the Department of Local
Government and Communities annual
audit return.

The Audit Committee recommends the
rolling three-year strategic audit plan to
Council, and annual internal audit plan
based on the first year of the three-year
plan, which guides the activities of the
internal audit function.
Internal audit reports, complete with
agreed management action plans, are
considered by the Audit Committee
following completion.
The Audit Committee monitors the
implementation of management action
plans contained in internal audit
reports.
The Audit Committee receives a
comprehensive quarterly report from
the Internal Auditor on the activities
of the internal audit function in
comparison with the approved annual
internal audit plan.
An experienced full-time internal
auditor, supported by audit
subcontractors under a co-sourcing
model, staffs the internal audit function.
During 2015/16, the Audit Committee
received internal audit reports on:
• Accounts Payable
• Risk Management
• Legislative Obligations
• Rates & Sundry Debtors

An internal audit of legislative obligations
was reported in November 2015.

• Invoicing & Sundry Debtors

The Audit Committee receives a
report from the Internal Auditor in
relation to the Chief Executive Officer’s
biennial review of the City’s legislative
compliance systems and procedures.

• Internal Controls

Internal Audit

• Project Management.

The City has implemented an effective
internal audit function, subject to a
five-yearly quality assurance review in
accordance with the Institute of Internal
Auditors standards. The last review was
conducted in 2012.

In February 2013, the WA Government
amended Regulation 17 of the Local
Government (Audit) Regulations 1996
to place greater responsibility on
Audit Committees to review the City’s
systems and procedures in relation

• Asset Accounting

• Invoice Systems & Processes
• Cash Management & Treasury
• Occupational Safety & Health

to risk management, internal control
and legislative compliance, at least
on a biennial basis. As a result, the
Audit Committee will now receive
reports from the internal auditor on
risk management, internal control and
legislative compliance on a biennial
basis as noted above.
National Competition Policy
During the 2015/16 financial year, the
City met its obligations with regards
to National Competition Policy. The
City has no local laws or policies that
contain anti-competitive provisions. No
complaints were received during the
period.

Service Improvement
In 2015, the City of Stirling identified
an opportunity to promote integrity and
accountability in our service delivery.
Therefore, on 1 July 2015, the City
implemented a new business unit called
Service Improvement which acts as
the City’s Internal Ombudsman. With
input from other business units, the
Service Improvement Team contributes
to providing a holistic approach to the
management of complaints by:
• Ensuring members of the community
are dealt with in a fair, transparent
and accountable manner
• Providing education and training to
employees on probity, conduct and
ethical decision making
• Reviewing decisions affecting
customer service
• Investigating customer complaints
and ensuring that all complaints
are investigated appropriately and
in accordance with organisational
management practices and
procedures
• Responding to requests from the
Ombudsman WA, Corruption and
Crime Commission and the Public
Sector Commission

• Ensuring internal processes are
robust and have been followed
correctly
• Identifying opportunities for systemic
improvement.
Service Improvement is proactive in
making sure people are accountable
for their conduct to help identify poor
performance, training deficiencies
or misconduct. Additionally, Service
Improvement provides a monitoring role
to help identify any policy deficiency
or weakness in internal controls
and importantly, seeks to address
community concerns.
Since the implementation of Service
Improvement, significant accountability
milestones have been achieved. For
example, new policies and frameworks
regulating staff and Councillor
behaviour have been developed,
such as the Complaint Management
Framework, Governance Framework,
Conflicts of Interest Policy, Complaints
Policy, and a number of associated
management practices. Collectively,
these documents help provide an
avenue to identify complaints and
manage unreasonable conduct or
misconduct.
The City is dedicated to identifying,
managing and preventing misconduct,
and has made significant progress
with the City’s goal to be a leader in
managing misconduct in the local
government sector.

City’s expected standards.
• The result for presentation was
92.3 per cent for the 2015/16
financial year.
• The result for customer courtesy
was 90.7 per cent for the 2015/16
financial year.
• The result for knowledge was
83.7 per cent for the 2015/16
financial year.
Accolades and Complaints
A total of 396 accolades were
received during the 2015/16 financial
year, which is an increase from 372
accolades received during the 2014/15
financial year.
The number of complaints received
increased from 376 during the 2014/15
financial year to 618 during the 2015/16
financial year. This can be attributed
to Service Improvement focussing on
encouraging feedback and working
towards capturing and reporting on
complaints to identify trends and
service improvements.
Education Training
Service Improvement conducted six
training courses educating employees in
the understanding of complaint handling.
This included roles, responsibilities
and jurisdiction to promote timely and
effective resolutions.

Mystery Shopping
Part of Service Improvement’s
responsibility is conducting and
reporting on Mystery Shopping
Accolades and Complaints including
educational training.
The overall result for Mystery Shopping
for the 2015/16 financial year was 90.3
per cent. The City continues to meet
the City’s KPI of 90 per cent as a result
of continued education and awareness
provided to employees regarding the
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Asset Management
The City of Stirling is committed to
delivering agreed and desired levels
of service in the most cost-effective
manner for the present and future City
of Stirling community. The City achieves
this through best-practice leadership
and management of all assets and
service portfolios.
The City owns, operates and maintains
community infrastructure assets valued
at approximately $2.8 billion, including
stormwater, waste, transport, parks
and building assets. These assets
support community access to services
and facilities, enhancing the well-being
of the City of Stirling community. The
City’s assets represent an investment
of $2.8 billion, built up over many
decades. Failure of these assets
can have dramatic and far-reaching
consequences for the community we
serve. At the heart of the City is the
efficient management of these assets
in order to maintain safe, reliable and
effective services that help achieve
the City’s strategic priorities and
service goals.
Through its asset management
practices, the City ensures that it
continues to provide agreed and
desired levels of services for its
community and guarantees the
City remains sustainable in the long
term. The City has in place an Asset
Management Framework that consists
of the following:
• An Asset Management Policy which
broadly outlines the principles
and mandated requirements for
undertaking asset management
across the City in a systematic and
coordinated way, consistent with the
City’s Strategic Community Plan
• An Asset Management Strategy
which sets out the high-level overall
asset management activities within
the City
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• Asset Management Plans which
collectively outline the asset
activities and programs for each
service area and resources, that are
applied to provide a defined level
of service in the most cost-effective
way. Factors that underpin the City’s
asset management plans include:
-- Knowing what the City owns or
has legal responsibility for
-- Recording assets in a register to
an identifiable level
-- Monitoring the condition,
functionality, capacity,
performance, utilisation and costs
of assets down to the managed
component level, and aggregation
of this data to give outputs of cost
and performance at the portfolio
levels
-- Understanding the current levels
of service in terms of cost,
reliability, provision and quality
of service as well as the City’s
responsiveness to asset failures
-- Understanding the likely future
levels of service required
based on population growth,
demographic changes and
community expectations
-- Understanding the long-term
(10 years plus) funding needs
of the City in order to meet
community expectations in capital
expenditure.
The City’s Asset Management
Framework contributes significantly to
the achievement of the City’s strategic
priorities and service goals.

Risk Management
Risk management continues to be
recognised and promoted as an
essential element of good corporate
governance and is used to support
the achievement of strategic and
operational objectives.
Risk Management Framework
The City’s Risk Management Policy,
adopted in February 2012, provides
high-level commitment to the
implementation of risk management in
accordance with the Australian and New
Zealand Standard AS/NSZ 31000:2009
Risk Management – Principles and
Guidelines. The City’s Risk Management
Framework was reviewed and updated
during the financial year to demonstrate
continual improvement and reflect how
risk management has been integrated
and linked to key business processes
across the organisation. An annual
corporate risk management plan is
developed to guide the implementation
of key risk management initiatives. In
developing the plan, the attributes of the
standard are considered as well as the
environment in which the City operates.
Key Activities completed
during 2015/16
The risk management process is
applied as an inherent element of
the annual strategic and operational
planning process. Through this process,
business unit risk registers are reviewed
and updated and used to amend the
corporate risk register. The corporate
risk register and business unit risk
registers are then considered in the
development of the strategic audit plan.
Implementation of the City’s business
continuity management project
continued during the year. The focus
was on implementing improvement
actions to ensure an adequate response
in the event of a business disruption.

A tender was advertised during 2015/16
for the supply and installation of a Risk
Management Information System. This
system will allow for a central repository
of all risk information, allowing for risks
to be better managed and reported
on. This will increase the risk maturity
of the organisation. This tender will be
awarded early 2016/17.
Risk Management Committees
The Corporate Risk Management
Group oversees the Risk Management
Framework and reports through the
Executive Team to the Audit Committee
in respect of the requirements of the
Local Government (Audit) Regulations
1996 regulation 17.
In addition to the two groups mentioned
above, various committees and working
groups meet throughout the year,
focussing on risks specific to their areas
of operation including:
• Safety, Health and Operational Risk
Management Group
• Works Safety Committee
• Local Emergency Management
Committee
• Crime Prevention Working Group
• Natural Environment Working Group
• Road Safety Working Group.
A key focus for the City over the
next year will be enhancing the risk
management process, particularly
the ongoing monitoring and review
elements. By implementing an
effective and efficient risk management
information system, it will ensure
commitment to achieving a risk
management culture.

Sustainable Procurement
and Responsible Investment
The City of Stirling is committed to
sustainable procurement, and its
internal management practice provides
guidance for employees to minimise
environmental and negative social
impacts from purchasing goods and
services. The City endeavours to
identify and procure products and
services that:
• Are necessary
• Conserve natural resources through
energy, water and fuel efficiency
• Are environmentally sound in
manufacture, use, and disposal
• Minimise waste through the use of
recycled non-toxic materials that
are able to be refurbished, reused,
recycled or reclaimed
• Use renewable energy technologies.
The City is continually improving
sustainable procurement processes and
practices, using the UK Government’s
Sustainable Procurement Task Force’s
Flexible Framework and the British
Standard for Procuring Sustainably as
guidance. These frameworks guide
the City’s action across several key
areas including people; policy, strategy
and communications; procurement
processes; engaging suppliers; and
measurements and results.

Sustainable procurement processes
have been used in purchasing vehicles
as part of the City’s Fleet Emissions
Reduction Action Plan 2015-2020. The
City has set minimum standards for
carbon intensity (CO2/km) for new cars
in the fleet.
The City has continued its sustainability
procurement of 2,000,000 biodegradable
plastic dog waste bags that are provided
in parks and reserves for community
use. This helps to reduce the unintended
environmental impacts from single use,
non-biodegradable bags going to landfill
or ending up as litter in the environment.
As part of our sustainable procurement
program, the City has also continued
to purchase 100 per cent recycled and
carbon-neutral office paper for use
across the City.
In relation to sustainable investment,
the City updated its Investments Policy
to align with Council’s values through
environmentally and socially responsible
investment criteria, giving preference to
financial institutions that do not invest
in or finance the fossil fuel industry. As
of June 2016, the City had 82 per cent
of its investments in banks that do not
finance the fossil fuel industry.

Sustainable procurement is included
as content in the City’s Sustainability
e-learning module and all relevant staff
complete this annually. In 2015/16,
the City undertook a sustainability risk
assessment of its top fifty suppliers
and expenditure categories. The
assessment gauged any potential
environmental and social impacts
occurring in the City’s supply chain.
This information will be used in 2016/17
to mitigate social and environmental
impacts within the supply chain from
high-risk suppliers and purchases.
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Integrated Planning
and Reporting Framework
Reporting Framework
In 2011, the Western Australian State Government introduced legislation requiring local governments to prepare an Integrated
Planning and Reporting Framework by June 2013. Diagram 2 displayed on page 73, highlights the components of the
Framework. In accordance with this legislation, the City of Stirling adopted its first suite of Integrated Planning and Reporting
Plans in June 2013.
The City of Stirling’s Strategic Community Plan 2013-2023 outlines the community’s vision for the next 10 years, delivered by
six theme areas as depicted in Diagram 1.
Diagram 1: Overview of the City’s Strategic Themes and Objectives

Theme 2
Sustainable Environment
• Clean and Waste Wise City
• Energy Wise City

Theme 1
Liveable City and
Thriving Neighbourhoods

• Water Wise City
• Wildlife and Natural Habitat

Theme 3
Engaged Communities

• A Strong Sense of Place
• Housing Choice

• Harmonious and Inclusive City

• Beautiful Streetscapes
and Open Spaces

• Active Participation and
Volunteering

• Safer City
• Health and Wellbeing
• Active and Vibrant City

Theme 4
Accessible and
Connected City

Vision
The City of Stirling will be a place
where people choose to live, work,
visit and invest. We will have safe
and thriving neighbourhoods, with a
range of housing, employment and
recreational opportunities. We will
engage with our diverse community
to help shape our future into the City
of Stirling - City of Choice.

Theme 6
Making It Happen
• Customer Focus
• Good Governance

• Planning for Accessibility

• Prudent Financial Management

• Travel Choice

• Investing for the Future

• Safer Roads

• Employer of Choice

• Smart Parking
• Connected City

• Two Way Dialogue

• Integrated Planning and Reporting

Theme 5
Prosperous City

• Partner of Choice and
Persuasive Advocate

• A Great Place to Work, Invest
and Do Business
• Destination City
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The Corporate Business Plan outlines
how the City aims to achieve the
objectives of the Strategic Community
Plan over a four-year period, through
the delivery of services, programs,
projects and activities. The Corporate
Business Plan is updated annually
to reflect changing priorities and
circumstances. A desktop review of
the Strategic Community Plan (20132023) was also undertaken during
2015/16. While it was assessed that the
objectives are still up to date, relevant
and reflect the vision, it was agreed
that four objectives under two of the
Themes should be strengthened, as
noted below.
Theme 1: Liveable City and
Thriving Neighbourhoods
1.2

Housing Choice
There will be a choice of housing
size, style and price to meet the
needs of our residents and infill
development will be managed to
preserve amenity within the City
of Stirling

1.3

Beautiful Streetscape
and Open Spaces
There will be well designed,
clean and maintained streets.
Tree canopy cover will be valued
and there will be ready access
to parks and open space,
creating a welcoming, attractive
environment that supports the
wellbeing of the community

1.5

Health and Wellbeing
The City will promote public
health and wellbeing and there
will be a range of quality health
and care services to meet
the changing needs of our
community
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Theme 3: Engaged Communities
3.2

Active Participation
and Volunteering
The City will be a place where
people of all ages and diverse
backgrounds can pursue their
interests. There will be more
opportunities to volunteer and
the contribution of volunteers
will be recognised and
celebrated

This minor review of the Strategic
Community Plan informed the annual
review of the Corporate Business Plan.
A review of the supporting actions
resulted in minor changes, updates
and the addition of some new actions,
and these are detailed in the Corporate
Business Plan (2016/17-2019/20). In
keeping with legislative requirements,
in 2017/18 the City will again consult
with the community on priorities
and complete a major review of the
Strategic Community Plan.
The successful delivery of the Strategic
Community and Corporate Business
Plans are dependent on the availability
and efficient use of resources and
the City has adopted a number of
informing or resourcing strategies
accordingly. These include a Long-Term
Financial Plan, Asset Management
Plan, Workforce Plan and a Strategic
Information Management Plan. The
Annual Budget details the City’s
allocation of resources to deliver the
current year of the Corporate Business
Plan.
Measurement, assessment and
reporting are logically part of the
Western Australian Local Government
Integrated Planning and Reporting (IPR)
Framework. The primary purpose of

measuring progress and performance
is to ensure continuous improvement,
improve the delivery of services and
ultimately enable progress towards the
community outcomes expressed in the
Strategic Community Plan.
The inter-relationships between the
City’s strategic plans and the intended
results and outcomes are illustrated in
Diagram 2 opposite.
This diagram reflects how the City’s
strategic plans link and roll down
and how achievement rolls up, with
success at each level ultimately
enabling progress towards community
outcomes, the objectives and vision
described in the City’s Strategic
Community Plan.

Focus and Structure of the
Integrated Planning Report
The focus of the Integrated Planning
Report is the City’s progress and
performance in 2015/16 against the
Strategic Community Plan (2013-2023)
and the Corporate Business Plan
(2015/16-2018/19). Results are collated
from a variety of sources including
an independent survey of residents,
Australian Bureau of Statistics census
data and internal data analysis based
on Global Reporting Initiative (GRI)
indicators. The report is divided into
two parts:
1.

The Strategic Performance Report
highlights major achievements

and challenges according to
strategic themes, details the City’s
performance against planned
strategic actions in the Corporate
Business Plan for 2015/16,
highlights plans for 2016/17 and
outlines the progress towards
the vision and theme strategic
objectives set out in its Strategic
Community Plan (2013-2023).
2.

The Service Performance
Report focusses on the City’s
performance in the delivery of
services and reports against the
service commitments made in
the Corporate Business Plan
(2015/16-2018/19). The delivery
of these services is fundamental

to achieving the theme objectives
set out in the Strategic Community
Plan (2013-2023). As services
often contribute to multiple
objectives, services are not
described under the six strategic
themes, but are listed under the
Directorate and business unit
with the major responsibility to
coordinate and/or deliver the
service. The contribution made by
a business unit group of services to
the theme objectives is reflected at
the beginning of each section. Each
section lists the services, outlines
key service measures and details
the direct expenses and the human
resources allocated to provide the
business unit group of services.

Diagram 2: The City of Stirling’s Integrated Planning Framework

City of Stirling Strategic
Plans and Framework

Strategic Community
Plan
(10-year plan)
Vision, Mission, Values,
Sustainability Principles,
Theme Objectives

Informing Strategies:
Finance
Workforce
Assets
Services
Issue Specific Strategies

Corporate Business
Plan
(4-year plan)
Strategic Initiatives
Supporting Activities
City Services

Annual Budget
Annual Plans

Business Unit
Annual Operational
Plans
Annual Programs
and Projects
Operational Activities

Measuring
Progress

Reporting Progress

Annual Report
Community
Outcomes

Strategic Performance
Report
(see pages 76 - 139)

City
Performance

Strategic
Activities
Progress

Program,
Project and
Operations
Progress

Service Performance
Report
(see pages 142 - 163)

Strategic Performance
Report
(see pages 76 - 139)

In-Year Reporting
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”

I love the Summerset Arts Festival
program they provide each year
and I think it is the best council
to provide entertainment and free
events to the community. They seem
the most community focused.
Marketing Effectiveness
Survey February 2016

Strategic
Performance
Report
The Strategic Performance Report
highlights the City's major achievements
and challenges in reference to planned
strategic actions outlined in the Corporate
Business Plan for 2015/16. This section
also highlights plans for the coming
financial year as set out in the Strategic
Community Plan (2013-2023).

Overview of the City’s
Strategic Community Plan
The City of Stirling’s
Strategic Community
Plan was developed
following extensive public
consultation, research and
analysis of the demographic,
social, economic and
environmental trends
shaping the City’s future.
The community’s vision
is described using six
key themes, each with an
aspirational objective.
Theme 1: Liveable City and
Thriving Neighbourhoods
The City of Stirling will have beautiful
streetscapes, open spaces and a
range of housing choices creating
a strong sense of place. People will
be encouraged to be active through
a variety of exciting events and
recreational activities. Residents will
feel safe and there will be access to
quality health and care services to meet
the changing needs of the community.
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Theme 2: Sustainable
Environment
The City of Stirling will value, protect
and improve the environment by using
natural resources wisely, reducing
the impact of our activities on the
environment and protecting wildlife
and natural habitats. The City will
support and encourage everyone
in the community to work for a
sustainable future.

Theme 3: Engaged
Communities
The City of Stirling will be a place where
people from diverse backgrounds will
feel included and respected. Residents
will be informed and involved in
important local issues and encouraged
to participate in community life.

Theme 4: Accessible
and Connected City
The City of Stirling will be accessible
with sustainable transport solutions,
safer roads and parking availability.
Improved technology will create a
connected community with many of
the City’s services available online.

Theme 5: Prosperous City
The City of Stirling will be fostering
business development and employment
opportunities, making it a great place
to invest. Our attractions and events
will stimulate tourism, increasing the
number of visitors to our City.

Theme 6: Making it Happen
– City’s Capacity to Deliver
The City of Stirling will continue to
be recognised both regionally and
nationally as a Council committed
to quality services and continuous
improvement. We will build on this
reputation while continuing to be
among the best-performing local
governments in Australia and beyond.
These themes align with the City’s
focus on sustainability, and cover
social, economic, environment and
governance areas. Strategic objectives
are identified for each theme. These
strategic objectives respond to key
issues of concern and interest to
the community and further describe
the community’s vision for the City
of Stirling.

Figure 11: Overall Community Satisfaction
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Overall Community Satisfaction

Target

The percentage of surveyed residents who are satisfied, taking all things into
consideration, with the services provided by the City of Stirling.

>80%

Measuring Community
Satisfaction
The City of Stirling places a high
value on its community’s opinion and
perception of its operations, services
and local area in general. To help the
City understand the community’s view,
it conducts Annual Resident Satisfaction
Research* of residents’ opinions through
independent research consultants.
These surveys have been conducted
every year since 1999. The 2015/16
survey was undertaken between 29 April
2016 and 19 May 2016.

The City strives to maintain strong
satisfaction results and to make
improvements where necessary.
Results from the survey of residents are
provided throughout the remainder of
this report.
As part of the satisfaction survey
residents were asked how satisfied
they were overall with the services
provided by the City. A pleasing 91%*
of respondents stated that they were
satisfied or very satisfied. This result,
together with the consistently high
results over the last five years, indicates
that a high percentage of residents are
satisfied with the services provided by
the City of Stirling.

Source: 2016 Annual Resident
Satisfaction Survey
*The research sample of 702 residents
provides a margin of error of +/- 3.7 for
estimates at the 95 per cent confident
level. This means that if 50 percent of
the sample expressed a certain opinion
we can be 95 percent confident that
in the actual population between 46.3
percent and 53.7 per cent would feel
the same way.
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Theme 1: Liveable City and
Thriving Neighbourhoods
The City of Stirling will
have beautiful streetscapes,
open spaces and a
range of housing choices
creating a strong sense
of place. People will be
encouraged to be active
through a variety of exciting
events and recreational
activities. Residents will
feel safe and there will be
access to quality health
and care services to meet
the changing needs of
the community.
Achievements
The Minister for Planning publicly
advertised the Scarborough Master
Plan, which includes new streetscapes
and provides for event spaces and
new recreational activities.
The Metropolitan Redevelopment
Authority and the City of Stirling
commenced construction of the
forward works for the Scarborough
Redevelopment project, which involved
the demolition of facilities and major
earthworks prior to the start of the
public domain works and Scarborough
Beach Pool works.
The City of Stirling finalised designs for
the Scarborough Beach Pool that will
meet the health and recreational needs
of our residents within the coastal
and western suburbs, as well as the
broader population that are attracted to
Perth’s premier beachfront destination.
The feasibility and design of this
pool has been based on the unique
characteristics of Scarborough Beach,
as well as key aspects of ocean/beach
pools located throughout Australia.

The Stirling Community Centres –
Jim Satchell – Dianella reopened to
the public on 27 July 2015, after being
closed for the duration of 2014/15 for
a major internal refurbishment. The
centre now boasts a brand new suite of
ablutions along with a fully renovated
sports hall, kitchen and meeting
rooms. The improved accessibility and
aesthetics have attracted a number
of new casual and regular facility
hirers, with the majority of existing
regular hirers also returning after the
refurbishment. Facility hire occupancy
and revenue exceeded all expectations
for the 2015/16 financial year.
The Stirling Community Centres –
Innaloo underwent an upgrade to the
air-conditioning system as well as a
full kitchen refurbishment in 2015/16 to
update the facilities for the retiree groups
and Stirling Players Theatre Company.
The Stirling Leisure Centres – Herb
Graham – Mirrabooka was proud to
announce the completion of the new
outdoor futsal courts in February 2016.
With a strong marketing campaign
conducted through Facebook, the
grand opening was a huge success
and 28 teams signed on to play in the
new competition.
The Stirling Leisure Centres – Terry
Tyzack Aquatic Centre – Inglewood and
Leisurepark – Balga launched a variety
of new membership options providing
better value, increased flexibility
and lower costs while providing full
facility access.
The Charles Riley Reserve Master Plan
reached completion this year. Upgrades
included the expansion of the lower
northern oval to deliver more playing
space for local sports and boost
participation levels; the completion
of a community parkland; and the
completion of a memorial and fenced
dog exercise area.

The Des Penman Memorial Reserve
received installation of a new path
network and outdoor exercise
equipment to deliver improved reserve
access and encourage outdoor
physical activity.
Participation rates for the School
Holiday Program at Stirling Leisure
Centres – Hamersley tripled this
financial year with a regular attendance
of 40 children per class.
The City of Stirling completed
construction of the $3.1 million
Mirrabooka Stage 3 project to provide
a new Main Street streetscape,
community open space and two
new development lots that will
accommodate mixed-use development,
with potential to increase housing
choice for the local community.
The City of Stirling advertised three
mixed-use development lots in the
Mirrabooka Town Centre for sale
to further increase commercial
and residential opportunities in the
Town Centre.
During the 2015/16 financial year,
Council adopted both the Scarborough
Beach Road West Activity Corridor
Local Development Plan and the
Scarborough Beach Road West Activity
Corridor Strategy. Local Planning
Scheme No.3 Amendment No.65 to
rezone lots within the Scarborough
Beach Road Area was also advertised
for public comment.
After extensive public consultation,
Council adopted the Beaufort Street
Strategy, Beaufort Street Local
Development Plan and Amendment 60
to Local Planning Scheme No.3 on 17
May 2016. The Scheme Amendment
and Local Development Plan will ensure
that new development is constructed in
accordance with one of the pre-1960s
architectural styles contained within the
Beaufort Street Local Development Plan.

A new public toilet was constructed
at Dianella Regional Open Space to
improve public amenities.
City of Stirling Annual Report 2015/16 | 79

Council adopted the Tuart Hill
Local Commercial Centre Local
Development Plan and Amendment
58 to Local Planning Scheme No.3
on 17 November 2015. The Scheme
Amendment and Local Development
Plan support the development of “a
vibrant local centre while considering
suitable road reservations and potential
future public transport infrastructure”.
Council adopted the Stirling City Centre
Parking Policy on 17 November 2015.
The policy will regulate public and
private parking to enable development
intensification without exceeding road
network capacity.
The City has been preparing a Local
Development Plan for the Northern
Precinct of the Stirling City Centre.
A Vision Workshop was held in
March 2016, followed up by a Design
Workshop in May 2016 and an Open
Day in June 2016 to display preferred
concepts to the public.
Council resolved to adopt the
Mirrabooka Town Centre Local
Development Plan on 8 December
2015. This plan will guide land use
and development consistent with the
objectives of the Mirrabooka Town
Centre Structure Plan. Council also
adopted the Mirrabooka Town Centre
Parking Policy to regulate the supply
of public and private parking in the
town centre.
Beaufort Street Placemaking: The
City established the inaugural Mount
Lawley Christmas Festival with local
community; co-funded the Inglewood
on Beaufort grant for seating,
lighting and public art; continued
the beautification of Beaufort Street
with feature plantings; held a Visual
Merchandising masterclass and
facilitated the Great Window Carnevale
window dressing competition.
Main Street Placemaking: The City held
community and traders workshops to
identify place activation priorities and
developed a Place Activation Plan;
80

established the community network
‘Main Street Co-Op’; created and
awarded the Place Activation Grant for
mural and planters; and commenced
revitalisation with two murals (by
Brenton See and Robert Jenkins).
Scarborough Beach Road
Placemaking: The City held community
and traders workshops to identify
place-activation priorities, developed
a Place Activation Plan, supported
fledgling community network, and
released and awarded the Green Space
Grant for greening of the area.
The 2015/16 Heritage List Incentives
Program opened for applications
between September and November
2015. St John Ambulance at 197
Main Street, Osborne Park submitted
an application for a grant and were
successful in receiving the maximum
amount of $5,000. Painting works to
the building were completed in May
2016 and the colours used accentuate
the art deco features of the building.
The City of Stirling Heritage Awards
Ceremony took place on 29 June 2016.
Two fire-damaged properties received
awards for restoration works. These
included the Mount Lawley Primary
School (for Category Three – The Barrie
Baker Special Recognition Award).
Other significant awards this year
went to Ian Merker (Category Two –
Education and Promotion of Heritage)
for his contribution towards education
about and promotion of heritage within
the City of Stirling.
Local Planning Scheme No 3.
Amendment 32, which involved posting
out approximately 45,000 letters to all
owners and occupiers of properties in
the City, was approved by the Minister
for Planning, and Gazetted on the
20 October 2015. This Amendment
restricts the number of multiple
dwellings that can be developed on
R40 coded sites outside of an 800m
radius of Activity Centres and railway
stations, and will prevent the over-

development of sites, to the benefit of
both residents and neighbours.
The City initiated a number of Local
Planning Scheme Amendments in
2015/16 in and around its Local,
District and Regional Centres that
will facilitate a wider range of housing
choices in these centres.
In response to the challenge of tree
canopy loss within the City, the City
has initiated Amendment 9 to its
Local Planning Scheme No 3. that
will require developers to plant trees
on and around development sites.
This amendment will be followed by a
comprehensive tree protection policy.
The City’s Verge Treatment Policy
was reviewed after extensive public
consultation with a focus on both
native and edible gardens.
The City’s Emergency Management
Plan and Recovery Plans have been
completely updated to reflect the
changes in the emergency risks faced
by the community. Both plans meet the
requirements of the State Emergency
Management Committee and will
greatly contribute to the community’s
preparedness in the event of a
major emergency.
The City’s Summerset Festival again
attracted over 40,000 visitors to more
than 50 events throughout the City
over two fun-packed weeks in JanuaryFebruary 2016.
An online gallery of the City’s
impressive visual and public art
collection was launched in June 2016,
enabling greater accessibility to the
works and improved management of
these valuable assets.
The City continued a number of major
community partnership programs and
services in 2015/16. These included
one partnership with the Department
for Health to provide Home and
Community Care Services for seniors
living on their own in the City of Stirling,
and another with the Department for

Child Protection and Family Support
to provide a Safe at Home program
and the Women’s Centre, which have
supported many families experiencing
domestic violence in our community.
The City successfully tendered to
deliver National Disability Insurance
Scheme (NDIS) services as part of the
National Disability Insurance Agenda
(NDIA) trial through the Joe Camilleri
Day Club.
The City’s Community Connections
program has continued to grow
over the past 12 months and is now
operating at maximum level. This
volunteer-run program supports small
groups through half-day sessions to
connect with their community. The
program has also branched out to trial
a pilot community visitor’s scheme,
in which volunteers visit individuals in
their own homes for social support.
The City successfully received funding
to work in partnership with the Cities of
Joondalup and Wanneroo to develop
a regional approach to Age-Friendly
Communities. This funding will support
the City to identify common themes
in relation to the aging community
and share resources that encourage
wider participation of seniors in
community life.
The City continued to upgrade and
improve the provision of CCTV coverage
across the City. Developments include
completion and upgrade of CCTV at
Stirling Leisure Centres: Herb Graham
- Mirrabooka (partially funded by the
state government) and progression of
the $550,000 grant funded Safer Streets
CCTV Expansion Project. This project
will result in new and upgraded CCTV in
a number of locations including Clarko
Reserve, Richard Guelfi Reserve and
Mirrabooka Town Centre. Additionally,
progression has been made towards
the installation of City-funded CCTV at
Yokine Reserve. Each of these projects
are expected to be completed early in
the 2016/17 financial year.

The City has observed a continued
reduction in the occurrence of graffiti
complemented by an increase in the
percentage of reports by City officers,
which totals in excess of 70 per cent of
all reports received.
The City adopted a revised Street
and Reserve Trees Policy that gives
greater protection to new and existing
managed trees. Where street trees are
missing, new trees will be required as
part of adjacent new development,
thereby improving neighbourhoods and
streetscapes for future generations.
A number of neighbourhood parks were
upgraded including Tamlyn Cousins
Reserve, Hanworth Appleby Reserve,
Des Penman Reserve and AS Luketina
Reserve, resulting in renewed interest
and amenity.
The City undertook several educational
initiatives to promote a safe and
secure community. Initiatives
undertaken throughout the year
include a responsible dog ownership
campaign supported by temporary
signage and ranger engagement
in key reserves; safer parking
presentations at schools to improve
student safety and awareness. In
addition, the City provided safety
and security presentations to seniors
and community groups with a focus
on personal, household and general
security awareness; and a Community
Safety Month event during October
which promoted general community
safety and available services.
The City successfully applied for a
Community Infrastructure Grant to
assist with the purchase of a portable
pool and spa hoist at Stirling Leisure
Centres: Terry Tyzack Aquatic Centre Inglewood. The new hoist has a 200kg
capacity.

Challenges
As part of the Metropolitan
Redevelopment Authority’s (MRA)
Scarborough Beach Redevelopment
Project, the Stirling Community Centres
– Maureen Grierson – Scarborough
was closed to facility hirers and all
salvageable furniture and equipment
removed before being fenced off in
June 2016 for demolition in the coming
financial year.
The collapse of the builders contracted
for the construction of the Carine Main
Hall Redevelopment has put the project
on hold.
Despite heavy lobbying, the State
Government withdrew funding to
Financial Counselling Services across
the state. This included the City’s
Financial Counselling Service and,
as a result, the services were ceased.
The Council has limited ability to
prevent the rezoning of State-owned
land for residential development in
locations that the City believes are
not suitable for redevelopment, such
as the Fernhurst Crescent proposed
rezoning. The City will continue to
advocate strongly with relevant State
Government Ministers to prevent
inappropriate rezoning taking place.
The City and community have a
significant challenge ahead to plant
and protect trees if we are to achieve
Council’s goal of 18 per cent tree
canopy cover across the City by 2030.
The existing canopy cover is 12.9 per
cent and over the last four years the
City has lost 81 Hectares (810,000m2)
of canopy. Around two-thirds of this
loss has come from residential land.
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Progress with Strategic Activities in 2015/16 and Plans for 2016/17
Progress in
2015/16

Plans for
2016/17

Develop the Beaufort Street Activity Corridor Plan

Delayed

Ongoing in 16/17

Develop the Scarborough Beach West Activity Corridor Plan

Delayed

Ongoing in 16/17

Develop the Mirrabooka Activity Centre Structure Plan

Delayed

Ongoing in 16/17

Implement the Stirling City Centre Project

Delayed

Ongoing in 16/17

Develop a detailed Area Plan for the Stirling City Centre Northern Precinct

Delayed

Ongoing in 16/17

2015/16 Strategic Activity
A Strong Sense of Place
Progress locality-based planning to meet community needs and aspirations.

Protect open spaces and urban trees in local areas
Develop a policy to consolidate and landscape open spaces on residential lots

Addressed through
other activities

Create an assessment model to protect and develop the urban tree canopy

Delayed

Ongoing in 16/17

Build the future vitality of existing centres through diversifying the use of land
Develop mixed-use and commercial centre design guidelines

Activity Complete

Investigate, develop and facilitate community proposals for place-making
activities in Beaufort Street, Main Street and Scarborough Beach Road to
support activation of these areas

Deliverables
achieved

Ongoing in 16/17

Review the Local Centres Improvement Program

Delayed

Ongoing in 16/17

Develop a strategy to seek developer contributions for public art or
street furniture

Delayed

Ongoing in 16/17

Create distinctive neighbourhoods

Ensure developments within the City address crime prevention
Develop a Planning Policy which facilitates the provision of CCTV

Addressed through
other activities

Heritage: Connect the City’s present and future with its past
Run the Heritage Awards Program biannually

Activity Complete

Develop a Heritage Strategy

Deliverables
achieved

Develop and implement a Heritage grants policy/procedure

Activity Complete

Progress the development of the City’s Heritage Items List

Addressed through
other activities

Increase the City’s collection of local ephemera, oral history and historical
photographs and improve public access to heritage information

Activity Complete

Ongoing in 16/17

Housing Choice
Promote centres as the preferred location for increases in residential density within the City
Respond to development proposals within the City’s Activity Centres

Activity Complete

Review parking ratios for local centres to ensure the City meets future needs

Deliverables
achieved

Review and assess capacity of local centre utilities

Activity Complete

Ongoing in 16/17

Develop partnerships to improve the supply of affordable and social housing in the City
Set up partnerships to increase the supply of affordable and social housing in the Deliverables
City’s Activity and Town Centres
achieved

Ongoing in 16/17

Beautiful Streetscape and Open Spaces
Develop a strategy for greater coordination with our partners regarding the management of road reservations
Review weed control, road sweeping/litter control and landscape maintenance
standards and service
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Activity Complete

Progress in
2015/16

Plans for
2016/17

Increase the rate of themed avenue street tree planting to ensure the growth
of the urban forest canopy, including the use of community plantings

Deliverables
achieved

Ongoing in 16/17

Review procedures, conditions and standards to improve the protection of
existing street trees from damage through (re)development, upgrades and
maintenance activities

Deliverables
achieved

Ongoing in 16/17

Establish regular aerial mapping of Stirling’s urban tree canopy and track progress
towards the goal of 18 per cent tree canopy cover across the City by 2030

Activity Complete

Progress the Million Trees Program to plant one million trees and other plants
by 2025

Deliverables
achieved

2015/16 Strategic Activity
Create more shade on the City’s streets

Ongoing in 16/17

Improve the infrastructure of the City’s parks and reserves to foster a diverse range of activities and functions
Review infrastructure to ensure parks and reserves can sustainably support
future recreation uses

Progressed

Ongoing in 16/17

Review, implement and monitor actions within the City’s Public Open Space
Strategy to ensure parks and reserves meet community demands for activities,
functions, cultural and events bookings

Planned activities
complete

Ongoing in 16/17

Implement models and techniques to improve utilisation of public open
spaces and ensure a diverse range of future community demands can
be accommodated

Progressed

Implement the Dianella Regional Open Space Master Plan

Planned activities
completed

Implement the Charles Riley Memorial Reserve Master Plan

Activity Complete

Implement the Carine Regional Open Space Master Plan

Delayed

Ongoing in 16/17

Implement the Inglewood Oval/ Hamer Park Development Plan

Progressed

Ongoing in 18/19

Implement the Yokine Reserve Master Plan

Progressed

Ongoing in 17/18

Implement the Des Penman Reserve Master Plan

Progressed

Ongoing in 17/18

Upgrade the Hamersley Golf Course

Delayed

Ongoing in 16/17

Work with the MRA to plan and build the Scarborough Beach Pool

Progressed

Ongoing in 16/17

Ongoing in 16/17

Ensure existing streets are maintained and improved with appropriate treatments
Conduct whole-of-street reviews of hard and green infrastructure to ensure
good access for people of all abilities

Activity Complete

Initiate Crime Prevention Through Environmental Design (CPTED) assessments
of all major pedestrian routes to public transport nodes within the City

Activity Complete

Encourage public art, culture, innovation and creativity in public open spaces
Coordinate Aboriginal co-naming of key parks and reserves within the City

Activity Complete

Develop history profiles of key parks and reserves and establish effective
communication channels to share information

Activity Complete

Embed and integrate public art and innovation into public open space

Deliverables
achieved

Ongoing in 16/17

Develop Integrated Streetscape Guidelines
Create whole-of-street design and maintenance solutions when upgrading
road pavement and drainage infrastructure

Activity Complete

Facilitate and scope the Streetscape Guidelines project

Delayed

Ongoing in 16/17

Deliverables
achieved

Ongoing in 16/17

Effectively manage verge treatments, crossovers and medians
Communicate verge treatment and crossover policy changes to the
general public

City of Stirling Annual Report 2015/16 | 83

2015/16 Strategic Activity

Progress in
2015/16

Establish an effective monitoring and compliance program

Activity Complete

Plans for
2016/17

Optimise public open space cash-in-lieu contributions from development
Review the cash-in-lieu provisions to ensure the best use of developer funds

Delayed

Ongoing in 16/17

Establish a forward plan for the expenditure of cash-in-lieu funds based on
public open space needs and identified opportunities

Delayed

Ongoing in 16/17

Safer City
Build sense of security and confidence in the community
Deliver community engagement programs and educate the community in key
areas of community safety

Activity Complete

Provide a security presence during the summer seasonal period to assist WA
Police in addressing antisocial behaviour on Scarborough Beach

Activity Complete

Enhance coverage and effectiveness of the City’s CCTV
Provide additional and upgraded surveillance equipment

Deliverables
achieved

Ongoing in 16/17

Improve safety reporting and complaint management
Utilise technology for spatial incident reporting for Community Safety Operations

Addressed through
other activities

Health and Wellbeing
Health and wellbeing opportunities are made available to the community
Promote information about health and wellbeing services

Activity Complete

Actively seek networks and partnerships with other service providers
to develop health and wellbeing initiatives

Activity Complete

Health services and programs are developed in response to current needs
Develop specialised health and wellbeing services for identified
community groups

Activity Complete

Active and Vibrant City
Review and develop the access, management and operations of the City’s community infrastructure
Prepare and implement a Strategic Community Infrastructure Plan

Delayed

Ongoing in 16/17

Provide access and information services within our libraries to meet the future needs of the community
Develop and implement the Strategic Plan for Library Services

Delayed

Ongoing in 16/17

Upgrade or replace the library management system

Behind schedule

Research, develop a concept, and prepare a Master Plan for the redevelopment
of the Karrinyup Library and Community Centre

Delayed

Ongoing in 16/17

Research, develop a concept, and prepare a Master Plan for the Dianella
and Inglewood Libraries and Community Centres

Delayed

Ongoing in 16/17

Provide arts and cultural events for the diverse communities in the City
Develop and implement an annual festival and events program

Activity Complete

Create an online database and gallery of the City’s art collection,
including public art

Deliverables
achieved
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Ongoing in 16/17

New Activities 2016/17
A Strong Sense of Place
• Develop and implement the Local Planning Strategy
• Review Local Planning Scheme 3 in accordance with
legislated requirements
Housing Choice
• Place-based planning for Balga, Westminster and Nollamara,
to improve built form outcome
Beautiful Streetscapes and Open Spaces
• Develop and implement an Urban Forest Strategy
• Develop, review and implement the Parks and Reserves Asset
Management Plan
• Develop, review and implement the Integrated Pest
Management Framework
Active and Vibrant City
• Prepare and implement the Skate and BMX Management Plan
• Review and implement the Building Asset Management Plan
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Indicators of Success – A Strong Sense of Place
Services and Facilities within Local Neighbourhoods

Target/Desired Direction

The percentage of surveyed residents who are satisfied with services and
facilities such as parks, local shopping and community centres available within
their neighbourhood.

Maintain or increase

Figure 12: Resident Satisfaction with the Services and Facilities within Local Neighbourhoods
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In the City’s resident satisfaction survey, respondents were asked to rate their satisfaction with the services and facilities within
their neighbourhoods. It is very pleasing to see consistently strong results in this area, and the City will continue to strive for
high community satisfaction in this regard.
Source: 2016 Annual Resident Satisfaction Survey

Indicators of Success - Housing Choice
The City as a Place to Live

Target/Desired Direction

The percentage of surveyed residents who would consider the City of Stirling to
purchase their first home or next home if they decided to move in the future.

Increase

Figure 13: The City as a Place to Purchase a Home
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Surveyed residents were asked to what extent they agreed or disagreed with the statement ‘I would consider the City to
purchase my first home or subsequent home’. The 2015/16 result shows a five percentage point increase when compared to
2014/15 which is another pleasing result for the City. While this suggests that a relatively high proportion of residents are
satisfied with housing types in the City of Stirling, it also indicates that there is further scope for the City to support an increase
in choice.
Source: 2016 Annual Resident Satisfaction Survey
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Indicators of Success – Beautiful Streetscapes and Open Spaces
City Streetscapes and City Appearance

Target/Desired Direction

The average satisfaction rating of surveyed residents for the performance of the
City of Stirling with streetscapes and overall City appearance.

≥7.0

Figure 14: Resident Satisfaction with Streetscapes and City Appearance
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In the resident satisfaction research, respondents were asked to rate the City’s performance and the importance of
streetscapes and overall City appearance, including aspects such as shade, street furniture, landscaping and maintenance.
The average importance rating was 8.1 (out of 10) and the average rating for the City’s performance was 7.2 (out of 10).
This result is consistent with the past two years, suggesting that residents consider the City to be performing this service well.
Source: 2016 Annual Resident Satisfaction Survey

City Community Events and Cultural Activities

Target/Desired Direction

The average satisfaction rating of surveyed residents for the performance of the
City of Stirling with community events and cultural activities.

≥7.0

Figure 15: City Performance in Providing Community Events and Cultural Activities
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Residents were asked to rate the importance and performance of the City in the provision of community events and cultural
activities, such as the Summerset Arts Festival, the Beaufort Street Festival and Christmas Carols. 28% of the surveyed
residents had participated in such events within the last 12 months and of these participants, the average rating for the City’s
performance was 7.6 (out of 10). This result is consistent with the results for the last five years, with average scores over
7.0, suggesting that the City’s residents continue to be satisfied with the City’s performance in the delivery of events and
cultural activities.
Source: 2016 Annual Resident Satisfaction Survey
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Protect urban trees in local areas

Target/Desired Direction

Tree Canopy Cover across the City

18% by 2030

Figure 16: Tree Canopy Cover across the City
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For the past four years, the City has used High Resolution Airborne Multispectral Imagery to complete annual vegetation cover
and condition analysis, and calculate changes to ‘significant canopy’. The City has a target of increasing tree canopy cover
across the City to 18% by 2030. Currently the City has 12.9% average tree canopy cover across the City and over the last four
years total canopy cover has hovered between 12.3-12.9%. Given that there is a margin of error of ±1%, it is difficult to
determine if there has been improvement or not on a City-wide scale.
Source: Specterra Imagery – City of Stirling Vegetation Analysis 2016
Significant Tree Canopy Loss across the City
Figure 17: Significant Tree Canopy Loss across the City
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The City has a goal to protect trees in urban areas. For the past four years, the City has used High Resolution Airborne
Multispectral Imagery to calculate changes to ‘significant canopy’. ‘Significant canopy’ is defined as tree canopy cover that
is taller than three metres and has a larger area than 20m². Canopy loss is the result of the removal of trees from public and
private land, as well as significant pruning.
Unfortunately, significant canopy loss rates have increased over the four-year period. During this period, the City has lost a
combined total of 808,000m² of tree canopy cover including 68% from residential land and 12% from the City’s verges. In this
same period, Nollamara lost 11% of its tree canopy cover; Scarborough lost 10%; Balga lost 9%; and Doubleview and Innaloo
lost 8% of their tree canopy cover.
In relation to development zones: over the four-year period, properties in the R40 zone had a net loss of 15% of their tree
canopy cover and properties in the R30 zone and R25 zone lost 9% of their tree canopy cover. In relation to canopy growth
across the City: over the past four years, the City’s existing canopy grew by 265,000m² but the chart shows that four years of
gain was effectively lost in one year (2015/16).
Source: Specterra Imagery – City of Stirling Vegetation Analysis 2016
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Indicators of Success – Safer City
The City as a Safe Place to Live

Target/Desired Direction

The percentage of surveyed residents who agree that the City of Stirling is a safe
place to live.

Maintain and Increase

Figure 18: Resident Perception that the City is a Safe Place to Live
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Residents were asked to what extent they agreed or disagreed with the statement ‘the City of Stirling is a safe place to live’.
Pleasingly, 78% of surveyed residents agreed with this statement. This represents an eight percentage points increase over
the last two years. The result for this critical aspect of community life indicates that a high proportion of residents consider the
City of Stirling ‘a safe place to life’. The City will continue to work to maintain and increase this result.
Source: 2016 Annual Resident Satisfaction Survey

City Graffiti Management

Target/Desired Direction

The average satisfaction rating of surveyed residents for the City’s performance in
Graffiti Management.

≥7.0

Figure 19: City Performance in Managing Graffiti
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In the resident satisfaction research, respondents were asked to rate the City’s performance and the importance of graffiti
management, including the identification, removal and prevention of graffiti. The average importance rating of this service was 8.1
(out of 10) and the average rating for the City’s performance was 7.6 (out of 10). This result has been fairly consistent over the
past four years, with ratings generally above 7.0, indicating that residents consider the City to be performing this service well.
Source: 2016 Annual Resident Satisfaction Survey

City of Stirling Annual Report 2015/16 | 89

Indicators of Success – Health and Wellbeing
Access to Health and Care Services with Local Neighbourhoods

Target/Desired Direction

The percentage of surveyed residents, satisfied with access to health care and care
services (including aged care, doctors and allied health services, hospital services,
dental services) within the City of Stirling.

Maintain and increase

Figure 20: Resident Satisfaction with Level of Access to Health Care and Care Service within their Local Neighbourhood
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The resident satisfaction survey has returned consistently high levels of satisfaction with respect to access to health care and
care services. In 2015/16 almost 9 out of 10 residents were satisfied or very satisfied. The City will continue to monitor this
important aspect of community life.
Source: 2016 Annual Resident Satisfaction Survey

City Sport and Recreation Facilities

Target/Desired Direction

The average satisfaction rating of surveyed residents, for the performance of the
City of Stirling in providing sport and recreation facilities.

≥7.0

Figure 21: City Performance in Providing Sport and Recreation Facilities
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The resident satisfaction survey found that 42% of the surveyed residents had used the City’s sport and recreation facilities
within the last 12 months. The satisfaction result has been consistent over the past five years, with average scores just below
8.0 (out of 10), indicating that residents continue to rate the City’s provision of sport and recreation facilities highly.
Source: 2016 Annual Resident Satisfaction Survey

90

City Libraries

Target/Desired Direction

The average satisfaction rating of surveyed residents for the performance of the
City of Stirling in providing libraries.

≥8.0

Figure 22: City Performance in Providing Libraries
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The City’s libraries continue to enjoy high levels of community satisfaction with an average rating of 8.6 (out of 10) for 2015/16.
The average importance rating is also high at 8.2 (out of 10), highlighting the value that residents place on this service. The
satisfaction results have been consistently high across the past five years and the City is pleased to be meeting the needs of
the community with its library services.
Source: 2016 Annual Resident Satisfaction Survey

City Parks and Reserves

Target/Desired Direction

The average satisfaction rating of surveyed residents for the performance of the
City of Stirling in providing parks and reserves.

≥8.0

Figure 23: Resident satisfaction with Providing Parks and Reserves
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The resident satisfaction survey found that the City’s parks and reserves have a very high usage rate, with 82% of surveyed
residents stating that they had used these facilities within the past year. Residents naturally consider the importance of
providing parks and reserves very highly, with an average importance rating of 9 (out of 10) for 2015/16. The average
satisfaction score of 8.1 (out of 10) is above target and consistent with the results over the past five years, indicating that
the City is meeting the needs of its residents in the provision of parks and reserves.
Source: 2016 Annual Resident Satisfaction Survey
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Theme 2: Sustainable Environment
The City of Stirling will value,
protect and improve the
environment by using natural
resources wisely, reducing
the impact of our activities
on the environment and
protecting wildlife and natural
habitats. The City will support
and encourage everyone in
the community to work for
a sustainable future.
Major Achievements
Council endorsed a Fleet Emissions
Reduction Action Plan for the City,
setting a 3,000 tonne consumption
target by 2020, equivalent to a 25 per
cent reduction. The City has already
achieved an 11 per cent reduction.
The City completed a two-year
Community Energy Efficiency Program
(CEEP) worth $879,056 with $293,018
of Federal Government funding. This
program included energy efficiency
upgrades to Stirling Leisure Centres:
Terry Tyzack Aquatic Centre Inglewood, Works Depot, Stirling Leisure
Centres: Leisurepark - Balga and Stirling
Libraries - Mirrabooka. It also provided a
variety of community energy education
activities for residents, local business
and staff, with around 2,000 people
participating across all activities.
In addition to the CEEP energy
efficiency projects, the City carried
out a number of energy saving
projects. These included the
installation of efficient LED lights at
the Administration and Civic Centre
and Stirling Food Services, and the
upgrade of air-conditioning system
controls at the Stirling Community
Centres - Scaroborough and Stirling
Leisure Centres: Leisurepark - Balga.
The two lighting projects are expected
to reduce the City’s annual greenhouse
gas emissions by 40 tonnes of carbon

dioxide and cut energy costs by around
$10,000 per year.
The City installed three new solar
photovoltaic (PV) systems on the roofs
of Stirling Libriares: Mirrabooka and
Inglewood and Stirling Leisure Centres:
Herb Graham - Mirrabooka. They have a
total capacity of 60kW and are expected
to save the City an estimated $31,500 in
energy costs each year.
The City replaced existing lighting
with energy efficient LED lights at the
Stirling Libraries - Mirrabooka. The new
LED lights are expected to reduce the
Library’s electricity consumption from
lighting by 37 per cent and improve
lighting levels throughout the library.
The City implemented the Responsible
Cafes initiative to encourage use of
reusable cups to replace disposable
cups and reduce waste. This project
involved 20 local cafes offering
discounts to customers with reusable
cups. Staff report use of reusable cups
increased from 16 per cent before the
initiative to 73 per cent afterwards.
The City provided 14 Living Green
Grants worth $26,000 to a wide range of
community-led sustainability projects.
The City held its first Living Green
Sustainability Awards night to recognise
community members, organisations
and local schools. The City received
36 nominations and presented awards
in 15 categories for excellence in
community sustainability.
The City implemented new waste
collection and recycling services in
2015/16 that resulted in 44 per cent of
Municipal Waste being diverted from
landfill, up from 34 per cent last year.
The City applied grass seeded hydromulch to 6500m2 of verge areas Citywide that were infected with Caltrop
weed. This will inhibit future growth of
this pest weed and reduce the need for
herbicide control.
Recycled bitumen road profilings, taken
from the City’s road resurfacing works,

have been used to rehabilitate sump
access ramps and form temporary
footpaths. They were also used as a
base for the Stirling Leisure Centres:
Leisurepark Balga temporary car park.
This has diverted significant amounts of
material from land fill and has reduced
the need to draw on additional quarried
road base.
The City’s drainage CCTV inspection
truck, purchased in 2012/13, has been
successful in identifying defects and
faults in the City’s stormwater drainage
system, and has been effective in
subdivision drainage inspections before
handover. This has enabled more
effective management of the drainage
system through being able to intervene
before major failures occur.
The City was the recipient of two
Green Army funded programs for the
conservation of its natural areas as part
of the Federal Government’s Round 3
and 4 funding. The Green Army teams
are currently involved in the restoration
of coastal dunes in Peasholm, Brighton
and Bennion Beaches to improve local
biodiversity and ecological linkages.
They are also engaged in the restoration
of four locally significant bushland
reserves to improve habitat for native
fauna at risk such as the Carnaby’s
Black Cockatoo, the Red-tail Black
Cockatoo and the Quenda or Southern
Brown Bandicoot.
Implementation of the Trigg Bushland
Reserve and Lake Gwelup Reserve
Environmental Management Plans
commenced. These plans seek
to establish a balance between
conservation needs and compatible
recreation uses. As part of the
Jackadder Reserve Water Management
Plan, a 12-month water and nutrient
balance study was completed.
The City’s Investments Policy was
amended and approved by Council in
May 2016 to include environmentally
and socially responsible investment
criteria, giving preference to financial
institutions that do not invest in or
finance the fossil fuel industry.
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Challenges
Streetlights represent 38 per cent
of the City’s total greenhouse gas
emissions, but 98.8 per cent of the
streetlights in Stirling boundaries are
owned by Western Power. Even though
the City pays for the energy costs and
maintenance of these streetlights, it
does not have the authority to replace
streetlight globes with more efficient
LED alternatives.
The City did not achieve the State’s
Commercial and Industrial waste
recycling targets. Focus is now on the
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delivery of further recycling initiatives
that will continue to increase waste
recovery and contribute towards the
2020 State waste diversion target of
70 per cent.
Perth’s drying climate and increasing
urban density has resulted in local
groundwater levels dropping, and
the wetlands and bushlands reliant
on these groundwater resources are
under increasing pressure. The City
is a significant user of groundwater
for irrigation and the challenge is to
reduce groundwater consumption over
time while maintaining community

satisfaction with public open space.
The City’s unique, natural conservation
reserves face ongoing urban population
pressures, including dumping of rubbish
in bushland, vegetation damage from
construction of cubbies and bush dens,
the risk of bushfires from camp-fires, the
threat to native fauna from animal pests
such as foxes and feral cats, and dogs
not under effective control.

Progress with Strategic Activities in 2015/16 and Plans for 2016/17
2015/16 Strategic Activity

Progress in
2015/16

Plans for
2016/17

Clean and Waste Wise City
Improve the efficiency and effectiveness of Waste Recycling Facilities in the City of Stirling
Develop, review and implement the City’s Strategic Waste Minimisation Plan
2013-2018

Delayed

Ongoing in 16/17

Secure future alternative waste treatment

Delayed

Ongoing in 16/17

Redesign Recycling Centre Balcatta incorporating new recycling initiatives
(Recycling Centre Development Stages 2 and 3)

Delayed

Ongoing in 19/20

Monitor the success of the three-bin and skip bin system and implement
improvements as required to improve service delivery, efficiency and recycling

Deliverables
achieved

Ongoing in 16/17

Encourage, educate and support the community to reduce, reuse and recycle
more of their waste

Deliverables
achieved

Ongoing in 16/17

Work with the State and Federal government to develop waste management
best practice

Delayed

Ongoing in 16/17

Monitor energy consumption and building performance across the City’s
buildings and develop and deliver energy saving initiatives for the City’s buildings

Deliverables
achieved

Ongoing in 16/17

Implement energy efficient street lights in major projects

Activity Complete

Improve the waste services provided to increase customer satisfaction

Energy Wise City
Improve energy efficiency in City buildings and assets

Increase renewable energy generation capacity
Develop and deliver renewable energy-saving initiatives to improve building
performance across the City’s buildings

Deliverables
achieved

Ongoing in 16/17

Set renewable energy targets and develop a Renewable Energy Plan

Delayed

Ongoing in 16/17

Delayed

Ongoing in 16/17

Improve the monitoring of energy consumption and
greenhouse gas emissions across the City’s assets
Undertake detailed review of energy use and its impacts for the City
and community
Support and encourage the community to reduce energy consumption
Deliver community workshops and initiatives via Community Energy Efficiency
Program Grant

Activity Complete

Water Wise City
Effectively manage water consumption and water quality (City-wide)
Develop and monitor the implementation of a Local Action Plan for water
and achieve Waterwise Council Status

Delayed

Ongoing in 16/17

Continue to implement the City’s Water Smart Parks Strategy

Deliverables
achieved

Ongoing in 16/17

Implement water sensitive urban design for water management

Activity Complete

Effectively manage water consumption and water quality (groundwater)

Effectively manage water consumption in buildings
Collect and monitor water consumption across the City’s buildings and develop
and deliver water-saving initiatives for the City’s buildings

Deliverables
achieved

Ongoing in 16/17

Implement the City’s Local Biodiversity Strategy to improve native flora and
wildlife habitation

Deliverables
achieved

Ongoing in 16/17

Implement joint conservation work programs and site assessments with
Bushcare and Coastcare groups

Activity Complete

Flourishing Wildlife and Natural Habitat
Actively preserve, protect and enhance the City’s
biodiversity in bushland, wetland and coastal dunes
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New Activities 2016/17
Energy Wise City
• Implement the Fleet Emissions
Reduction Action Plan
Flourishing Wildlife and Natural Habitat
• Implement the Bushland Conservation Plan
• Implement the Wetland Protection Plan
• Implement the Coastal Management Plan

Indicators of Success – Clean and Waste Wise City
Three-Bin System
Figure 24: Three-Bin System
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In 2015/16, the Stirling community put 89,245 tonnes of waste and recyclables into the Three-Bin System: 34% into the red lid
bin, 20% into the yellow lid bin, and 12% into the lime green lid bin. The City was able to divert from landfill: 82% of waste put
into the yellow lid bin and 91% of waste put into the lime green lid bin. The combined result was that 42% of all waste put into
the Three-Bin System was diverted from landfill.
Source: 2015 City of Stirling Mandalay Weighbridge System and contractor data

Municipal Waste Recovery

Target/Desired Direction

Percentage of municipal (residential) solid waste, presented for collection,
diverted from landfill.

65% (by June 2020)

Figure 25: Municipal Waste Recovery
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In 2015/16, the City implemented a range of new municipal waste collection and recycling services. This has resulted in 44%
of municipal waste being diverted from landfill, an increase from 34% diverted in 2014/15. The municipal waste composition
includes waste from the three-bin system, verge waste, green waste, e-waste and mattresses. The Western Australian Waste
Strategy has set a target to divert 65% of municipal waste from landfill by June 2020, and the City is on track to achieving
this goal.
Source: 2015 City of Stirling Mandalay Weighbridge System and contractor data
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Construction and Demolition Waste

Target/Desired Direction

Percentage of construction and demolition waste, presented for collection,
diverted from landfill.

75% (by June 2020)

Figure 26: Construction and Demolition Waste
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In 2015/16, the City received 1% less construction and demolition waste than last year. Construction and Demolition Waste
includes all waste associated with building and renovating that has been received by the Recycling Centre Balcatta by trailer,
truck or skip bin. This measurement does not currently include the waste collected by contractors from City-run projects. The
Western Australian Waste Strategy has set a recovery target to divert 75% of construction and demolition waste from landfill
by 2020. The chart above illustrates that the City has exceeded State targets every year for the past five years.
The City actively uses recycled materials such as recycled bitumen road profilings in infrastructure upgrades. When the City
uses recycled construction and demolition materials, it lowers the overall cost of the City’s operations and, most importantly,
reduces the demand for virgin resources, which contributes to the conservation of the global resource base.
Source: 2015 City of Stirling Mandalay Weighbridge System and contractor data

Commercial and Industrial Waste

Target/Desired Direction

Percentage of Commercial and Industrial Waste, presented for collection, diverted
from landfill.

70% (by June 2020)

Figure 27: Commercial and Industrial Waste
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In 2015/16, the City collected 18% more commercial and industrial waste from businesses, including waste from the City of
Stirling’s operations. The Western Australian Waste Strategy has set a target to divert 70% of commercial and industrial waste
from landfill by June 2020. This is an area of challenge with the City diverting only 20% of commercial and industrial waste
from landfill. The City is working towards improving diversion rates for this waste stream, and the monitoring of commercial
and industrial waste diversion has been improved through the Three-Bin System and the barcoding of tip passes.
Source: 2015 City of Stirling Mandalay Weighbridge System and contractor data
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Hazardous Waste

Target/Desired Direction

Tonnes of Hazardous Waste recovered.

Maintain

In 2015/16, the City collected, processed and recovered 189 tonnes of hazardous waste through the Recycling Centre
Balcatta. This was the largest amount of hazardous waste collected in Western Australia. The greatest percentage of
hazardous waste was from water-based paint (55%), followed by solvent-based paint (16%), batteries (7%) and propane
gas cylinders (9%).
Source: WALGA on behalf and in conjunction with the WA Waste Authority

Residents Perception of Waste Management

Target/Desired Direction

The average satisfaction rating of surveyed residents for the performance of the
City of Stirling in Waste Management.

≥7.0

Figure 28: City Performance in Managing Waste
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Residents understandably rate the importance of the City’s waste management service very highly at 9.5 (out of 10). Almost
all the surveyed residents (99%) had used this service over the last 12 months and of these users the average rating for the
City’s performance was 8 (out of 10). This is a pleasing result for the City and is higher than the previous two years’ results.
The introduction of the City’s ‘three-bin service’ is a likely contributor to the increased satisfaction reported in 2015/16.
Source: 2016 Annual Resident Satisfaction Survey
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Indicators of Success – Energy Wise City
Energy Consumption

Target/Desired Direction

Total energy consumed.

Decrease

Figure 29: Energy Consumption Trends
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The energy that powers the City’s operations and services comes from both non-renewable supplies (such as coal-fired
electricity, gas and fuel) and renewable sources (such as solar-powered electricity and solar thermal heat). Taking all energy
sources into account, there has been a 10% decrease in total energy consumption over the past five years and a 2% decrease
compared to the previous year. Consumption of gas decreased by 5%, electricity consumption increased by 2%, and fuel
consumption decreased by 8% when compared to the previous year.
Due to the timing of this report, energy consumption data has been partially estimated as follows: 21% of electricity, 15% of
gas and 100% of streetlight consumption (as streetlights are unmetered). Other sources of energy have not been calculated,
including solar electricity and solar thermal heating via black matting at Stirling Leisure Centres – Leisurepark – Balga and
solar hot water systems. Also, fuel consumed by waste trucks contracted to pick up selected bins in the City’s Three-Bin
System has not been calculated.
Source: Planet Footprint
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Greenhouse Gas Emissions and Reductions

Target/Desired Direction

Reduce Greenhouse Gas Emissions.

Decrease

Figure 30: Greenhouse Gas Emissions and Offsets

35,000

Tonnes CO2-e

30,000

27,404

27,179

Net Emissions
25,915

25,000

24,603

24,561

2014/15

2015/16

20,000

Offsets &
Greenpower

15,000
10,000
5,000
0

1,714

863

2011/12

2012/13

2013/14

In 2015/16, the City emitted 24,561 tonnes of net greenhouse gas. This represents a 10% decrease over five years, taking
into account offsets. There has been minimal change in comparison to the previous year. In 2011/12 and 2012/13, the City
purchased green power and/or bought carbon offsets. However, these funds are now being channelled into energy efficiency
retrofits and renewable energy projects.
Net greenhouse gas emissions are calculated from the following sources: vehicle fuel consumption and natural gas
consumption produces Scope 1 direct emissions (4,726 tonnes) within the boundary of the City. Electricity consumption
produces Scope 2 indirect emissions (9,360 tonnes) as power stations offsite emit greenhouse gases (GHGs) as they generate
electricity. Scope 3 emissions (10,476 tonnes) include supply chain emissions; indirect emissions attributable to the extraction,
production and transport of fuels; and the indirect emissions attributable to the electricity lost in delivery in the transmission
and distribution network.
Due to the timing of this report, emissions data has been partially estimated as follows: 21% of electricity, 15% of gas and
100% of streetlight emissions (which are unmetered). Emissions from waste trucks contracted to pick up selected bins in the
City’s Three-Bin System have not been calculated.
Source: Planet Footprint
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Assets and Greenhouse Gas Emissions

Target/Desired Direction

Streetlight emissions

Decrease

Facilities and parks emissions

Decrease

Fleet vehicle emissions

Decrease

Figure 31: Greenhouse Gas Emissions Trends
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The three largest greenhouse gas contributions to the City’s total emissions in 2015/16 were from the following asset
categories: facilities/parks (47%), street lights (38%) and fleet vehicles (15%). Over the past 5 years, there have been
greenhouse gas emissions reductions from all major asset categories: streetlights 21% decrease, facilities and parks 10%
decrease and fleet vehicles 19% decrease.
When compared to the previous year: streetlights had a 3% increase, facilities and parks a 1% increase and fleet vehicles a
9% decrease. Also, the City’s Fleet Emissions Reduction Action Plan has set a 25% reduction target based upon a 2013/14
baseline, and the City is on track to achieve this target with an 11% reduction so far.
Streetlights are currently classified as supply chain emissions (Scope 3), as around 99% of the streetlights in Stirling
boundaries are owned and managed by Western Power but paid for by the City. Accordingly, the City is unable to easily
replace inefficient streetlight globes with more efficient LED globes. Given that streetlights form 38% of the City’s emissions,
this represents a significant challenge. However, energy efficient LED streetlights have been included in several City-owned
developments and subdivisions.
Due to the timing of this report, emissions data has been partially estimated as follows: 21% of electricity, 15% of gas and
100% of streetlight emissions (which are unmetered). Emissions from waste trucks contracted to pick up selected bins in the
City’s Three-Bin System have not been calculated.
Source: Planet Footprint
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Indicators of Success – Water Wise City
Rainfall in Western Australia is decreasing and available water is declining. The City actively conserves water; however,
the maintenance and operation of the City’s facilities, aquatic centres, parks and reserves requires regular inputs of water.
In order to continue to provide green sports fields and aquatic centres into the future without damaging our wetlands,
the City aims to continually improve water efficiency and water quality.
City Scheme Water Consumption

Target/Desired Direction

Total scheme water consumed.

Decrease

Figure 32: City Scheme Water Consumption
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Scheme water represented 3% of the City’s total water consumption in 2015/16. Over the past five years, the City has used an
annual average of 152,304 kilolitres of scheme water per year and in 2015/16, the City consumed 2% less scheme water than
the five-year average. This is equivalent to 2,817 kilolitres. When compared to the previous year, the City increased its scheme
water consumption by 2%.
Source: Water Corporation 2016

Groundwater Consumption

Target/Desired Direction

Percentage of allocated groundwater consumed.

Below allocation

Figure 33: City Groundwater Consumption
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Groundwater represented 97% of the City’s total water consumption for 2015/16 (up to 31 March 2016) and it is mainly used
for irrigating public open space. The City is allocated an annual groundwater licence by the Water Corporation. In 2015/16, the
City consumed 4,639,874 kilolitres, or 88% of its annual groundwater allocation i.e. 12% below the allowable limit.
Source: City of Stirling Irrigation Controller Report
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Community Water Consumption

Target/Desired Direction

Total Scheme water consumed by the City of Stirling Community.

Decrease

Figure 34: Community Scheme Water Consumption
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Over a five-year period, the City of Stirling community used an average of approximately 24 million kilolitres of scheme water
annually. In 2015/16, the Stirling community consumed 3% less scheme water than the five-year average, a 4% decrease from
the previous year. This decrease in community water consumption is equivalent to approximately 1 million kilolitres saved.
Source: Water Corporation 2016

Indicators of Success – Flourishing Wildlife and Natural Habitat
Natural Habitat
The City has extensive natural areas, comprised of 616 hectares of bushland dispersed over 68 reserves, 33 wetland sites and
6.5 kilometres of coastal dunes and beaches.
The bushland reserves range in size from 0.2 to 100 hectares, of which eight are regionally significant. Notable examples
of significant bushland are Star Swamp Bushland Reserve, Trigg Bushland Reserve and Herdsman Lake. The City has
dedicated walk and cycle trails in 17 reserves including Aintree Reserve in Hamersley, Jackadder Lake in Woodlands, Carine
Regional Open Space and many others. Six of these reserves have a walking map that is available on the City’s website
(www.stirling.wa.gov.au/recreation). The City’s coastline includes some of Perth’s best beaches, including Scarborough and
Trigg. Also included are the bay beach areas north of Trigg Island such as Mettams Pool, North Beach and Watermans Bay.
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Million Trees and Shrubs

Target/Desired Direction

Number of Trees and Shrubs planted.

1 million by 2025

Figure 35: Number of Trees and Shrubs Planted Each Year
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The City aims to plant one million trees and shrubs over a 17-year period. Over the past seven years, the City’s planting
average has been 55,448 trees and shrubs per year. In the 2015/16 planting season, the City is estimated to have planted
71,000 trees and shrubs bringing its total planting numbers to 406,211.
Estimated tree and shrub planting data has been used for this graph as the planting season is still active in August 2016.
Source: Actual and projected City of Stirling Data

Volunteer Hours in Conservation

Target/Desired Direction

Number of volunteer hours contributed.

Increase

Figure 36: Volunteer Hours in Conservation
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The City provides opportunities for community members to participate in activities to protect wildlife and natural habitats in the
City of Stirling. The graph above shows that in 2015/16, the Stirling community contributed 16,183 volunteer hours to the
City’s Bushcare and Coastcare groups. This is a 66% increase when compared to the previous year. Volunteers assisted with
rubbish removal, plantings, site surveys and weeding. 48 tonnes of weeds were removed from bushland in 2015/16.
Source: City of Stirling
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Residents’ Perception of Environmental Management

Target/Desired Direction

The percentage of residents that agree that the City is environmentally conscious.

≥60%

Figure 37: The City is environmentally conscious
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As part of the City’s resident satisfaction, survey respondents were asked whether they thought the City was environmentally
conscious. In 2015/16, 70% of respondents agreed, resulting in the City achieving its highest environmental rating in
five years.
Source: 2016 Annual Resident Satisfaction Survey
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Theme 3: Engaged Communities
The City of Stirling will be
a place where people from
diverse backgrounds will
feel included and respected.
Residents will be informed
and involved in important local
issues and encouraged to
participate in community life.
Major Achievements
The City received a Certificate of
Appreciation for an outstanding
contribution to the delivery of Australian
Citizenship ceremonies in the local
community from the Department of
Immigration and Border Protection
in 2015/16.
The Mirrabooka Multicultural
Centre continues to perform above
expectations with regard to facility hire.
Designed to cater for the Culturally
and Linguistically Diverse (CaLD)
Community, the Centre is popular for
everything from workshops and training
to functions and cultural celebrations.
The Clubs Forever “Get Ahead of the
Game Club Development Forums”
continue to support over 450 local
sporting and community clubs through
a wide range of workshops, resources
and networking opportunities.
The City was awarded a high
commendation for Parks and Leisure
Australia’s (WA) award for Leisure
and/or Open Space: Planning for
the Princess Wallington Reserve
Community Parkland. Feedback
received from the judging panel
indicated that it was an extremely welldeveloped plan with strong innovative
approaches and an exceptional level of
engagement with the community. It was
also noted that the City demonstrated
willingness to alter the project direction
in response to community feedback.

The Mirrabooka Multicultural Centre
continues to be a hub for services
and activities for the City’s emerging
CaLD communities. These included
seminars, workshops and support
services from numerous Government
and non-Government organisations, as
well as self-generated CaLD community
group activities. The City’s Multicultural
Project Officer, who supports these
communities, was the winner of the
Outstanding Individual Achievement
Award at the Office of Multicultural
Interests Awards.
The City received funding through the
Communities for Children program
to support newly-arrived women and
children from CaLD backgrounds
through the Mirrabooka Neighbourhood
Mothers Project. The project works
in partnership with Ishar Multicultural
Women's Health Centre and supports
CaLD women through mentoring
and by connecting them with a
range of services and supports in
the community.
The City was the winner of the
Promoting Indigenous Recognition
Award category in the 2016 National
Awards for Local Government. Stirling
was the only Western Australian local
government to take out a category
for its Stirling Aboriginal Engagement
Project. The project highlighted
the major initiatives that the City
has undertaken to develop better
relationships with the Aboriginal
community and to recognise the
significant contribution that Aboriginal
people make to the City of Stirling.
The Wadjak Northside Aboriginal
Resource Centre officially opened
in November 2015. The City,
in partnership with the Wadjak
Northside Aboriginal Community
Group and Lotterywest, renovated a
kindergarten in Balga to develop this
resource centre.

The City continued to implement the
Settlement Grant Program which
has enabled many communities to
utilise the Mirrabooka Multicultural
Centre. More importantly, it has
brought communities together and
assisted in building the capacity of
the community to develop programs.
The City partnered with Youth Futures
as part of the funding received from
the Department for Social Services
to support young people from
CaLD backgrounds.
The Dementia Partnership Project is a
partnership between the City of Stirling
and Alzheimer’s Australia WA. The
project aims to enhance the experience
and improve the quality of life of those
people living with dementia in the
community who access our support
services. The partnership project is
funded by the Department of Health
and will continue in day clubs for the
next 12 months.
The City engaged the Aboriginal Elders
of the City’s Aboriginal Action Group,
members of the City’s Reconciliation
Action Plan Working Group, and the
South West Aboriginal Land and Sea
Council to collaborate in presenting
Council with preferred Aboriginal
naming suggestions for the new roads
and a public garden created in the
Mirrabooka project area.
The local community was consulted
on the design of the library forecourt
and street naming. The community
also collaborated on public artworks in
the Mirrabooka Stage 3 project, with
strong recognition of Aboriginal culture
throughout the project.
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”

I am a volunteer and am
very impressed with all
services offered to Seniors
Marketing Effectiveness
Survey February 2016

13 Community Consultation events
occurred including:
• 1 Scarborough Beach Road Planning
Open Day
• 2 Stirling City Centre Northern
Precinct Workshops
• 1 Stirling City Centre Northern
Precinct Open Day
• 1 Stirling City Centre Station Precinct
Local Development Plans Open Day
• 2 Main Street place-making
community and trader workshops
• 2 Scarborough Beach Road Street
place-making community and
trader workshops.
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The City launched its ‘Food on the
Move’ trial in September 2015 to
increase vibrancy and place activation
within communities.
The City provided 13 Living Green
Grants to a wide range of community
sustainability projects that were
community-led and supported by the
City. The City also held its first Living
Green sustainability awards night
to recognise community members,
organisations and local schools.

Challenges
Keeping residents engaged with
recycling services to ensure that
services are used to their full potential,
reducing landfill and maximising items
that are recycled or recovered.

Progress with Strategic Activities in 2015/16 and Plans for 2016/17
Progress in
2015/16

Plans for
2016/17

Build the capacity of different cultural groups in the City

Deliverables
achieved

Ongoing in 16/17

Research and develop programs to meet the needs of families and young people
in the community

Activity Complete

Work with others to strengthen services and programs that support older people
living in their homes

Deliverables
achieved

2015/16 Strategic Activity
Inclusive and Harmonious City
Provide access to services for our diverse community

Ongoing in 16/17

Engage the Aboriginal Community so that they are included in the life of the City
Implement the Reconciliation Action Plan for the City

Deliverables
achieved

Ongoing in 16/17

Support people with a disability to access the City’s services and participate equally in the life of the community
Implement and report on the Disability Access and Inclusion Plan (DAIP)

Deliverables
achieved

Ongoing in 16/17

Active Participation and Volunteering
Provide activities that meet the needs of different sections of the community
Develop volunteering opportunities through the provision of services for young
people and families, Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islanders (ATSI), culturally and
linguistically diverse (CaLD) communities, seniors, and people with disabilities

Deliverables
achieved

Ongoing in 16/17

Promote volunteering opportunities in the City
Provide volunteering opportunities to the wider community

Activity Complete

Identify new opportunities for volunteering

Activity Complete

Work with others to promote volunteering and celebrate the contribution of volunteers
Continue the volunteer recognition and retention program

Activity Complete

Build networks with other volunteer service providers

Deliverables
achieved

Ongoing in 16/17

Two-Way Dialogue
Achieve a consistent level of community engagement across the City
Develop a Community Engagement Policy, Management Practice and
Guide, including using technology to provide information and community
engagement activities across a wide variety of formats, such as a community
consultation e-newsletter

Behind schedule

Provide City information in formats that can be easily understood by all
Make use of new media and technology and target-specific ways of reaching
hard-to-reach or under-represented sectors of the community

Activity Complete

New Activities 2016/17
Inclusive and Harmonious City
Develop and implement a Youth Engagement Framework for the City of Stirling.
Develop and deliver a program of works to support the City’s Access and Inclusion Plan, Disability Discrimination Act 1992
and Disability Discrimination Regulations 1996.
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Indicators of Success – Inclusive and Harmonious City
Community Inclusion Activities

Target/Desired Direction

The average rating of surveyed residents who think that the City of Stirling
encourages diverse groups to be part of the community:

Increase

• The very elderly
• Recent immigrants from non-English speaking backgrounds
• Teenagers and young adults
• Indigenous people
• People with a disability.
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Figure 38: City Performance in Providing Community Inclusion Activities

People with
a disability

As part of the City’s resident satisfaction survey, respondents were asked to rate the City’s performance (out of 10) in encouraging diverse
groups to be part of the community. Examples include providing facilities, services, events and programs. This survey

question was not asked in the 2014/15 survey but has been raised again for 2015/16. There have been very slight increases in
2015/16 for three of the areas: ‘the very elderly’, ‘recent immigrants’ and ‘people with a disability’. The results for all areas
remain close to or below 7.0 however, so the City will continue to monitor and focus on this aspect of its operations.
Source: 2016 Annual Resident Satisfaction Survey

Indicators of Success – Active Participation and Volunteering
Volunteering

Target/Desired Direction

Percentage of the population of the City of Stirling, aged 15 years and older, who
did voluntary work through an organisation or group in the last 12 months.

Increase

Results from the 2011 Census indicate that 15.7 per cent of City of Stirling residents, aged 15 years and older, undertook
some form of voluntary work through an organisation or group within the previous 12 months. There is virtually no change in
this percentage when comparing the 2006 and 2011 Census results. The 2011 result equates exactly with the Greater Perth
(Greater Capital City Statistical Area). When looking across the state, the 2011 Census found that 16.9 per cent of residents,
aged 15 years and older, undertook some form of voluntary work.
Source: Australian Bureau of Statistics Census 2011
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Volunteering at the City of Stirling

Target/Desired Direction

Number of volunteers participating in the delivery of the City of Stirling services.

≥400

2011/12

2012/13

2013/14

2014/15

2015/16

560 est.

550 est.

450^

443

486

The City is fortunate to have over 480 people volunteering their services and helping the City of Stirling community. This was
sufficient to meet the volunteering needs of the City. A full description of the role and contribution of volunteers is outlined in a
separate section ‘Our Volunteers’ on page 59.
^ Due to record management improvements the City is able to provide more accurate results from 2013/14, where previous
years have been estimated.
Source: City of Stirling

Indicators of Success – Two-Way Dialogue between the City and the Community
Keeping Residents Informed About Important Issues and Developments

Target/Desired Direction

The average satisfaction rating of surveyed residents for the City’s performance in
keeping residents informed about important issues and developments.

≥6.0

Figure 39: Resident Satisfaction with the City’s Performance in Keeping Residents Informed About Important Issues and
Developments
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The resident satisfaction survey asked respondents to rate the City’s performance in ‘keeping residents informed about
important issues and developments’. This is an important area for residents, with an average ‘importance’ score of 8.3 (out of
10). The average performance rating was 6.8 (out of 10) which, while increasing when compared to previous years, indicates
that the City needs to continue to focus on its vital communication and engagement role.
Source: 2016 Annual Resident Satisfaction Survey
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Theme 4: Accessible and Connected City
The City of Stirling will be
accessible with sustainable
transport solutions,
safer roads and parking
availability. Improved
technology will create a
connected community with
many of the City’s services
available online.
Major Achievements
As part of a City-wide approach to
rationalise existing and additional safety
barriers, the City has undertaken and
completed a significant number of
projects in which these barriers have
been upgraded, removed or replaced.
This has meant that these prone
areas are now compliant with current
standards, are much safer and are more
relevant to existing traffic movements.
As part of the City’s ongoing program
of pavement and asset management,
28 streets were resurfaced. As well as
maintaining the service life of these
streets, other benefits include improved
stormwater run-off via improved road
cross-falls, increased stopping/braking
capability and reduced road noise.
The City received an additional $1.3
million from the Federal Government’s
Roads to Recovery program, allowing
the City to rehabilitate and resurface
large sections of Balcatta Road from
Erindale Road to Wanneroo Road and
complete it within the financial year.
The City completed a major streetscape
road upgrade on Liege Street from
Blackbutt Road to Scarborough Beach
Road, Innaloo. This was a major and
complex project in a highly built-up area
that required ongoing consultation with
adjoining residents and businesses, as
well as traffic management to enable
continuous through-traffic.

The City of Stirling has made
contributions for the design and
maintenance of road pavements
through its ongoing membership of
the Road Rehabilitation Committee
sponsored by WALGA and the
Australian Asphalt Pavement
Association (AAPA). In conjunction
with other members of this Committee
(experts and specialists from pavement
industries and regulating bodies)
it has provided key input into the
improvement of road resurfacing,
restoration and rehabilitation work
with particular emphasis on structural
enhancements that extend the service
life of an existing road pavement and/or
improve its structural capacity.
The Sports Hall in Stirling Leisure
Centres – Hamersley received new
toilet facilities and an upgrade to its
flooring as part of the Disability and
Discrimination Act (DDA), which has
boosted the overall aesthetics of the
centre as well as making the facilities
more accessible.
A Casual Hire Booking Form was
developed for the City’s facilities,
enabling members of the public to
seamlessly submit ‘one-off’ facility
hire bookings directly through the
City’s website. The new Casual Hire
Booking e-form forms part of the
City’s commitment to becoming an
‘e-Council’ to improve and streamline
your experience in dealing with the City.
The City continued its implementation
of the Strategic Footpath Program, with
approximately 14.1 kilometres of new
footpaths constructed throughout the
City during the 2015/16 financial year.
The City continued its implementation
of the Paid Parking Management
Strategy, with more than 140 new
on-street parking bays constructed
in Glendalough and the Stirling City
Centre (Innaloo) at a cost of more than
$310,000. Works also included the
construction of additional shared paths
and the planting of around 70 trees.
Paid parking was also introduced to

Bradford Street and Railway Parade,
Mount Lawley.
The City secured $2.5 million of State
and Federal Government funding for
road and traffic upgrades under the
Black Spot Program and Metropolitan
Regional Road Group (MRRG).
The City continued the implementation
of the Rights of Way Management
Strategy, with $3 million worth of
upgrades to seal roads, install drainage
and install energy-efficient LED street
lighting in the City’s Rights of Way.
The City continued to partner with
the Cities of Joondalup and Swan
to organise and conduct the annual
Blessing of the Roads event, which
promotes safety on our roads leading
up to the Easter long weekend.
The City carried out extensive
modifications to the Trigg Beach
northern car park to reconfigure the
layout and alignment of parking aisles
and parking bays. The net result was
an increase of more than 50 parking
bays to meet the increasing demand for
parking in this precinct.
The City negotiated with the Noorul
Islam Society to fund construction
of parking bays within the verges of
Boyare Avenue, Mirrabooka adjacent
to the Mosque. This addresses longstanding concerns and issues with
the degradation of verges due to
parking activities.
As part of its ongoing commitment to
improving accessibility under the City’s
Disabled Access and Inclusion Plan,
the City has completed more than
$1.5 million-worth of works to improve
disability access across some of the
City’s most high-profile buildings.
The 2015/16 financial year saw the
formal advertising of Local Planning
Scheme No. 3 Amendment No. 39 to
rezone Herdsman Glendalough Area to
a “Development Zone”. The Western
Australian Planning Commission also
advertised the MRS Amendment
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1291/41 for the Herdsman Glendalough
Area. A detailed submission regarding
the MRS amendment was prepared and
endorsed by Council.
More than 6,500 homes and
businesses in parts of Doubleview,
Innaloo, Karrinyup and Gwelup were
connected to the NBN network in April
2016. More than 9,000 homes and
businesses in the suburbs of Stirling,
Woodlands, Herdsman, Wembley
Downs, Churchlands and Osborne
Park are scheduled to be available for
connection in late 2016.
The City secured access to digital
training for 98 local businesses through
a combination of Federal Government
Digital Enterprise Training and City
funded training grants.
The City further transformed online
services with the introduction of:
• An e-recruitment system
• The ability to request rates notices
via email (e-Rates)
• The ability to request copies of plans
• A wider range of online payment
options for Planning and Building
Applications, Health invoices,
Underground Power invoices, Dog/
Cat Registrations and Renewal
invoices
• A Councillor Portal providing
Councillors access to minutes and
agenda electronically via the internet.
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Library services continued to run
the highly successful BEATS (Be
eSmart and Tech Savvy) computer
and IT literacy program. A variety of
seminars and activities have been held
across the City’s six libraries including
basic computer training, internet
searching, using e-resources, being
eSmart, iPad and android classes,
digital photography and emerging
technologies. The BEATS program will
continue in 2016/17.
Library Services commenced
implementation of a new library
software system that will provide a
more integrated and user-friendly
experience, including enhanced
online catalogue searching and
borrower options, improved access for
smartphones and tablets, and extensive
data management and statistical
reporting options.
The use of free public Wi-Fi in libraries
continued to be in strong demand,
with 111,100 unique users in the City’s
libraries during 2015/16.
The City launched its corporate
Facebook page in October 2015.
Within six months just under 20,000
people had liked the page. The page
can be found at www.facebook.com/
citystirlingwa

Challenges
The rollout of the National Broadband
Network infrastructure only accesses
approximately 14,700 properties in the
City. The remainder of the City is not
currently programmed for the NBN
rollout and community expectation and
demand far exceed this number. An
estimated 68,000 properties are still to
be connected to the NBN by 2018.

Progress with Strategic Activities in 2015/16 and Plans for 2016/17
2015/16 Strategic Activity

Progress in
2015/16

Plans for
2016/17

Planning for Accessibility
Ensure high-density development occurs in close proximity to public transport interchanges
Finalise and implement the Herdsman/ Glendalough Structure Plan

Deliverables
achieved

Ongoing in 16/17

Encourage pedestrian and cycle infrastructure within and surrounding centres
Develop a policy to offset parking requirements with end-of-trip cycling facilities
in agreed centres

Addressed through
other activities

Travel Choice
Provide footpath access to City streets
Implement the Strategic Footpath Construction Program

Activity Complete

Increase the provision of cycling infrastructure and its use in the City
Implement Integrated Cycling Strategy and Bike Route Development Plan

Delayed

Ongoing in 16/17

Encourage and support the public to walk, cycle and use public transport (TravelSmart)
Work with Public Transport Authority (PTA) to encourage the use of public
transport through the provision of bus priority measures and upgraded bus stop
infrastructure

Deliverables
achieved

Ongoing in 16/17

Safer Roads
Manage the road network to meet growing demand
Implement the Road Hierarchy Monitoring Strategy

Activity Complete

Implement the Blackspot Cost Benefit Monitoring Strategy

Activity Complete

Implement the Rights of Way Program

Deliverables
achieved

Ongoing in 16/17

Implement the Doubleview Commercial Centre Upgrade Project

Delayed

Ongoing in 17/18

Deliverables
achieved

Ongoing in 16/17

Manage traffic to improve safety and amenity
Review, stage and implement Self-Explaining Roads Pilot project
Promote road safety awareness
Work with State and Federal Government Agencies to promote safer roads

Activity Complete

Promote Road Safety Awareness

Activity Complete

Smart Parking
Increase Parking Capacity
Review and implement the City’s Paid Parking Strategy

Deliverables
achieved

Ongoing in 16/17

Ensure use of parking space is optimised
Enforce parking legislation

Activity Complete

Use smart technology to improve access to parking in the City
Develop a plan and implement smart parking technology for:
• Available parking locations
• Integrated spatial incident reporting

Deliverables
achieved

Ongoing in 16/17

Connected City
Improve online communication and engagement channels with the community
Implement the City’s e-business Strategy

Delayed

Develop and implement a Social Media Plan for the City

Activity Complete

Implement new Facility Bookings Management Software that enables online
facility bookings

Delayed

Ongoing in 16/17
Ongoing in 16/17

Work to improve public access to the Internet in key areas
Implement Public Wi-Fi Strategy (subject to approval)

Activity Complete
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New Activities 2016/17
Planning for Accessibility
Work with the Department of Transport
on the proposed light rail network and
advancement of existing public transport
networks
Travel Choice / Safer Roads
Review and implement the Transport Asset
Management Plan
Safer Roads
Review and implement the Drainage Asset
Management Plan

Indicators of Success – Planning for Accessibility
Local Neighbourhoods Provide for Residents' Daily Needs

Target/Desired Direction

The percentage of surveyed residents who agree that their local neighbourhood
provides for all their daily needs.

Maintain or Increase

Figure 40: Local Neighbourhoods Provide for Residents' Daily Needs
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Surveyed residents were asked to what extent they agreed or disagreed with the statement ‘my local neighbourhood’ provides
for all my daily needs’ where ‘local neighbourhood’ is defined as ‘being within ten minutes’ walk of where I live’. In 2015/16,
73% of respondents agreed with this statement. This result is consistent with the response received in recent years and
indicates that a high percentage of the City’s residents are satisfied that their local neighbourhoods provide for their
everyday needs.
Source: 2016 Annual Resident Satisfaction Survey
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Indicators of Success – Travel Choice
Travel by Foot or Bicycle

Target/Desired Direction

Percentage of the population of the City of Stirling travelling to work by foot
or bicycle.

Increase

Travel by Public Transport

Target/Desired Direction

Percentage of the population of the City of Stirling travelling to work by
public transport.

Increase

Results from the 2011 Census indicate that 10.9% of respondents travelled to work
by public transport on Census day. This is higher than the result across the state of
9.4%, and an increase on the 2006 Census result for the City of Stirling of 9.1%.
City Cycleways

Target/Desired Direction

The average satisfaction rating of surveyed residents for the performance of the
City of Stirling with the provision and maintenance of cycleways.

≥7.0

Figure 41: Resident Satisfaction with the City’s Cycleways
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The resident satisfaction survey asked respondents to rate the importance and performance of the City’s cycleways. The

average importance rating was 8.2 (out of 10) and the average performance rating was 6.9 (out of 10). While this represents a
slight performance increase when compared to previous years’ results, it is still below the City’s target of ≥7.0. The City
recognises the importance of well-maintained cycleways for the community and will continue to focus on this area.
Source: 2016 Annual Resident Satisfaction Survey
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City Pedestrian Ways

Target/Desired Direction

The average satisfaction rating of surveyed residents for the performance of the
City of Stirling in the provision and maintenance of pedestrian ways.

≥7.0

Figure 42: Resident Satisfaction with City Pedestrian Ways
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In the resident satisfaction survey, respondents were asked to rate the importance and performance of the City’s provision and

maintenance of pedestrian ways. The average importance rating was 8.7 (out of 10) and the average performance rating was
7.4 (out of 10). The result has been consistently above target for the last few years, suggesting that residents consider the
City to be performing this service well.
Source: 2016 Annual Resident Satisfaction Survey

Indicators of Success – Safer Roads
Road Traffic Accidents

Target/Desired Direction

Number of reported road traffic accidents in the City of Stirling

Decrease

Table 5: Number of Reported Road Traffic Accidents in the City
Year

2011

2012

2013

2014

2015

4,519

4,500

4,106

3,810

3,673

There were 3,673 reported road traffic accidents in the City in 2015, representing a 19% reduction in RTAs since the 2010
result of 4,537. Encouragingly, the total number of accidents has reduced every year since then and it is hoped that, with
better road education and quality roads, the numbers will continue to reduce.
Source: Western Australian Main Roads
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Average Travel Speed on Local Access Roads

Target/Desired Direction

Average of (85 per centile) travel speeds recorded on 50km/h local access
roads [km/h].

Decrease

th

Table 6: Travel Speeds on Local Access Roads
Year

2011

2012

2013

2014

2015

Average of (85th
per centile) travel
speeds recorded
on 50km/h local
access roads
[km/h]

51.4

50.1

49.5

51.3

50.4

The average (85th per centile) travel speeds recorded on 50km/h local access roads in the City of Stirling was 50.4km/h.
Source: City of Stirling traffic count monitoring surveys

Indicators of Success – Smart Parking
City Parking

Target/Desired Direction

The average satisfaction rating of surveyed residents for the performance of the
City of Stirling in the provision and management of parking throughout the City.

≥6.0

Figure 43: Resident Satisfaction with the Provision and Maintenance of Parking in the City
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The City’s resident satisfaction survey asked respondents to rate the importance and performance of the City’s provision and
maintenance of parking. The average importance rating was 8.2 (out of 10) and the average rating for the City’s performance
was 6.8 (out of 10). While this result is within the City’s present target range, the City recognises that parking is clearly an
important issue to residents and that there is still progress to be made in this area. The City is continuing to implement its
long-term Parking Strategy.
Source: 2016 Annual Resident Satisfaction Survey
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Indicators of Success – Connected City
City Online Services and Phone/Tablet Applications

Target/Desired Direction

The average satisfaction rating of surveyed residents for the performance of the
City of Stirling in the provision of online services and phone/tablet applications.

≥7.0

Figure 44: Resident Satisfaction with the Provision of Online Services and Phone/Tablet Applications
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The City is striving to ensure that its systems and processes remain in line with technological developments and considers this
a focus area in the short to medium term. As part of the resident satisfaction survey, respondents were asked to rate the
importance and performance of the City’s provision of online services and phone/tablet applications. The average importance
rating was 7.9 (out of 10) and the average rating for the City’s performance was 7.3 (out of 10). This result is above the City’s
target score for 2015/16 and is a positive result when compared to recent years.
Source: 2016 Annual Resident Satisfaction Survey
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Theme 5: Prosperous City
The City of Stirling will
be fostering business
development and
employment opportunities,
making it a great place to
invest. Our attractions and
events will stimulate tourism,
increasing the number of
visitors to our City.
Major Achievements
The State Government announced a
further $18 million investment in the
Scarborough Redevelopment Project
being delivered by the Metropolitan
Redevelopment Authority in conjunction
with the City. This increased the total
investment in Scarborough (including
the Scarborough Beach Pool project)
to more than $100 million. The project
will create new play spaces, tree-lined
promenades, extra beachside open
space and public art, with a series of
new destinations to eat, drink and shop
to follow.
The City created new commercial
development opportunities in
Mirrabooka Town Centre.
The City held its annual Mayoral
Breakfast to increase awareness of
the benefits of doing business within
the City of Stirling. This included an
Investment Prospectus video and
updated Activity Centre Profiles
designed to increase the economic
knowledge about key business areas
within the City.
The City continued to partner with the
Cities of Wanneroo and Joondalup
to promote the Sunset Coast region
as a tourist destination, including
the production and distribution of an
estimated 30,000 copies of the annual
Sunset Coast Holiday Planner.

Visitor numbers for the year to 31
March 2016 were at a record high of
705,400. Significant increases in the
number of day-visitors in Stirling and a
general increase in tourism for Western
Australia explain the increase.
The City assisted the Stirling
Regional Business Centre to access
a $20,000 grant from the Federal
Government’s ‘Stronger Communities’
program and $5,000 from ‘Living
Green’ grants towards facility and
equipment upgrades.
Small business advisory services
provided by Business Station on behalf
of the Small Business Development
Corporation were facilitated through
access to facilities at Stirling Regional
Business Centre and promotion of the
service on the City website.
The City sponsored the ‘Empower Your
Business’ program to provide training
vouchers to small businesses, with over
100 grants offered to local businesses.

Challenges
The Scarborough Redevelopment
Project will take two years to complete.
Works include demolition of some
existing structures and deep excavation
activity, during which beach access
points and car parking will be affected.
Road, cycle path and pedestrian path
diversions will also be in place and
there will be an increase in construction
vehicles in the area. Works have been
programmed to minimise disruption
as much as possible, with the most
significant activities occurring during
the quieter winter months.
Changes in the State Planning
Framework have resulted in significant
delays to the City implementing
its planning frameworks for the
Mirrabooka, Stirling City Centre and
Herdsman Glendalough areas.

Major Development Applications
to expand retail facilities in Stirling
City Centre (valued at $450 million)
and Karrinyup Town Centre (valued
at $600 million) were approved by
the Metropolitan Northwest Joint
Development Assessment Panel in July
and August 2015.
During the 2014/15 financial year,
2,385 development applications were
approved in the City with a total value
of $2,243,432,053.
In October 2015, the City implemented
a new ‘Job Shop’ initiative, a free
volunteer-led program operating from
the Stirling Community Centres Osborne Park to support City residents
in their search for employment. The
service includes resume support,
coaching in interview techniques
and general information around
employability. To date, over 120
participants have been supported with
a significant number since finding longterm employment.
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Progress with Strategic Activities in 2015/16 and Plans for 2016/17
Progress in
2015/16

Plans for
2016/17

Implement the Economic & Tourism Development Strategy

Deliverables
achieved

Ongoing in 16/17

Implement the City-wide Digital Economic Strategy by supporting the rollout of
the NBN

Deliverables
achieved

Ongoing in 16/17

2015/16 Strategic Activity
Great Place to Work, Invest and Do Business
Promote the City as a place to work, invest and do business

Use the City’s planning powers to encourage investment and employment
Ensure adequate land and zoning provisions for Activity Centres and
Local Centres

Activity Complete

Progress major projects
Assist the Metropolitan Redevelopment Authority to implement the Scarborough
Redevelopment Project

Delayed

Ongoing in 16/17

Continue to implement the Mirrabooka Regional Centre Improvement Strategy

Delayed

Ongoing in 16/17

Destination City
Promote the City as a great place to visit
Develop and implement a Conference Attraction Strategy

Activity Complete

Actively seek opportunities to host major events in the City

Activity Complete

Support initiatives and developments to encourage tourism
Improve tourism infrastructure, including short-stay accommodation

Deliverables
achieved

Ongoing in 16/17

Promote commercial tourism development opportunities

Delayed

Ongoing in 16/17
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Indicators of Success – Great Place to Work, Invest and Do Business
The City as a Place to Invest in a Business

Target/Desired Direction

The percentage of surveyed residents who would consider a location in the
City of Stirling to start or purchase a business.

≥50%

Figure 45: The City as a Place to Invest in a Business
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Surveyed residents were asked to what extent they agreed or disagreed with the statement ‘I would consider a location in the
City of Stirling if I was starting or purchasing a business’. While attitudes towards business and property are a useful indicator
of investment sentiment, they are strongly affected by market forces and other variables that are beyond the control of the
City. As such, the City has identified a relatively low target range of >50% for this indicator. The 2015/16 result, with 64% of
residents agreeing with the statement, is a pleasing indication of community satisfaction within Stirling.
Source: 2016 Annual Resident Satisfaction Survey
The City as a Place to Invest in a Property

Target/Desired Direction

The percentage of surveyed residents who would consider a location in the
City of Stirling to invest in a property.

≥70%

Figure 46: The City as a Place to Invest in Property
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Residents were asked to what extent they agreed or disagreed with the statement ‘I would consider a location in the City of
Stirling to invest in a property’. In 2015/16, 78% of respondents agreed with this statement, bringing results back in line with
those experienced three years ago. Other variables such as the economic climate will influence these results, but the City is
pleased that the region is considered attractive to property investors.
Source: 2016 Annual Resident Satisfaction Survey
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Value of Commercial Investment in the City

Target/Desired Direction

$ value of commercial investment in the City

Increase

Figure 47: Commercial Investment in the City
Year
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$170

2015/16

$1.033 billion

The most recent results available from the Australian Bureau of Statistics refer to the 2014/15 financial year and reflect a
substantial growth in commercial investment in the City over the last period, indicating an increase in business confidence.
The 2015/16 commercial investment figure includes the two Innaloo and Karrinyup major developments (which represent over
$950 million alone). Removing these two outliers returns a figure of $83,973,057.
Source: Australian Bureau of Statistics – National Regional Profile by LGA (results to 2014/15)
Source: Non-residential development applications lodged with City of Stirling (for 2015/16)

Indicators of Success – Destination City
Tourist Visitors to the City

Target/Desired Direction

Number of tourist visitors to the City

Increase

Figure 48: Number of Tourists Visiting the City
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The most recent results available from the Australian Bureau of Statistics refer to the 2013/14 financial year and show an
increase in the number of visitors to the City of Stirling. The 2015/16 tourism information is sourced from ‘Tourism Research
Australia – National Visitor Survey; International Visitor Survey year ending June 2016 (estimates of visitors aged 15+ years)
Source: Australian Bureau of Statistics – National Regional Profile by LGA (results to 2013/14)
Source: Tourism Research Australia (year to 31 March 2016)

128

”

As a resident of the area my whole
life, I have found their services to all
be extremely satisfactory, including
their library and reliable ranger
service. Generally (staff are) easy
to approach and there to help.
Marketing Effectiveness
Survey May 2016

Theme 6: Making It Happen –
City’s Capacity to Deliver
The City of Stirling will
continue to be recognised
both regionally and
nationally as a Council
committed to quality
services and continuous
improvement. We will build
on this reputation while
continuing to be among
the best-performing local
governments in Australia
and beyond.
Major Achievements
The City was awarded a Gold Award
for its 2014/15 Annual Report at the
2016 Australasian Reporting Awards,
for demonstrating overall excellence in
annual reporting.
The initial stage of the Community
Facilities Plan – Community Profile and
Population Forecast was completed,
which will improve the City’s forward
planning of community infrastructure.
The City strengthened its existing
alliance with the Local Government
Insurance Scheme (LGIS) with
the introduction of the Strategic
Occupational Consultant to support
and assist with identified occupational
safety and health projects, in order to
continually improve occupational safety
and health at the City.
The City, in conjunction with the Cities
of Joondalup, Swan and Wanneroo,
delivered the 5th Annual Occupational
Health and Safety Conference ‘It’s
Fundamental’ that focused on the
importance of mental health. This was
designed to provide Health and Safety

representative delegates the skills
to identify the early warning signs of
mental health issues and communicate
effectively to seek help.

Communities, was the winner of the
Outstanding Individual Achievement
Award at the Office of Multicultural
Interests Awards.

Over 80 employees participated in
the Kaleidoscope Cultural Awareness
Program in its first year and a further
43 employees attended during the first
half of 2016. As the City is the most
diverse in WA, raising awareness with
employees of the unique qualities that a
diverse community brings has resulted
in many positive outcomes.

The City’s Women’s Centre Coordinator
was the winner of the Michael Chin
Humanitarian Award for outstanding
commitment to family and domestic
violence services.

The City has developed an online
learning facility which is utilised to
develop customised learning and
development programs. In 2015/16,
the City developed and implemented
five new online training modules relating
to Council and Committee report
writing. A further two training programs
are currently under development and
will be implemented in 2016/17.
The City’s Team Leader Cultural
Diversity and Community was awarded
a Churchill Fellowship to investigate
municipal policies/programs that
enhance the integration of migrant and
refugee communities.
The City was the winner of the
Promoting Indigenous Recognition
Award category in the 2016 National
Awards for Local Government. Stirling
was the only Western Australian local
government to win a category for its
Stirling Aboriginal Engagement Project.
The project highlighted the major
initiatives that the City has undertaken
to develop better relationships with the
Aboriginal community and to recognise
the significant contribution that
Aboriginal people make to Stirling.

Implementation of the City’s Property
Strategy initiatives has achieved an
increase in gross revenues of 57 per
cent and improved occupancy levels
from 72 per cent to 87 per cent from the
Property Investment Portfolio.
The City launched its Sales and Leasing
Opportunities web page, improving the
delivery and availability of information
regarding the City’s Property.
The City provided Disability Awareness
Training to 65 of its employees in
October 2015 and March 2016,
assisting participants to identify a range
of access and inclusion issues affecting
people with disability.

Challenges
The demands of numerous large capital
works projects, coupled with the City’s
continued provision of high quality
services and facilities, provides various
resourcing and financial challenges to
the City. Planning and executing these
projects, while maintaining service
levels, can have long-term financial
sustainability impacts for the City.
It is therefore critical that a balanced
approach is taken at all times.

The City’s Multicultural Project
Officer, who supports Culturally
and Linguistically Diverse (CaLD)
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Progress with Strategic Activities in 2015/16 and Plans for 2016/17
Progress in
2015/16

Plans for
2016/17

Deliverables
achieved

Ongoing in 16/17

Delayed

Ongoing in 16/17

Conduct a Governance Health check of the City

Deliverables
achieved

Ongoing in 16/17

Revise the Code of Conduct and ensure that it is understood by all employees,
Councillors and those who work with the City

Behind schedule

2015/16 Strategic Activity
Customer Focus
Improve customer communication channels to the City
Create, maintain and update ‘Frequently Asked Questions’ section on the
City’s website
Improve the handling and resolution of customer complaints
Improve customer complaint records and implement a complaint-handling
process to sit across the organisation
Good Governance
Promote highest standards of Governance

Lead by example to promote sustainable development
Develop and deliver a sustainability e-learning induction module to all staff

Delayed

Ongoing in 16/17

Achieve Level 1 – Foundation Level in the Sustainable Procurement Flexible
Framework

Activity Complete

Implement the Climate Change Adaptation Plan

Deliverables
achieved

Ongoing in 16/17

Update the Long-Term Financial Plan based on Integrated Planning and
Reporting Requirements and the actions arising from the Service and
Organisational Review

Deliverables
achieved

Ongoing in 16/17

Establish the City’s position with respect to additional income generation, as part
of the annual review of the Long-Term Financial Plan

Deliverables
achieved

Ongoing in 16/17

Prudent Financial Management
Develop and review the City’s Long-Term Financial Plan

Implement the City’s Long-Term Financial Plan
Achieve an operating surplus, or maintain a balanced budget approach as a
minimum, at the end of each reporting period

Activity Complete

Periodically review the rate-setting system to ensure that it is fair and equitable

Activity Complete

Adhere to the debt management strategy

Activity Complete

Adhere to the investment management strategy

Activity Complete

Adhere to the cash reserve strategy

Activity Complete

Maximise grant funding to support the City’s priorities

Activity Complete

Implement recommendations of the Procurement Improvement Review

Deliverables
achieved

Ongoing in 16/17

Review and implement the Property Strategy

Deliverables
achieved

Ongoing in 16/17

Develop and implement the Asset Management Strategy

Delayed

Ongoing in 16/17

Develop, review and implement the City’s Asset Management Plans

Activity Complete

Investing for the Future
Manage the City’s financial resources prudently and provide
asset management practices which reflect the community’s
expectations regarding service levels and its ability to pay

Provide efficient systems to enable the delivery of the City services
Provide and operate an efficient and effective point of access for all
infrastructure-related enquires

Activity Complete

Implement the City’s Information Management Strategy

Delayed
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Ongoing in 16/17

2015/16 Strategic Activity

Progress in
2015/16

Map existing business processes, engineer new business processes and
implement technology to support re-engineered business process for Business
Units

Activity Complete

Coordinate the development, implementation and management of a corporate
project management system

Delayed

Implement an improvement program to ensure effectiveness in the delivery of
planning and building approval services

Activity Complete

Plans for
2016/17

Ongoing in 16/17

Develop an integrated approach to the longterm provision of infrastructure
Facilitate a governance mechanism to ensure a consistent City-wide approach
to infrastructure planning

Activity Complete

Employer of Choice
Review and implement the Workforce Plan
Review the City’s Workforce Plan

Deliverables
achieved

Ongoing in 16/17

Implement the Workforce Plan Strategic Actions

Deliverables
achieved

Ongoing in 16/17

Review the City’s services and the organisational structure to determine the most
effective and efficient way of delivering services and achieving the objectives of
the Strategic Community Plan

Delayed

Ongoing in 16/17

Implement the outcomes of the Service and Organisational Review

Delayed

Ongoing in 16/17

Further integrate the City’s Long-Term Financial Plan and Annual Budget with the
City’s Integrated Planning Framework

Deliverables
achieved

Ongoing in 16/17

Improve the integration of the Corporate Business Plan and informing strategies
through the development of an Integrated Planning and Reporting Process Plan

Activity Complete

Develop and review the Strategic Community Plan and Corporate Business Plan
in accordance with legislative requirements and through the process set out in
the City’s Integrated Planning and Reporting Process Plan

Deliverables
achieved

Ongoing in 16/17

Delayed

Ongoing in 16/17

Adopt a strategic approach to partnerships, alliances and advocacy for the
benefit of the City

Deliverables
achieved

Ongoing in 16/17

Foster alliances and partnerships committed to achieving sustainable economic
and social benefits

Activity Complete

Integrated Planning and Reporting
Plan for the future to progress the vision, aspirations
and objectives of the community

Manage performance to achieve continuous improvement
Develop and review a Measurement and Reporting Framework to support
effective implementation and accountable reporting on progress with the City’s
Plan for the Future
Partner of Choice and Persuasive Advocate
Be a partner of choice and a persuasive advocate for the City

Develop and implement strategies for more efficient use and sharing of resources Activity Complete

New Activities 2016/17
Customer Focus
Develop and implement a Customer Service Strategy.
Good Governance
Develop and implement a Risk Management Information System to appropriately record and manage risk within the City.

City of Stirling Annual Report 2015/16 | 133

Indicators of Success – Customer Focus
The Process to Lodge Feedback to the City

Target/Desired Direction

The percentage of surveyed residents who have provided formal feedback to the
City who are satisfied with the process to lodge their feedback.

Increase

Figure 49: Resident Satisfaction with the Process to Lodge Feedback to the City
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The resident satisfaction survey asked respondents whether they had submitted any formal feedback to the City of Stirling
within the previous 12 months. Those who had submitted formal feedback were then asked to rate their satisfaction with the
process to lodge their feedback. 57% of these respondents indicated they were satisfied. This is a two percentage point
reduction when compared to the 2014/15 result and therefore a focus area for the City.
Source: 2016 Annual Resident Satisfaction Survey

The Time Taken by the City to Address Concerns/Feedback

Target/Desired Direction

The percentage of surveyed residents who have provided formal feedback to the
City who are satisfied with the time taken to address their concerns or feedback.

≥70%

Figure 50: Resident Satisfaction with the Time Taken by the City to Address Concerns or Feedback
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The survey respondents who had submitted formal feedback to the City were also asked how satisfied they were with the time
taken to address their feedback. 45% of these respondents indicated that they were satisfied with the time taken, representing
a two percentage points reduction on the 2014/15 result. There is still great scope for the City to improve this result and this is
therefore an important focus area for the City.
Source: 2016 Annual Resident Satisfaction Survey
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Indicators of Success – Good Governance
Annual Compliance Returns

Target/Desired Direction

Number of non-compliance issues in compliance audit return.

0

Table 7: Annual Compliance Returns

Number of issues in compliance audit return

2011/12

2012/13

2013/14

2014/15

2015/16

4

1

2

0

0

The City met its target and did not have any non-compliance issues in its Annual Compliance Return to the Department of
Local Government and Communities in 2015/16. This is the second year out of the last five that the City has met this target.
Source: Department of Local Government & Communities

Compliance with Laws and Regulations

Target/Desired Direction

Number of significant fines and monetary sanctions for non-compliance with
environmental laws and regulations.

0

Number of significant fines and monetary sanctions for non-compliance with laws
and regulations.

0

Table 8: Compliance with Laws and Regulations
2011/12

2012/13

2013/14

2014/15

2015/16

Number of significant fines and monetary
sanctions for non-compliance with
environmental laws and regulations

0

0

0

0

0

Number of significant fines and monetary
sanctions for non-compliance with other laws
and regulations

Not reported

Not reported

0

1

0

The City did not receive any significant fines or monetary sanctions relating to non-compliance with laws and regulations.
Source: City of Stirling

Indicators of Success – Prudent Financial Management
Financial Ratios

Target

Operating Surplus Ratio
operating revenue minus operating expense

0.01 – 0.15

own source operating revenue
Purpose:
This ratio is a measure of a local government’s ability to cover its operational costs and have revenues available for capital
funding or other purposes.
Standards as per WA Department of Local Government:
Basic Standard between 1% and 15% (0.01 and 0.15). Advanced Standard > 15% (>0.15).
Results
2011/12

2012/13

2013/14

2014/15

2015/16

0.1069

0.0913

0.0583

0.1039

0.0500

The City of Stirling met the Standard for Local Governments for all years measured.
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Current Ratio

Target

Current assets minus restricted current assets

>=1

Current liabilities minus liabilities associated with restricted assets
Purpose:
This is a modified commercial ratio designed to focus on the liquidity position of a local government that has arisen from past
year’s transactions.
Standards as per WA Department of Local Government:
The standard is not met if the ratio is lower than 1:1 (less than 100%). The standard is met if the ratio is greater than 1:1 (100%
or greater). A ratio less than 1:1 means that a local government does not have sufficient assets that can be quickly converted
into cash to meet its immediate cash commitments.
Results
2011/12

2012/13

2013/14

2014/15

2015/16

3.5718

2.7306

2.4041

2.9252

3.0831

The City of Stirling met the Standard for Local Governments for all years measured.

Own Source Revenue Coverage Ratio

Target

Own source operating revenue

0.4 – 0.6

Operating expense
Purpose:
This ratio is a measurement of a local government’s ability to cover its costs through its own revenue efforts.
Standards as per WA Department of Local Government:
A basic standard is achieved if the ratio is between 40% and 60% (or 0.4 and 0.6). An Intermediate standard is achieved if the
ratio is between 60% and 90% (or 0.6 and 0.9). An Advanced standard is achieved if the ratio is greater than 90% (or >0.9).
Results
2011/12

2012/13

2013/14

2014/15

2015/16

0.9911

0.9876

0.9811

1.1252

1.0713

The City of Stirling met the Standard for Local Governments for all years measured.

Debt Service Cover Ratio

Target

Annual operating surplus before interest and depreciation

Maintain

Principal and interest
Purpose:
This ratio is a measure of a local government’s ability to repay its debt, including lease payments. The higher the ratio is, the
easier it should be for a local government to obtain a loan.
Standards as per WA Department of Local Government:
A basic standard is achieved if the ratio is greater than or equal to 2. An Advanced standard is achieved if the ratio is greater
than 5.
Results
2011/12

2012/13

2013/14

2014/15

2015/16

0

0

0

0

0

The City of Stirling has no debt and therefore nil ratio score.
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Indicators of Success – Investing for the Future
Asset Management Ratios

Target

Asset Renewal Funding Ratio
Assets renewals

0.75 – 0.95

Depreciation, amortisation and impairment
Purpose:
This ratio is a measure of a local government to fund its projected asset renewal/replacements in the future.
Standards as per WA Department of Local Government:
Standard is met if the ratio is between 75% and 95% (or 0.75 and 0.95). Standard is improving if the ratio is between 95% and
105% (or 0.95 and 1.05), and the Asset Sustainability Ratio falls within the range of 90% to 110%, and Asset Consumption
Ratio falls within the range of 50% to 75%.
Results
2011/12

2012/13

2013/14

2014/15

2015/16

N/A

1.4759

1.9868

1.9464

1.8890

The City of Stirling met the Standard for Local Governments for all years measured.

Asset Consumption Ratios

Target

Depreciated replacement cost of assets

>=0.50

Current replacement cost of depreciated assets
Purpose:
This ratio measures the extent to which depreciable assets have been consumed by comparing their written down value to
their replacement cost.
Standards as per WA Department of Local Government:
Standard is met if the ratio can be measured and is 50% or greater (0.50 or >). Standard is improving if the ratio is between
60% and 75% (0.60 and 0.75).
Results
2011/12

2012/13

2013/14

2014/15

2015/16

N/A

0.6339

0.9105

0.9410

0.9382

The City of Stirling met the Standard for Local Governments for all years measured.

Asset Sustainability Ratio

Target/Desired Direction

Capital renewal and replacement expenditure

>=0.90

Depreciation expense
Purpose:
This ratio indicates whether a local government is replacing or renewing existing non-financial assets at the same time that its
overall asset stock is wearing out.
Standards as per WA Department of Local Government:
Standard is met if the ratio can be measured and is 90% (or 0.90). Standard is improving if this ratio is between 90% and
110% (or 0.90 and 1.10).
Results
2011/12

2012/13

2013/14

2014/15

2015/16

1.8377

2.0858

1.9540

2.7274

2.5187

The City of Stirling met the Standard for Local Governments for all years measured.
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Indicators of Success – Employer of Choice
Annual employee turnover

Target/Desired Direction

Percentage annual employee turnover

≤15%

% Annual employee turnover

Figure 51: Employee Turnover Rate
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The City of Stirling’s employee turnover rate stands at 9.9% for 2015/16, well within the City’s target of ≤15%.
Source: City of Stirling
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Indicators of Success –
Partner of Choice and
Persuasive Advocate
Partnerships and Alliances
The City continued to foster alliances
in 2015/16 and is strongly committed
to developing and maintaining
partnerships to provide sustainable
economic and social benefits for
our community.
Following the announcement by the
Premier in January 2013 to commit $30
million in State Government funding,
the City is working in partnership
with the MRA at the strategic and
operational level on the Scarborough
Redevelopment Project. Planning
Minister John Day released the formally
adopted Master Plan in September
2015, outlining the long-term vision
to transform Scarborough into one of
Australia’s best beachfronts and the
City’s major tourist attraction. In May
2016, the State Government announced
a further injection of $18 million in
the 2016/17 state budget, bringing
the total investment to $75.4 million
dollars. This additional funding is to
reshape the iconic coastal landmark
over the next two years into an exciting,
world-class tourist destination. Along

with the redevelopment works, the
successful partnership with the
Metropolitan Redevelopment Authority
has created many other benefits,
with the City of Stirling approving an
impressive $79 million-worth of private
development applications for the area
in the past two years.

shopping, leisure and living needs.
Overall, the project aims to deliver more
than 2,100 new dwellings and double
the retail, commercial and other floor
space (196,220sqm) by 2031. This will
be facilitated by the release of three
new development sites within the town
centre, offered for sale in 2016.

The City of Stirling also worked with
representatives from Westfield and
AMP to expand retail facilities in the
Stirling City Centre and Karrinyup
Town Centre. Major development
applications were approved by the Joint
Development Assessment Panel during
the year, valued together at nearly $1
billion. The major Karrinyup Shopping
Centre redevelopment and associated
apartment development will cater for
a rising population with diverse needs
and interests. The planned expansion of
Westfield Innaloo will play a significant
part in the transformation of the Stirling
City Centre into Perth’s second CBD.

The City of Stirling also works with
many State Government agencies to
deliver a range of services to support
the needs of the community, including:
• Aged Care Services (HACC)
• Child Protection and Family Support
• Aboriginal Engagement
• Family Services
• Road Safety
• Environment Conservation and
Management
• Community Safety.

The City worked in partnership
with the Departments of Planning,
Transport, Health, Land and Housing
on the development of the Mirrabooka
Town Centre Structure Plan. Stage
3 of the Mirrabooka Town Centre
redevelopment was completed in
2015/16, transforming the area into a
vibrant precinct catering to the region’s
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Service
Performance
Report
This section of the Annual Report
focuses on the City’s performance
in the delivery of City services
and reports against the service
commitments made in the Corporate
Business Plan (2015/16-2018/19).

Overview of the City’s Directorates
Community Development

Planning and Development

The Community Development
Directorate includes Community Safety,
Community Services, Library Services,
Marketing and Communications,
and Recreation and Leisure Services
business units. It has a current total of
267.01 established Full-Time Equivalent
(FTE) positions including 2.50 FTE
Directorate support.

The Planning and Development
Directorate encompasses the
Approvals, City Planning, Economic
Development and Urban Regeneration,
and Health and Compliance business
units. It has a current total of 91.90
established FTE positions, including
2.00 FTE Directorate support.

Infrastructure
The Infrastructure Directorate
encompasses City Building,
Engineering Design, Engineering
Operations, Parks and Reserves, and
Waste and Fleet Services business
units. It has a current total of 383.50
established FTE positions, including
6.00 Directorate support.
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Corporate Services
The Corporate Services Directorate
encompasses the Asset Management,
Corporate Information Services,
Finance Services and Human
Resources business units. It has a
current total of 107.17 established
FTE positions including 2.00 FTE
Directorate support.

Office of the Chief
Executive Officer
The Office of the Chief Executive
Officer includes both Governance
and Council Support and Executive
Services. It has a current total of
44.96 established FTE positions.

Community Safety
Contribution to Strategic Community Plan Objectives

Liveable City
and Thriving
Neighbourhoods

Sustainable
Environment



Engaged
Communities



Accessible and
Connected City

Prosperous City







Making It
Happen



Purpose Statement
To provide services and work to make the City a safer place and implement the City’s paid parking program.

Services and Key Performance Indicators
The key services provided by this business unit are:
• Security Services
• Ranger Services
• Animal Management
• Parking Services.
2011/12

2012/13

2013/14

2014/15

2015/16

2015/16
Target

Average satisfaction rating for the City of Stirling’s
performance in Security Patrols *

7.7

7.4

6.8

7.6

7.4

≥ 7.0

Average satisfaction rating for the City of Stirling’s
performance in Ranger Services *

7.9

7.5

7.1

7.5

7.2

≥ 7.0

Average satisfaction rating for the City of Stirling’s
performance in provision and management of
parking *

Not
captured

7.0

6.6

6.8

6.8

≥ 6.0

* Source: Annual Resident Satisfaction Survey.

Resourcing
Established and Temporary Full-Time and Part-Time Positions Allocated to Provide Services
2014/15 Actual
(at 30 June 2015)

2015/16 Actual
(at 30 June 2016)

2016/17 – 2019/20
Budgeted

Established

58.30

58.30

58.60

Temporary

5.65

6.65

6.70

2015/16 Budget

2015/16 Actual

2016/17 Budget

($7,191,843)

($6,584,927)

($7,584,769)

Direct Expenses

Direct Expenses

#

Direct Expenses refers to operating costs without activity cost-based allocations.

#
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Community Services
Contribution to Strategic Community Plan Objectives

Liveable City
and Thriving
Neighbourhoods

Sustainable
Environment



Engaged
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Prosperous City

Making It
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Purpose Statement
To provide services which support, engage, and improve the quality of life for all sections of the community while providing
real opportunities.

Services and Key Performance Indicators
The key services provided by this business unit are:
• Community Centres
• Disability, Access and
Inclusion Coordination
• Volunteer Services
• Men’s Shed

• Home and Community
Care (HACC) Regional
Assessment
• Aged and Disability Care
Services

• Home and Community
Care Program
• Day Clubs
• Transport Services
• Food Services

2011/12

Average user satisfaction rating for community centres* N/A

• Family Services
• Domestic Violence and
Crisis Accommodation
• Children’s Services.

2012/13

2013/14

2014/15

2015/16

2015/16
Target

N/A

New KPI

88%

89%

80%

Adherence to legislated Disability Access and Inclusion Full
Full
Full
Full
Full
Full
Planning review and reporting cycle (Plan reviewed
adherence adherence adherence adherence adherence adherence
every five years and Report submitted annually)
Average user satisfaction rating for the City of Stirling’s
performance in the provision of services and programs
for seniors and people with disability*

N/A

N/A

New KPI

87%

86%

80%

Average user satisfaction rating for the City of Stirling’s
performance in the provision of services and programs
for families and children*

N/A

N/A

New KPI

96%

96%

80%

Average user satisfaction rating for the City of Stirling’s
performance in the provision of services and programs
supporting our culturally diverse community*

N/A

N/A

New KPI

96%

97%

80%

* Source: City of Stirling Community Services Business Unit – Service User Surveys

Resourcing
Established and Temporary Full-Time and Part -Time Positions Allocated to Provide Services
2014/15 Actual
(at 30 June 2015)

2015/16 Actual
(at 30 June 2016)

2016/17 – 2019/20
Budgeted

Established

71.68

65.29

65.80

Temporary

19.75

32.11

28.80

2015/16 Budget

2015/16 Actual

2016/17 Budget

($11,504,040)

($11,797,366)

($12,354,937)

Direct Expenses

Direct Expenses

#

#

Direct Expenses refers to operating costs without activity cost-based allocations.
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Library Services
Contribution to Strategic Community Plan Objectives
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Purpose Statement
To provide a library and information service which connects the community to information, entertainment and lifelong learning
and provides a history collection and museum which is a living link to the past.

Services and Key Performance Indicators
The key services provided by this business unit are:
• Library and Information Services
• Stirling History Collection and Mount Flora Museum.
2011/12

2012/13

2013/14

2014/15

2015/16

2015/16
Target

Average satisfaction rating for the City of Stirling’s
performance in the provision of libraries *

8.9

8.4

8.1

8.3

8.6

≥ 8.0
(Max 10)

Library book stock loans (all formats) plus
renewals **

1.95
million

1.98
million

1.88
million

1.89
million

1.81
million

1.8 million

* Source: Annual Resident Satisfaction Survey
** Source: State Library Western Australia

Resourcing
Established and Temporary Full-Time and Part-Time Positions Allocated to Provide Services
2014/15 Actual
(at 30 June 2015)

2015/16 Actual
(at 30 June 2016)

2016/17 – 2019/20
Budgeted

Established

62.73

62.73

62.50

Temporary

4.56

4.56

4.60

2015/16 Budget

2015/16 Actual

2016/17 Budget

($7,099,938)

($7,059,896)

($7,513,155)

Direct Expenses

Direct Expenses#

Direct Expenses refers to operating costs without activity cost-based allocations.

#
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Marketing and Communications
Contribution to Strategic Community Plan Objectives
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Purpose Statement
To communicate and promote the City’s decisions and services to the community and other stakeholders and provide a range
of cultural, arts and other events for the community.

Services and Key Performance Indicators
The key services provided by this business unit are:
• Marketing
• Communications
• Arts and Events.
2011/12

2012/13

2013/14

2014/15

2015/16

2015/16
Target

Average satisfaction rating for the City of
Stirling’s performance in keeping residents
informed about important issues and
developments *

Not
captured

7.1

6.5

6.6

6.8

≥ 6.0

Average satisfaction rating for the City of
Stirling’s performance in the provision of
community events and cultural activities *

7.2

7.5

7.5

7.5

7.6

≥ 7.0

* Source: Annual Resident Satisfaction Survey

Resourcing
Established and Temporary Full-Time and Part-Time Positions Allocated to Provide Services
2014/15 Actual
(at 30 June 2015)

2015/16 Actual
(at 30 June 2016)

2016/17 – 2019/20
Budgeted

Established

12.00

12.00

13.70

Temporary

1.22

1.93

0.40

2015/16 Budget

2015/16 Actual

2016/17 Budget

($2,973,641)

($2,989,812)

($3,159,849)

Direct Expenses

Direct Expenses#
#

Direct Expenses refers to operating costs without activity cost-based allocations.

146

Recreation and Leisure Services
Contribution to Strategic Community Plan Objectives

Liveable City
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Purpose Statement
To provide and facilitate a wide range of sport, recreation and healthy lifestyle opportunities for the community through the
delivery of strategic infrastructure planning, facility management, club development, beach services and leisure programming.

Services and Key Performance Indicators
The key services provided by this business unit are:
• Leisure Planning
• Beach Services
• Club Development
• Active Reserves and Sporting and Community Group Buildings
• Hamersley Golf Course
• Community Recreation Centres
• Stirling Leisure Centres
• Stirling Leisure Centres – Aquatic Centres.
2011/12

2012/13

2013/14

2014/15

2015/16

2015/16
Target

Average Satisfaction rating for the City of
Stirling’s performance in the provision of sports
and recreation facilities *

7.8

7.8

7.7

7.8

7.9

≥ 7.0

Average satisfaction rating for the City of
Stirling’s performance with beaches *

8.0

8.1

8.1

8.2

8.2

≥ 8.0

* Source: Annual Resident Satisfaction Survey

Resourcing
Established and Temporary Full-Time and Part-Time Positions Allocated to Provide Services
2014/15 Actual
(at 30 June 2015)

2015/16 Actual
(at 30 June 2016)

2016/17 – 2019/20
Budgeted

Established

66.19

66.19

65.50

Temporary

41.20

41.20

40.00

2015/16 Budget

2015/16 Actual

2016/17 Budget

($12,902,242)

($12,737,549)

($13,001,254)

Direct Expenses

Direct Expenses#

Direct Expenses refers to operating costs without activity cost-based allocations.

#
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City Building
Contribution to Strategic Community Plan Objectives

Liveable City
and Thriving
Neighbourhoods

Sustainable
Environment



Engaged
Communities



Accessible and
Connected City



Prosperous City

Making It
Happen





Purpose Statement
To provide high-quality facilities for the City through operational asset management, planned and reactive facilities
maintenance, and construction and project management of new facilities to meet future needs.

Services and Key Performance Indicators
The key services provided by this business unit are:
• City Building Specialist Services and Assets
• City Building Facilities Management
• City Building Capital Project Management.
Key Performance Indicators

2011/12

Percentage of buildings with a condition rating
of < 4 **

Average satisfaction rating for the City of
Stirling’s performance in the provision of
sports and recreation facilities *

2012/13

2013/14

2014/15

2015/16

2015/16
Target

Data not
22.8%
comparable

Data
collected
threeyearly

Data
collected
threeyearly

90%

Increase

7.8

7.7

7.8

7.9

≥ 7.0 (Max
10)

7.8

** Source: City of Stirling Building Asset Management Plan (2013-2033) * Source: Annual Resident Satisfaction Survey

Resourcing
Established and Temporary Full-Time and Part-Time Positions Allocated to Provide Services
2014/15 Actual
(at 30 June 2015)

2015/16 Actual
(at 30 June 2016)

2016/17 – 2019/20 Budgeted

Established

24.00

24.00

24.00

Temporary

8.66

8.66

9.70

Direct Expenses

Direct Expenses

#

2015/16 Budget

2015/16 Actual

2016/17 Budget

($9,797,071)

($9,170,835)

($9,201,431)

Direct Expenses refers to operating costs without activity cost-based allocations.

#

148

Engineering Design
Contribution to Strategic Community Plan Objectives
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Purpose Statement
To design the infrastructure that enables a high quality of urban life and accessibility.

Services and Key Performance Indicators
The key services provided by this business unit are:
• Engineering Design Asset Management
• Roads Design
• Rights of Way Design
• Drainage Design
• Traffic Management
• Special Projects and Support.

Resourcing
Established and Temporary Full-Time and Part-Time Positions Allocated to Provide Services
2014/15 Actual
(at 30 June 2015)

2015/16 Actual
(at 30 June 2016)

2016/17 – 2019/20
Budgeted

Established

25.50

25.50

25.50

Temporary

2.60

2.60

2.60

2015/16 Budget

2015/16 Actual

2016/17 Budget

($6,222,247)

($6,275,884)

($7,285,333)

Direct Expenses

Direct Expenses

#

Direct Expenses refers to operating costs without activity cost-based allocations.

#
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Engineering Operations
Contribution to Strategic Community Plan Objectives
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Purpose Statement
To provide and maintain infrastructure that enables a high quality of urban life and accessibility, manage compliance in the
road reserve, and promote and facilitate emergency management.

Services and Key Performance Indicators
The key services provided by this business unit are:
• Engineering Operations Management
• Transport Infrastructure Assets, Surveying and Maintenance
• Transport Infrastructure Construction
• Road Reserve Compliance
• Emergency Management.
2011/12

2013/14

2014/15

2015/16

2015/16
Target

Percentage of the road network in a condition Data not
4.5%
rating = 5 (outside intervention level)**
comparable

Data
collected
threeyearly

Data
collected
threeyearly

Data
collected
threeyearly

< 5%

Percentage of pathways in a condition rating
= 5 (outside intervention level)**

Data not
0.01%
comparable

N/A
Data not
available

0.36%

0.34%

< 1%

Kilometres of pathways constructed ***

11.5km

13km

13.6km

13.8km

13.8km

14km

Average satisfaction rating for the City of
Stirling’s performance in the provision and
maintenance of roads *

7.4

7.8

7.3

7.5

7.7

≥ 7.0 (max
10)

Average satisfaction rating for the City of
Stirling’s performance in the provision and
maintenance of stormwater management *

7.0

7.8

7.2

7.2

7.5

≥ 7.0 (max
10)

Average satisfaction rating for the City of
Stirling’s performance in the provision and
maintenance of pedestrian ways *

7.5

7

7.0

7.1

7.4

≥ 7.0 (max
10)

Average satisfaction rating for the City of
Stirling’s performance in the provision and
maintenance of cycle ways *

7.3

7.0

6.7

6.8

6.9

≥ 7.0 (max
10)

Average satisfaction rating for the City of
Stirling’s performance in the provision and
maintenance of street lighting *

6.2

7.8

7.3

7.5

7.3

≥ 7.0 (max
10)

Average satisfaction rating for the City of
Stirling’s performance in the provision and
maintenance of traffic calming and road
safety measures *

Not
captured

Not
captured

6.7

7.0

7.0

≥ 7.0 (max
10)
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2012/13

2011/12

2012/13

2013/14

2014/15

2015/16

2015/16
Target

Average satisfaction rating for the City of
Stirling’s performance in the provision,
maintenance and management of parking *

Not
captured

7.0

6.6

6.8

6.8

≥ 6.0 (max
10)

Emergency and recovery management
arrangements are in place, up to date and
comply with State Emergency Management
policy requirements ****

Full
adherence

Full
adherence

Full
adherence

Full
adherence

Full
adherence

Full
adherence

* Source: Annual Resident Satisfaction Survey. ** Source: City of Stirling Asset Management Plans. ***Source: City of Stirling
Engineering Design Business Unit Records. **** Source: City of Stirling Engineering Operations Business Unit Records.

Resourcing
Established and Temporary Full-Time and Part-Time Positions Allocated to Provide Services
2014/15 Actual
(at 30 June 2015)

2015/16 Actual
(at 30 June 2016)

2016/17 – 2019/20
Budgeted

Established

89.50

89.50

89.50

Temporary

12.97

12.22

9.20

2015/16 Budget

2015/16 Actual

2016/17 Budget

($7,882,541)

($7,836,290)

($8,549,758)

Direct Expenses

Direct Expenses#

Direct Expenses refers to operating costs without activity cost-based allocations.

#
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Parks and Reserves
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Purpose Statement
To provide attractive, safe and well-maintained parks, natural areas and streetscapes for passive and active recreation that
enables quality urban life, while protecting and conserving the natural environment.

Services and Key Performance Indicators
The key services provided by this business unit are:
• Parks, Reserves and Streetscapes
• Parks Operations
• Parks: Landscape Architecture, Design and Construction
• Parks Irrigation
• Natural Area Management
• Tree Services.
2011/12

2012/13

2013/14

2014/15

2015/16

2015/16
Target

Average satisfaction rating for the City of Stirling’s
performance with parks and reserves*

8.1

8.1

8.0

7.9

8.1

≥ 8.0

Average satisfaction rating for the City of Stirling’s
performance with beaches *

8.0

8.1

8.0

8.2

8.2

≥ 8.0
(max 10)

Average satisfaction rating for the City of Stirling’s
performance with streetscapes and overall City
appearance *

Not
captured

Not
captured

7.0

7.2

7.2

≥ 7.0
(max 10)

* Source: Annual Resident Satisfaction Survey

Resourcing
Established and Temporary Full-Time and Part-Time Positions Allocated to Provide Services
2014/15 Actual
(at 30 June 2015)

2015/16 Actual
(at 30 June 2016)

2016/17 – 2019/20
Budgeted

Established

147.00

147.50

147.50

Temporary

8.88

7.54

8.00

2015/16 Budget

2015/16 Actual

2016/17 Budget

($27,014,401)

($27,037,804)

($28,074,596)

Direct Expenses

Direct Expenses

#

#

Direct Expenses refers to operating costs without activity cost-based allocations.
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Waste and Fleet
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Purpose Statement
To provide waste collection, recycling, disposal and cleaning services for residential and non-residential premises, streets,
beaches and reserves, and to manage the City’s vehicle fleet.

Services and Key Performance Indicators
The key services provided by this business unit are:
• Household Waste Collection
• Commercial Waste Collection
• Verge Collection

• Road Sweeping and Public
Convenience Cleaning
• Recovery and Recycling

• Beach Cleaning
• Fleet Management.

2011/12

2012/13

2013/14

2014/15

2015/16

2015/16
Target

Average satisfaction rating for the City of
Stirling’s performance with waste management
and recycling services*

8.3

8.0

7.3

7.3

8.0

≥ 7.0
(max 10)

Percentage of municipal (residential) solid
waste, presented for collection, diverted from
landfill ***

59%

63%

35%

34%

44%

50% **
(30 June 15)

Percentage of commercial and industrial waste
collection diverted from landfill

0%

0%

0%

0%

21%

70% by
June 2020

Percentage of construction and demolition
waste, presented for collection, diverted from
landfill ***

80%

100%

100%

100%

100%

60% **
(30 June 15)

Percentage of total waste recovered ***

45%

75% **
(30 June 20)
48%

33%

36%

48%

50%

* Source: Annual Resident Satisfaction Survey ** Source: Western Australia State Government Targets for Local Government.
*** Source: City of Stirling Mandalay Weighbridge System and contractor spreadsheets.

Resourcing
Established and Temporary Full-Time and Part-Time Positions Allocated to Provide Services
2014/15 Actual
(at 30 June 2015)

2015/16 Actual
(at 30 June 2016)

2016/17 – 2019/20
Budgeted

Established

91.00

91.00

90.00

Temporary

3.50

1.50

2.50

2015/16 Budget

2015/16 Actual

2016/17 Budget

($35,738,936)

($34,875,300)

($36,766,167)

Direct Expenses

Direct Expenses

#

Direct Expenses refers to operating costs without activity cost-based allocations.

#
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Purpose Statement
To facilitate development within the City and enhance the quality of the built form by providing an effective, prompt and
efficient approvals service.

Services and Key Performance Indicators
The key services provided by this business unit are:
• Planning Applications
• Building Applications.
2011/12

2012/13

2013/14

2014/15

2015/16

2015/16
Target

Average satisfaction rating for the City of Stirling’s
performance in providing the building or planning
approvals service*

6.0

6.0

5.0

5.7

5.9

≥ 6.0
(max 10)

Percentage of development applications
processed within regulatory time frames **

N/A

N/A

New KPI

66%

84%

100%

Percentage of building permit applications
processed within regulatory time frames**

N/A

New KPI

98.5%

99.3%

Certified
99.95%

100%

Uncertified
99.54%

* Source: Annual Resident Satisfaction Survey ** Source: City of Stirling Approvals Business Unit Records

Resourcing
Established and Temporary Full-Time and Part-Time Positions Allocated to Provide Services
2014/15 Actual
(at 30 June 2015)

2015/16 Actual
(at 30 June 2016)

2016/17 – 2019/20
Budgeted

Established

38.50

38.50

38.50

Temporary

11.10

11.10

11.10

2015/16 Budget

2015/16 Actual

2016/17 Budget

($5,852,914)

($5,692,149)

($6,261,878)

Direct Expenses

Direct Expenses

#

#

Direct Expenses refers to operating costs without activity cost-based allocations.
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Purpose Statement
To create liveable communities and places through strategic land use planning.

Services and Key Performance Indicators
The key services provided by this business unit are:
• Strategic Land Use Planning
• Land Use Planning Schemes and Policies
• Heritage Conservation.

Average satisfaction rating of surveyed residents
with their local neighbourhood overall*

2011/12

2012/13

2013/14

2014/15

2015/16

2015/16
Target

Not
measured

8

7.7

Not
measured

7.8

≥7

* Source: Annual Resident Satisfaction Survey

Resourcing
Established and Temporary Full-Time and Part-Time Positions Allocated to Provide Services
2014/15 Actual
(at 30 June 2015)

2015/16 Actual
(at 30 June 2016)

2016/17 – 2019/20
Budgeted

Established

13.40

12.40

12.40

Temporary

2.32

2.32

2.32

2015/16 Budget

2015/16 Actual

2016/17 Budget

($2,938,397)

($2,638,894)

($3,345,544)

Direct Expenses

Direct Expenses#

Direct Expenses refers to operating costs without activity cost-based allocations.

#

City of Stirling Annual Report 2015/16 | 155

Economic Development and
Urban Regeneration
Contribution to Strategic Community Plan Objectives

Liveable City
and Thriving
Neighbourhoods

Sustainable
Environment



Engaged
Communities



Accessible and
Connected City

Prosperous City







Making It
Happen



Purpose Statement
To create a liveable and prosperous City through economic and tourism development and urban regeneration projects. To
provide corporate and community programs to enable people to live and work more sustainably. To develop and implement a
Corporate Project Management framework.

Services and Key Performance Indicators
The key services provided by this business unit are:
• Economic and Tourism Development

• Corporate Project Management

• Urban Regeneration

• Corporate Sustainability

• Community Sustainability.

2011/12

2012/13

2013/14

2014/15

2015/16

2015/16
Target

Percentage of surveyed residents who would
consider a location in the City of Stirling if they
were starting or purchasing a business*

60%

52%

48%

53%

64%

≥ 50%

Percentage of surveyed residents who agree
that the City of Stirling is environmentally
conscious*

61%

60%

54%

55%

70%

≥ 60%

Climate Change Adaptation Plan in place**

N/A

Plan in
place

Plan in
place

Plan in
place

Plan in
place

Plan in
place

* Source: Annual Resident Satisfaction Survey ** Source: City of Stirling Economic Development and Urban Regeneration
Business Unit records

Resourcing
Established and Temporary Full-Time and Part-Time Positions Allocated to Provide Services
2014/15 Actual
(at 30 June 2015)

2015/16 Actual
(at 30 June 2016)

2016/17 – 2019/20
Budgeted

Established

8.00

8.00

8.00

Temporary

0.00

0.60

0.00

2015/16 Budget

2015/16 Actual

2016/17 Budget

($1,527,074)

($1,419,021)

($1,951,227)

Direct Expenses

Direct Expenses

#

#

Direct Expenses refers to operating costs without activity cost-based allocations
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Health and Compliance
Contribution to Strategic Community Plan Objectives

Liveable City
and Thriving
Neighbourhoods

Sustainable
Environment



Engaged
Communities



Accessible and
Connected City

Prosperous City







Making It
Happen



Purpose Statement
To provide effective and efficient regulatory and compliance services for the benefit of the community.

Services and Key Performance Indicators
The key services provided by this business unit are:
• Environmental Health
• Statutory Compliance.
2011/12

2012/13

2013/14

2014/15

2015/16

2015/16
Target

Average satisfaction rating for the City of
Stirling’s performance in the management of
pollution and noise complaints*

6.4

7.2

6.7

7.0

7.1

≥ 7.0
(Max 10)

Percentage of statutory inspections conducted
within required timeframes **

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

Percentage of swimming pools and spas
inspected for barrier compliance under
legislated requirements**

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

Percentage of applications processed within
legislated timeframes**

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

* Source: Annual Resident Satisfaction Survey ** Source: City of Stirling Health and Compliance Business Unit Records.

Resourcing
Established and Temporary Full-Time and Part-Time Positions Allocated to Provide Services
2014/15 Actual
(at 30 June 2015)

2015/16 Actual
(at 30 June 2016)

2016/17 – 2019/20
Budgeted

Established

30.00

31.00

31.00

Temporary

5.35

4.65

4.40

2015/16 Budget

2015/16 Actual

2016/17 Budget

($4,229,313)

($4,191,315)

($4,599,662)

Direct Expenses

Direct Expenses

#

Direct Expenses refers to operating costs without activity cost-based allocations

#
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Asset Management
Contribution to Strategic Community Plan Objectives

Liveable City
and Thriving
Neighbourhoods

Sustainable
Environment



Engaged
Communities



Accessible and
Connected City

Prosperous City







Making It
Happen



Purpose Statement
To develop and maintain an Asset Management Framework that ensures the City can sustainably provide high levels of service
to the community.

Services and Key Performance Indicators
The key services provided by this business unit are:
• Corporate Asset Management
• Property Strategy Investment Management
• Land and Property Management.

Asset Management Framework that meets
legislative requirements and Department of
Local Government and Communities guides
are in place and regularly reviewed*

2011/12

2012/13

2013/14

2014/15

N/A

N/A

Strategy
in place

Plans in
place

Property Strategy reviewed annually*
Asset Sustainability Ratio**
Capital renewal and replacement expenditure

2015/16

2015/16
Target
Framework Maintain
in progress

Strategy
reviewed

Maintain

N/A

N/A

1.954

2.7274

2.5187

>=0.90

N/A

N/A

0.9105

0.9410

0.9382

>=0.50

N/A

N/A

1.9868

1.9464

1.8890

0.75 –
0.95

Depreciation expense
Asset Consumption Ratio**
Depreciated replacement cost of assets
Current replacement cost of depreciated assets
Asset Renewal Funding Ratio**
Assets renewals
Depreciation, amortisation and impairment
* Source: City of Stirling Asset Management Business Unit records.
** Source: City of Stirling Finance Services Business Unit records

Resourcing
Established and Temporary Full-Time and Part-Time Positions Allocated to Provide Services
2014/15 Actual
(at 30 June 2015)

2015/16 Actual
(at 30 June 2016)

2016/17 – 2019/20
Budgeted

Established

6.00

6.00

8.00

Temporary

1.50

3.00

0.00

2015/16 Budget

2015/16 Actual

2016/17 Budget

(1,558,186)

(2,471,833)

(1,564,884)

Direct Expenses
Direct Expenses

#

#

Direct Expenses refers to operating costs without activity cost-based allocations
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Corporate Information Services
Contribution to Strategic Community Plan Objectives

Liveable City
and Thriving
Neighbourhoods

Sustainable
Environment

Engaged
Communities

Accessible and
Connected City

Prosperous City

Making It
Happen





Purpose Statement
To manage the City’s Information and Communication Technology.

Services and Key Performance Indicators
The key services provided by this business unit are:
• Information and
Communication
Technology (ICT)
• CIS Operations

• Web Administration
• Business Systems
Development,
Maintenance and Support

• CIS Project Management
• CIS Solutions Architecture
• CIS Infrastructure and
Network

• E-Business and Web
Administration
• Records Management.

2011/12

2012/13

2013/14

2014/15

2015/16

2015/16
Target

Strategic Information
Management Plan is reviewed
annually**

Strategic
Information

Strategic
Information

Strategic
Information

Strategic
Information

Strategic
Information

Maintain

Adherence to Legislated
Record Keeping Plan review
cycle (every five years)**

Full
adherence

Full
adherence

Full
adherence

Full
adherence

Full
adherence

Full
adherence

Record Keeping Plan:
N/A
Adherence to the State Records
Commission Standard 2,
Principal 6 requirements (State
Records Commission Standard
2, Record Keeping Plans, 2002)**

New KPI

Full
adherence

Full
adherence

Full
adherence

Full
adherence

Percentage of surveyed
residents, who had visited the
City of Stirling’s website, who
found the website easy to use
and navigate*

Not captured

83%

Not captured

Not captured

≥ 80%

Management Plan
(13-17) developed

Not captured

Management Plan
(13-17) maintained

Management Plan
(13-17) developed

Management Plan
(13-17) maintained

Management Plan
(13-17) updated

* Source: Annual Resident Satisfaction Survey ** Source: City of Stirling Corporate Information Services Business Unit records

Resourcing
Established and Temporary Full-Time and Part-Time Positions Allocated to Provide Services
2014/15 Actual
(at 30 June 2015)

2015/16 Actual
(at 30 June 2016)

2016/17 – 2019/20
Budgeted

Established

43.17

43.17

36.59***

Temporary

7.30

4.30

4.20

***The change in FTE in 2016/ 2017 is due to the Records Unit moving from the CIS Business Unit into the Governance and
Council Support Business Unit
Direct Expenses
Direct Expenses#

2015/16 Budget

2015/16 Actual

2016/17 Budget

($7,930,383)

($7,740,414)

(7,443,485)

Direct Expenses refers to operating costs without activity cost-based allocations

#
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Finance Services
Contribution to Strategic Community Plan Objectives

Liveable City
and Thriving
Neighbourhoods

Sustainable
Environment

Engaged
Communities

Accessible and
Connected City

Prosperous City

Making It
Happen


Purpose Statement
To manage the City’s finances prudently, to maintain the City’s financial wellbeing and to achieve value for money in the City’s
purchasing and procurement.

Services and Key Performance Indicators
The key services provided by this business unit are:
• Expenditure Services
• Rates and Receivables
• Revenue and Investments

• Purchasing, Procurement and
Contract Management.

• Financial Planning

A Long-Term Financial Plan (LTFP) that meets
the Department of Local Government and
Community guidelines is in place*
Current Ratio*
Current assets minus restricted current assets

2011/12

2012/13

2013/14

2014/15

2015/16

2015/16
Target

N/A

N/A

LTFP is in
place

LTFP is in
place

LTFP is in
place

Maintain

3.5718

2.7306

2.4041

2.9252

3.0831

>=1

0.1069

0.0913

0.0583

0.1039

0.0500

0.01-0.15

0.9911

0.9876

0.9811

1.1252

1.0713

0.4-0.6

Current liabilities minus liabilities associated
with restricted assets
Operating Surplus Ratio*
Operating revenue minus operating expense
Own source operating revenue
Own source Revenue Coverage*
Own source operating revenue
Operating expense
The Annual Financial Report fairly presents
Unqualified Unqualified Unqualified Unqualified Unqualified Unqualified
the financial position of the City of Stirling and
Audit
Audit
Audit
Audit
Audit
Audit
complies with Australian Accounting Standards*
* Source: City of Stirling Finance Services Business Unit Records.

Resourcing
Established and Temporary Full-Time and Part-Time Positions Allocated to Provide Services
2014/15 Actual
(at 30 June 2015)

2015/16 Actual
(at 30 June 2016)

2016/17 – 2019/20
Budgeted

Established

40.00

40.00

39.50

Temporary

3.40

4.40

3.40

2015/16 Budget

2015/16 Actual

2016/17 Budget

($6,322,030)

($5,943,230)

($7,556,087)

Direct Expenses
Direct Expenses#
#

Direct Expenses refers to operating costs without activity cost-based allocations
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Human Resources
Contribution to Strategic Community Plan Objectives

Liveable City
and Thriving
Neighbourhoods

Sustainable
Environment

Engaged
Communities

Accessible and
Connected City

Prosperous City

Making It
Happen


Purpose Statement
To provide a range of operational, advisory and strategic human resource services and programs which enable the City to
attract, develop and retain employees to support the City in meeting its vision and mission.

Services and Key Performance Indicators
The key services provided by this business unit are:
• Employee Relations

• Corporate Learning and Development

• Resourcing

• Occupational Safety and Health

• Payroll and Superannuation

• Corporate Risk Management.
2011/12

2012/13

2013/14

2014/15

2015/16

2015/16
Target

A Workforce Plan that meets the
Department of Local Government and
Communities Advisory Standard*

N/A

N/A

Workforce
Maintain
Workforce
Workforce
plan in place
plan in place plan
reviewed
and in place

Percentage Annual employee turnover*

12.9%

11.2%

11.9%

10.7%

9.9%

≤15%

Lost Time Injury Frequency Rate*

N/A

N/A

N/A

5.75

15.48

Decrease

The City is accredited for Occupational
N/A
Safety and Health System in terms of the
AS/NZS 4801-2001 standard*

N/A

N/A

Working
Working
Accreditation
towards
towards
accreditation accreditation

* Source: City of Stirling Human Resources Business Unit records.

Resourcing
Established and Temporary Full-Time and Part-Time Positions Allocated to Provide Services
2014/15 Actual
(at 30 June 2015)

2015/16 Actual
(at 30 June 2016)

2016/17 – 2019/20
Budgeted

Established

16.00

16.00

16.00

Temporary

6.30

6.00

3.20

2015/16 Budget

2015/16 Actual

2016/17 Budget

($3,406,922)

($3,208,036)

($3,497,938)

Direct Expenses
Direct Expenses#

Direct Expenses refers to operating costs without activity cost-based allocations

#
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Executive Services
Contribution to Strategic Community Plan Objectives

Liveable City
and Thriving
Neighbourhoods

Sustainable
Environment

Engaged
Communities

Accessible and
Connected City

Prosperous City

Making It
Happen


Purpose Statement
To provide high-level support to the Chief Executive Officer, the Executive Team and the Mayor. To provide corporate strategic
planning services and an internal audit function.

Services and Key Performance Indicators
The key services provided by this business unit are:
• Advocacy, Partnerships and Alliances
• Integrated Planning and Reporting
• Internal Audit.
2011/12

2012/13

2013/14

A Strategic Community Plan and Corporate
Business Plan have been adopted, modified or
updated by an absolute majority of Council **

N/A

Full
Full
Full
Full
Full
adherence adherence adherence adherence adherence

Percentage of surveyed residents, who are
satisfied with the overall services provided by
the City of Stirling*

89%

91%

86%

2014/15

93%

2015/16

91%

2015/16
Target

≥ 80%

* Source: Annual Resident Satisfaction Survey *** Source: City of Stirling Council Meeting Minutes

Resourcing
Established and Temporary Full-Time and Part-Time Positions Allocated to Provide Services
2014/15 Actual
(at 30 June 2015)

2015/16 Actual
(at 30 June 2016)

2016/17 – 2019/20
Budgeted

Established

6.00

6.00

6.10

Temporary

1.00

0.60

0.00

2015/16 Budget

2015/16 Actual

2016/17 Budget

($2,093,169)

($1,970,615)

($2,091,296)

Direct Expenses
Direct Expenses

#

#

Direct Expenses refers to operating costs without activity cost-based allocations
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Governance and Council Support
Contribution to Strategic Community Plan Objectives

Liveable City
and Thriving
Neighbourhoods

Sustainable
Environment

Engaged
Communities

Accessible and
Connected City

Prosperous City

Making It
Happen


Purpose Statement
To support the Council’s decision-making process and ensure compliance with statutory requirements. Provide customer
contact channels for the City and lead customer focus across the organisation. Coordinate the delivery of civic hospitality.

Services and Key Performance Indicators
The key services provided by this business unit are:
• Governance

• Service Improvement

• Corporate Compliance

• Civic and Council Support

• Customer Service

• Civic Hospitality
2011/12

2012/13

2013/14

2014/15

2015/16

2015/16
Target

Percentage of surveyed residents who agree
that the City of Stirling is accountable for its
actions*

74%

60%

50%

58%

58%

≥ 60%

Number of non-compliance issues in the
Department of Local Government and
Communities Compliance Audit Return

4

1

2

0

0

0

Percentage of mystery shopping across the
organisation where staff comply with the
Customer Service Standards **

N/A

Data not
87%
comparable

91.1%

90.4%

90%

* Source: Annual Resident Satisfaction Survey ** Source: Independent Mystery Shopping Survey

Resourcing
Established and Temporary Full-Time and Part-Time Positions Allocated to Provide Services
2014/15 Actual
(at 30 June 2015)

2015/16 Actual
(at 30 June 2016)

2016/17 – 2019/20
Budgeted

Established

38.96

38.96

46.41***

Temporary

4.32

4.65

4.80

***The change in FTE in 2016/17 is due to the Records Unit moving from the Corporate Information Services Business Unit into
the Governance and Council Support Business Unit.
Direct Expenses
Direct Expenses

#

2015/16 Budget

2015/16 Actual

2016/17 Budget

($6,980,309)

($6,051,011)

(7,601,055)

Direct Expenses refers to operating costs without activity cost-based allocations

#
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Statements
and Indexes
In this section you will find information
related to the City’s Global Reporting
Initiative (GRI) performance, a
glossary and listing of acronyms used
throughout the Annual Report, an
index of figures and tables, and the
comprehensive Financial Statements.

Global Reporting Initiative (GRI)
The Global Reporting Initiative (GRI) develops globally applicable Sustainability Reporting Guidelines for voluntary use by
organisations via annual reporting. The table below presents the City’s assessment of the materiality of the GRI's aspects
and the boundaries that are relevant. Materiality refers to the assessment of the City’s significant economic, environmental
and social impacts that are deemed important by either the City or its stakeholders. It is understood that all material aspects
should be reported on in the annual reporting process.
GRI aspects are categories of standardised reporting measures, and the table below indicates the current materiality and
reporting status relating to those aspects. Where the City has indicated that the aspect is material but no reporting is taking
place, this represents an area for improvement. In some cases, the City is not reporting on all measures within an aspect and
this is indicated by ‘partial reporting’. The City has chosen to consider the boundaries of reporting to include impacts that
occur either ‘directly’ or ‘indirectly’. For example, impacts may result indirectly from outside the City’s operations, in the City’s
supply chain, from partner organisations or from the community.

Materiality Table
Reporting Aspect
Economic Performance

Direct material impact
from the City

Indirect material impact
from the City (supply chain,
partners, community)



Market Presence
Indirect Economic Impacts
Procurement Practices
Materials
Energy
Water
Biodiversity
Emissions
Effluents and Waste
Products and Services
Compliance
Transport
Total Environmental
Expenditures and
Investments
Supplier Environmental
Assessment
Environmental Grievance
Mechanisms
Employment
Labour and Management
Relations
Occupational Health and
Safety
Training and Education

166

Not currently a material
impact from the City
































Reporting Aspect
Diversity and Equal
Opportunity
Equal Remuneration for
Women and Men
Supplier Assessment for
Labour Practices
Labour Practices Grievance
Mechanisms
Investment and Human
Rights
Non-Discrimination
Freedom of Association and
Collective Bargaining
Child Labour
Forced or Compulsory
Labour
Security Practices
Indigenous Rights

Direct material impact
from the City

Indirect material impact
from the City (supply chain,
partners, community)













Human Rights Assessment
Supplier Human Rights
Assessment
Human Rights Grievance
Mechanisms
Local Communities
Anti-Corruption







Public Policy




Anti-Competitive Behaviour
Compliance - Laws and
Regulations
Supplier Assessment of
Impacts on Society
Grievance Mechanisms of
Impacts on Society
Customer Health and Safety
Product and Service
Labelling
Marketing Communications

Not currently a material
impact from the City











Customer Privacy



Compliance - Products and
Services



Key
Full Reporting
Partial Reporting
No Reporting
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GRI Index
General Disclosures
Standard
Disclosure

Standard Disclosure Title

Section

Strategy and Analysis
G4-1

CEO statement

CEO’s Message

G4-2

Key Impacts and Opportunities

Performance Highlights
Against Outcomes

G4-3

Name of Organisation

Front Cover

G4-4

Primary brands, products, and services

Strategic Performance Report

G4-5

Location of the organisation’s headquarters

Inside Front Cover

G4-6

Organisational Boundaries

Snapshot of Stirling

G4-7

Nature of ownership and legal form

Council Governance

G4-8

Markets served (including geographic breakdown, sectors
served, and types of customers and beneficiaries)

Snapshot of Stirling

G4-9

Scale of Organisation

Our People

Organisational
Profile

Overview of the City’s Directorates
G4-10

Employee Statistics

Our People

G4-11

Percentage of total employees covered by collective bargaining
agreements

Our People

G4-12

Describe the organisation’s supply chain

Director Corporate Services Report

G4-13

Significant changes during the reporting period

CEO’s Message
Mayor’s Message
Director Corporate Services Report

G4-14

Report how the precautionary approach or principle is addressed
by the organisation

Our Commitment to Sustainability

Identified Material Aspects and Boundaries
G4-17

Financial Statements

Director Corporate Services Report

G4-18

Report Content and Aspect Boundaries

Materiality Table

G4-19

Material Aspects

Materiality Table

G4-20

Aspect Boundaries within organisation

Materiality Table

G4-21

Aspect Boundaries outside organisation

Materiality Table

G4-22

Restatements from previous reports

None

G4-23

Significant changes in scope and aspect boundaries

None

GRI Index
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Standard
Disclosure

Standard Disclosure Title

Section

Stakeholder Engagement
G4-24

Stakeholder List

Connecting with the Community

G4-25

Basis for stakeholder identification

Connecting with the Community

G4-26

Approach to stakeholder engagement

Connecting with the Community

G4-27

Key topics and concerns

Strategic Performance Report

G4-28

Reporting Period

Front Cover

G4-29

Date of most recent previous report

November 2015

G4-30

Reporting Cycle

Annual

G4-31

Contact details for questions

Welcome

G4-32

GRI content index and assurances

GRI Index

G4-33

Assurance Details

Why have an Annual Report

Governance Structure

About the Organisation

Report Profile

Materiality Table
Governance
G4-34

Democracy in the City of Stirling
G4-35

Delegating Authority

About the Organisation

G4-36

Executive-level responsible for economic, environmental and
social topics

Executive Profiles

G4-37

Consultation process for economic, environmental and social
topics

Connecting with the Community

G4-38

Composition of governance body

Councillor Profiles

G4-39

Chairperson

Councillor Profiles

G4-40

Nomination and selection process for governance body

Council Elections

G4-41

Processes in place to ensure that conflicts of interest are avoided

Code of Conduct

G4-42

Report the highest governance body’s and senior executives’
roles in the development, approval, and updating of the Strategic
Community Plan

Councillor Profiles

G4-45

Highest governance body’s role in the identification and
management of economic, environmental and social impacts,
risks, and opportunities

Council Meetings

G4-46

Highest governance body’s role in reviewing the effectiveness
of the organisation’s risk management processes for economic,
environmental and social topics

Risk Management

G4-49

Process for communicating critical concerns to the highest
governance body

Council Meetings

G4-51

Remuneration policies for the highest governance body and
senior executives

Our People

G4-52

Process for determining remuneration

Our People

Council Meetings
Executive Profiles

Executive Profiles

Ethics and Integrity
G4-56

Describe the organisation’s values, principles, standards and
norms of behaviour such as codes of conduct and codes of ethics

The City’s Leadership Approach

G4-57

Internal and external mechanisms for seeking advice on ethical
and lawful behaviour, and matters related to organisational
integrity, such as helplines or advice lines

Corporate Governance

Internal and external mechanisms for reporting concerns
about unethical or unlawful behaviour, and matters related
to organisational integrity, such as escalation through line
management, whistleblowing mechanisms or hotlines

Corporate Governance

G4-58

The Audit Committee

The Audit Committee
Code of Conduct
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Specific Standard Disclosures
Standard
Disclosure

Standard Disclosure Title

Section

Category: Economic
Aspect: Economic Performance
G4-EC1

Direct economic value generated and distributed

Director Corporate Services Report Financial
Statements

G4-EC4

Financial assistance received from government

Director Corporate Services Report
Financial Statements
External Grants

Aspect: Indirect Economic Impacts
G4-EC7

Development and impact of infrastructure
investments and services supported

Strategic Plan Reporting

G4-EC8

Significant indirect economic impacts, including
the extent of impacts

Prosperous City

Aspect: Procurement Practices
G4-DMA

Generic Disclosures on Management Approach

Statement of Business Ethics
Sustainable Procurement and Responsible
Investment

Category: Environmental
Aspect: Materials
G4-EN2

Percentage of materials used that are recycled
input materials

Objective 2.1 Clean and Waste Wise City

G4-EN3

Energy consumption within the organisation

Objective 2.2: Energy Wise City

G4-EN6

Reduction of energy consumption

Objective 2.2: Energy Wise City

Total water withdrawal by source

Objective 2.3: Water Wise City

Aspect: Energy

Aspect: Water
G4-EN8

Aspect: Biodiversity
G4-EN12

Description of significant impacts of activities,
products, and services on biodiversity in protected
areas and areas of high biodiversity value outside
protected areas

Objective 2.4: Wildlife and Natural Habitat

G4-EN13

Habitats protected or restored

Objective 2.4: Wildlife and Natural Habitat

Aspect: Emissions
G4-EN15

Direct greenhouse gas (GHG) emissions (Scope 1)

Objective 2.2: Energy Wise City

G4-EN16

Energy indirect greenhouse gas (GHG) emissions
(Scope 2)

Objective 2.2: Energy Wise City

G4-EN17

Other indirect greenhouse gas (GHG) emissions
(Scope 3)

Objective 2.2: Energy Wise City

G4-EN19

Reduction of greenhouse gas (GHG) emissions

Objective 2.2: Energy Wise City

Aspect: Effluents and Waste
G4-EN23

Total weight of waste by type and disposal method

Objective 2.1 Clean and Waste Wise City

G4-EN25

Weight of transported, imported, exported, or
treated waste deemed hazardous under the terms
of the Basel Convention Annex I, II, III, and VIII,
and percentage of transported waste shipped
internationally

Objective 2.1 Clean and Waste Wise City

Aspect: Products and Services
G4-EN27

Extent of impact mitigation of environmental
impacts of products and services

Sustainable Procurement and Responsible
Investment
Theme 1: Sustainable Environment

170

Standard
Disclosure

Standard Disclosure Title

Section

Aspect: Compliance
G4-EN29

Monetary value of significant fines and total
number of non-monetary sanctions for noncompliance with environmental laws and
regulations

None

Significant environmental impacts of transporting
products and other goods and materials for
the organisation’s operations, and transporting
members of the workforce

Objective 2.2: Energy Wise City

Aspect: Transport
G4-EN30

Aspect: Supplier Environmental Assessment
G4-EN32

Percentage of new suppliers that were screened
using environmental criteria

Sustainable Procurement and Responsible
Investment

Aspect: Employment
G4-LA1

Employee full-time equivalent, age profile, gender
profile and turnover

Our People

G4-LA2

Benefits provided to full-time employees that are
not provided to temporary or part-time employees,
by significant locations of operation

Our People

Aspect: Labour/Management Relations
G4-LA4

Minimum notice periods regarding operational
changes, including whether these are specified in
collective agreements

Our People

Aspect: Occupational Health and Safety
G4-LA5

Percentage of total workforce represented in health Employee Safety, Health and Wellbeing
and safety committees

G4-LA6

Rates of Injury and Lost Days

Our People

Aspect: Training and Education
G4-LA9

Employee training

Learning and Development

Aspect: Diversity and Equal Opportunity
G4-LA12”

Composition of governance bodies and
breakdown of employees per employee category
according to gender

Our People

Aspect: Equal Remuneration for Women and Men
G4-LA13

Ratio of basic salary and remuneration of women
to men by employee category, by significant
locations of operation

Our People

Aspect: Supplier Assessment for Labour Practices
G4-LA14

Percentage of new suppliers that were screened
using labour practices criteria

Sustainable Procurement and Responsible
Investment

Aspect: Labour Practices Grievance Mechanisms
G4-LA16

Grievances about labour practices addressed
through formal grievance mechanisms

Working at the City
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Sub-Category: Human Rights
Standard
Disclosure

Standard Disclosure Title

Section

Aspect: Non-Discrimination
G4-HR3

Total number of incidents of discrimination and
corrective actions taken

Employee Safety, Health and Wellbeing

Aspect: Child Labour
G4-HR5

Operations and suppliers identified as having
significant risk for incidents of child labour, and
measures taken to contribute to the effective
abolition of child labour

Sustainable Procurement and Responsible
Investment

Aspect: Forced or Compulsory Labour
G4-HR6

Code of Conduct
Operations and suppliers identified as having
significant risk for incidents of forced or
Sustainable Procurement and Responsible
compulsory labour, and measures to contribute to
Investment
the elimination of all forms of forced or compulsory
labour

Aspect: Supplier Human Rights Assessment
G4-HR10

Percentage of new suppliers that were screened
using human rights criteria

Sustainable Procurement and Responsible
Investment

Sub-Category: Society
Aspect: Local Communities
G4-SO1

Percentage of operations with implemented local
Connecting with the Community
community engagement, impact assessments, and
Strategic Plan Reporting
development programs

Aspect: Anti-Corruption
G4-SO4

Communication and training on anti-corruption
policies and procedures

Code of Conduct

G4-SO5

Confirmed incidents of corruption and actions
taken

Code of Conduct

Aspect: Compliance
G4-SO8

Monetary value of significant fines and total
number of non-monetary sanctions for noncompliance with laws and regulations

Objective 6.2: Good Governance

Sub-Category: Product Responsibility
Aspect: Product and Service Labelling
G4-PR5

Results of surveys measuring customer
satisfaction

Strategic Plan Reporting

Aspect: Compliance
G4-PR9
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Monetary value of significant fines for noncompliance with laws and regulations concerning
the provision and use of products and services

Objective 6.2: Good Governance

Acronyms
ACF:

Animal Care Facility

AMS:

Asset Management Strategy

CALD:

Culturally and Linguistically Diverse Backgrounds

CCTV:

Closed Circuit Television

CEEP:

Community Energy Efficiency Program

CPTED:

Crime Prevention Through Environmental Design

EEO:

Equal Employment Opportunity

FTE:

Full-Time Equivalent

GHGs:

Green House Gases

GRI:

Global Reporting Initiative indicators

HACC:

Home and Community Care

JP:

Justice of the Peace

LGIS:

Local Government Insurance Scheme

LIWA:

Leisure Institute of Western Australia

LTI’s:

Lost Time Injuries

MRA:

Metropolitan Redevelopment Authority

NAIDOC: National Aborigines and Islanders Day Observance Committee
NBN:

National Broadband Network

OSH:

Occupational Safety and Health

RAP:

Reconciliation Action Plan

SWMS:

Safe Work Method Statements

TAFE:

Technical and Further Education

TPRC:

Tamala Park Regional Council

WAAPA: Western Australian Academy of Performing Arts
WALGA: Western Australian Local Government Association
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Glossary
Asset Management Plan: a plan for
managing the City’s infrastructure and
other assets.

Digital Storytelling: creating stories on
the internet to present concepts and
advertise City initiatives and services.

Biodiversity: the variety of all living
things including plants, animals and
micro-organisms, their genes and the
ecosystems of which they are a part.

Diversity: understanding that each
individual is unique, and recognising
our individual differences.

Capital Works Program: program
of scheduled infrastructure works
generally encompassing capital works
for road, drainage and building assets.
Certified Carbon Neutral: certification
enabling an organisation to be
accredited under the government
standard, and acknowledgment for
achieving net zero carbon emissions.
Community Connections: a new
program encouraging people to meet
regularly at the City’s community
centres.
Community Energy Efficiency
Program: a competitive merit-based
grants program that provides cofunding to local governments to
implement programs that deliver a
range of energy efficiency measures.
Corporate Business Plan: a document
that sets the strategic priorities for the
City for a set period.
Current liabilities: the total current
liabilities as shown in the Balance
Sheet.
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Ecozoning: a classification system
that defines different parts of the
environment with similar geography,
vegetation and animal life.
E-Waste: any discarded electronic or
electrical devices and their parts.
Global Reporting Initiative: a
leading not-for-profit organisation
that has developed a comprehensive
Sustainability Reporting Framework that
is widely used around the world.
Hydrozoning: a landscaping practice
that groups plants with similar water
requirements together in an effort to
conserve water.
Landfill: sites for disposal of nonrecyclable waste.
Men’s Shed: a place for men to come
together to pursue new projects and
interests.
Memorandum of Understanding: a
document that records the common
intent of two or more parties where the
parties do not wish to assume a legal
commitment.

Mirrabooka Revitalisation Program:
a multi-million-dollar strategy that
addresses five key issues: access,
zoning, community needs, security
and appearance for the Mirrabooka
Regional Centre.
Perth Road Board: the original name
for the area of Perth that is referred to
as the ‘City of Stirling’.
Risk management: a policy and
process for identifying business risks
and controlling the likelihood and/or
impact of a risk event occurring.
SharePoint: the City of Stirling’s
intranet site.
Study Assistance Program: provides
City of Stirling employees with up
to $2000 per year towards study for
nationally recognised qualifications.
Sustainable: meets present-day needs
without compromising the ability of
future generations to meet their own
needs.
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City of Stirling
Financial
Statements
For the year ended 30 June 2016

Understanding the Financial Report and
General Purpose Financial Statements
The City's Financial Report and
general purpose financial statements
are prepared in accordance with the
Australian Accounting Standards
(as they apply to local governments
and not for profit entities), Australian
Accounting Interpretations, other
authoritative pronouncements of the
Australian Accounting Standards Board,
the Local Government Act 1995 and
accompanying regulations.
The Financial Report and general
purpose financial statements are
audited by independent auditors and
are accepted by Council at the annual
Electors General Meeting.
Financial Statements
The financial statements consist of
four financial reports, explanatory
notes supporting the reports and
endorsement from the Chief Executive
Officer and the independent auditor.
The four financial reports are:
• Statement of Comprehensive Income
• Statement of Financial Position
• Statement of Changes in Equity
• Statement of Cash Flows

Statement of Financial Position

Notes to the Statements

The Statement of Financial Position
shows the assets the City owns and
what it owes (liabilities) as at 30 June
2016.

The Notes to the Statements are an
informative section of the report and
enable the reader to understand the
basis on which the values shown in the
statements are established.

The assets and liabilities are separated
into Current and Non-Current. Current
refers to assets or liabilities that will fall
due within the next 12 months (except
Long Service Leave refer note 9 within
the Notes to the accounts).
Statement of Changes in Equity
The Statement of Changes in Equity
summarises the change in value of Total
Ratepayers Equity.
The value of equity can only change as
a result of:
• The profit or loss from operations
described as surplus or deficit in the
income statement.
• The use of monies from the City’s
Reserves.
• A change in the value of non-current
assets resulting from a revaluation of
these assets.
Statement of Cash Flows

The explanatory notes detail the City’s
accounting policies and the make up of
the values contained in the statements.

The Statement of Cash Flows
summarises the City’s cash payments
and receipts for the year and the level
of cash at the end of the financial year.

Statement of Comprehensive
Income

Cash in this statement refers to Bank
Deposits and investments capable of
being quickly converted to cash.

The Comprehensive Income Statement
measures the City’s performance over
the year.
It lists the sources of the City’s revenue
under various income headings and
the expenses incurred in running the
City during the year. The expenses
relate only to the ‘Operations’ and do
not include the cost associated with
the purchase or the building of assets.
Expenses do include an item for
depreciation which is the value of the
assets used up during the year.
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The City’s cash arises from, and is used
in, two main areas:
• Cash Flows from Operating Activities
– summarises all income and
expenses relating to City
• operations, including service delivery
and maintenance.
• Cash Flows from Investing Activities
- relates to capital works payments
recorded as assets in the Balance
Sheet as well as receipts for the sale
of assets.

The notes also advise if there has
been any change to the Accounting
Standards, Policy or Legislation that
has impacted on the preparation of the
statements.
Within the four Financial Statements,
there is a “Note” column to indicate
which Note the reader can refer to
for additional information. This is
particularly useful where there has been
a significant change from the previous
year’s comparative figure.
Statement by Chief
Executive Officer
The Annual Financial Report and
supporting notes require certification
under the Local Government Act 1995.
The certifications are made by the
Chief Executive Officer on behalf of
the City as a written undertaking to
the Statements being correct and not
misleading.
Independent Auditors Report
This document provides a written
undertaking of the accuracy, fairness
and completeness of the statements.
The audit report provides an
independent view of the statements
and advises the reader if there are any
issues of concern.

Statement by Chief Executive Officer

The attached financial report of the City of Stirling being the annual financial report
and supporting notes and other information for the financial year ended 30 June
2016 are, in my opinion, properly drawn up to present fairly the financial position
of the City of Stirling at 30 June 2016 and the results of the operations for the
financial year then ended in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards and
comply with the provisions of the Local Government Act 1995 (as amended) and
the regulations under that Act.

Signed on the 5th day of October 2016

Stuart Jardine
Chief Executive Officer
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Statement of Comprehensive
Income by Nature or Type
For the year ended 30 June 2016

2016 Budget
$

2016 Actual
$

2015 Actual
$

125,573,735

125,722,529

121,519,388

2,796,000

2,825,618

2,735,800

12,250,384

9,730,261

14,269,363

Revenue
General Rates
Security Charge
Grants & Subsidies
Contributions, Reimbursements & Donations

2,239,276

3,410,578

3,440,671

Rubbish Service Charges

31,825,226

31,638,809

30,289,527

Fees & Charges

19,564,819

19,544,086

18,725,688

Interest Earnings

7,066,604

5,770,134

6,140,463

Registrations/Licences & Permits

5,941,650

5,491,381

6,115,820

Other Revenue/Income

3,877,576

5,470,750

4,207,899

211,135,270

209,604,146

207,444,619

Employee Costs

(98,689,713)

(92,830,964)

(90,389,384)

Materials & Contracts Direct Mtce of Non-Current Assets

(42,733,129)

(40,491,244)

(40,271,831)

Materials & Contracts Other Works

(67,714,509)

(66,337,669)

(61,926,879)

Utilities (Gas, Electricity, Water etc)

(8,762,819)

(7,657,039)

(7,450,321)

(32,138,869)

(29,656,442)

(27,386,473)

(6,500)

-

-

Insurance Expenses

(1,826,054)

(1,657,010)

(1,831,240)

Other Expenditure

(2,395,927)

(2,046,758)

(1,685,674)

(254,267,520)

(240,677,126)

(230,941,802)

47,081,359

42,783,544

45,662,819

(207,186,161)

(197,893,582)

(185,278,983)

3,949,109

11,710,564

22,165,636

Total Revenue from Ordinary Activities
Expenses

Depreciation on Non-Current Assets
Interest Expenses

Total Expenditure from Ordinary Activities
Less: Allocated to Works & Services
Total Expenditure from Ordinary Activities After
Allocation to Works & Services
Net Result from Operating Activities
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Statement of Comprehensive Income
by Nature or Type (continued)
For the year ended 30 June 2016

2016 Budget
$

2016 Actual
$

2015 Actual
$

3,865,353

7,578,984

7,498,540

-

142,496

112,895

Non Operating Activities
Grants & Subsidies
Gifted & Acquired Assets
Equity Share of Investment

8,666,667

8,461,634

10,877,241

Underground Power

-

(7,064)

(38,381)

Adjustment on Revaluation of Assets

-

(1,221,315)

-

Profit on Asset Disposals

2,458,107

529,953

168,107

Loss on Asset Disposals

(575,578)

(1,743,744)

(759,592)

Total Non Operating Activities

14,414,549

13,740,944

17,858,810

Net Result

18,363,658

25,451,508

40,024,446

-

-

784,741,791

18,363,658

25,451,508

824,766,237

Other Comprehensive Income
Changes on Revaluation of Non-Current Assets
Total Comprehensive Income

The Statement of Comprehensive Income should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes to the Financial
Statements.
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Statement of Comprehensive
Income by Program
For the year ended 30 June 2016

2016 Budget
$

2016 Actual
$

2015 Actual
$

138,850,469

136,007,820

136,029,973

Governance

1,777,550

2,230,153

2,259,729

Law, Order & Public Safety

3,307,158

3,592,811

3,602,369

236,220

429,961

268,764

9,191,223

8,834,383

8,919,996

Community Amenities

40,961,269

40,690,624

39,398,781

Recreation & Culture

10,481,711

11,154,589

10,757,046

Transport

2,520,600

3,068,463

2,206,356

Economic Services

3,351,430

2,709,237

3,139,064

457,640

886,105

862,541

211,135,270

209,604,146

207,444,619

(65,000)

(57,699)

694,689

(13,983,284)

(11,436,642)

(10,618,585)

Law, Order & Public Safety

(7,926,025)

(7,187,676)

(7,224,557)

Health

(2,459,783)

(2,408,187)

(2,354,150)

Education & Welfare

(15,178,974)

(15,343,497)

(14,055,503)

Community Amenities

(46,161,562)

(46,960,173)

(41,918,240)

Recreation & Culture

(61,180,664)

(62,080,161)

(60,198,855)

Transport

(43,439,209)

(36,708,692)

(34,413,457)

(5,625,488)

(5,355,535)

(5,333,438)

(11,159,672)

(10,355,319)

(9,856,887)

(207,179,661)

(197,893,581)

(185,278,983)

3,955,609

11,710,565

22,165,636

Other Property & Services

(6,500)

-

-

Total Finance Costs

(6,500)

-

-

Revenue from Operations
General Purpose Funding

Health
Education & Welfare

Other Property & Services
Total Revenue
Expenses from Operations
General Purpose Funding
Governance

Economic Services
Other Property & Services
Total Expenses
Net Result
Finance Costs
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Statement of Comprehensive
Income by Program (continued)
For the year ended 30 June 2016

2016 Budget
$

2016 Actual
$

2015 Actual
$

-

1,136,911

3,303,081

120,000

320,000

221,079

20,000

-

5,000

Community Amenities

740,000

1,100,000

-

Recreation & Culture

450,190

347,203

57,844

2,535,163

4,318,870

3,771,536

-

356,000

140,000

3,865,353

7,578,984

7,498,540

Governance

-

2,500

-

Law, Order & Public Safety

-

2,000

-

Education & Welfare

-

74,289

-

Community Amenities

-

62,924
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Recreation & Culture

-

783

30

Other Property & Services

-

-

112,726

Total Gifted & Previously Unrecognised Assets

-

142,496

112,895

Other Property & Services

8,666,667

8,461,632

10,877,241

Total Equity Share of Investment

8,666,667

8,461,632

10,877,241

Other Property & Services

-

(7,064)

(38,381)

Total Underground Power

-

(7,064)

(38,381)

Other Property & Services

-

(1,221,315)

-

Total Loss on Revaluation of Assets

-

(1,221,315)

-

Non-Operating Grants, Subsidies, Contributions
General Purpose Funding
Law, Order & Public Safety
Education & Welfare

Transport
Other Property & Services
Total Non-Operating Grants, Subsidies, Contributions
Gifted & Previously Unrecognised Assets

Equity Share of Investment

Underground Power

Loss on Revaluation of Assets
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Statement of Comprehensive
Income by Program (continued)
For the year ended 30 June 2016

2016 Budget
$

2016 Actual
$

2015 Actual
$

11,909

(69,475)

(72,613)

(110,429)

(15,077)

(83,363)

Health

(13,315)

(3,866)

(10,491)

Education & Welfare

(43,785)

(168,917)

(6,355)

Community Amenities

523,373

(52,170)

(114,488)

Recreation & Culture

(19,317)

(419,814)

(141,658)

Transport

295,710

(31,133)

(64,916)

11,474

(6,047)

(24,105)

Other Property & Services

1,226,909

(447,291)

(73,496)

Total Profit/(Loss) on Disposal of Assets

1,882,529

(1,213,790)

(591,485)

18,363,658

25,451,508

40,024,446

-

-

784,741,791

18,363,658

25,451,508

824,766,237

Profit/(Loss) on Disposal of Assets
Governance
Law, Order & Public Safety

Economic Services

Net Result
Other Comprehensive Income
Changes on Revaluation of Non-Current Assets
Total Comprehensive Income

The Statement of Comprehensive Income should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes to the Financial
Statements.
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Statement of Financial Position
For the year ended 30 June 2016

Note

2016
$

2015
$

5a,b

138,245,257

132,424,537

Trade & Other Receivables

6a

8,508,553

7,080,621

Other Assets

6c

223,879

162,519

7

3,301,949

2,939,572

150,279,638

142,607,249

Assets
Current Assets
Cash & Cash Equivalents

Inventories
Total Current Assets
Non-Current Assets
Investments

15

17,641,661

17,176,876

Other Receivables

6b

1,914,014

1,884,646

Property, Plant & Equipment

8a

971,140,564

970,963,019

Infrastructure

8d

1,735,092,524

1,718,537,257

Total Non-Current Assets

2,725,788,763

2,708,561,798

Total Assets

2,876,068,401

2,851,169,047

29,879,130

31,956,333

29,879,130

31,956,333

1,507,353

926,323

1,507,353

926,323

31,386,483

32,882,656

2,844,681,918

2,818,286,391

Liabilities
Current Liabilities
Payables & Provisions

9

Total Current Liabilities
Non-Current Liabilities
Payables & Provisions

9

Total Non-Current Liabilities
Total Liabilities
Net Assets
Equity
Accumulated Surplus

939,122,501

925,024,814

Reserves - Cash/Investment Backed

10a

92,430,509

80,086,429

Reserves - Asset Revaluation

10b

1,813,128,908

1,813,175,148

2,844,681,918

2,818,286,391

Total Equity

The Statement of Financial Position should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes to the Financial Statements.
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Statement of Changes in Equity
For the year ended 30 June 2016

Note

Balance as at 30 June 2014

Retained
Surplus
$

Reserves Cash
Backed
$

Revaluation
Surplus
$

Total
Equity
$

887,599,419

76,947,331

1,028,433,357

1,992,980,107

40,024,446

-

-

40,024,446

-

-

-

-

40,024,446

-

-

40,024,446

(25,141,727)

25,141,727

785,281,838

785,281,838

22,542,676

(22,002,629)

(540,047)

-

925,024,814

80,086,429

1,813,175,148

2,818,286,391

25,451,508

-

-

25,451,508

-

-

-

-

25,451,508

-

-

25,451,508

(30,800,641)

30,800,641

944,019

944,019

19,446,820

(18,456,561)

(990,259)

-

939,122,501

92,430,509

1,813,128,908

2,844,681,918

Comprehensive Income
Net Result
Change on Revaluation
of Non-Current Assets
Total Comprehensive Income
Transfers to Reserves
Transfers from Reserves
Balance as at 30 June 2015
Comprehensive Income
Net Result
Change on Revaluation
of Non-Current Assets
Total Comprehensive Income
Transfers to Reserves
Transfers from Reserves
Balance as at 30 June 2016

The Statement of Changes in Equity should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes to the Financial
Statements.
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Statement of Cash Flows
For the year ended 30 June 2016

Note

2016
$

2015
$

126,453,733

122,572,811

7,697,145

8,205,430

54,832,458

52,710,346

Interest Earned

5,627,070

6,140,463

Other Grants & Contributions

4,568,373

1,406,572

10,316,826

13,593,403

209,495,605

204,629,025

Staff Expenses

(91,550,972)

(88,617,836)

Materials & Contracts

(67,165,672)

(65,843,124)

Utilities

(7,925,405)

(7,450,321)

Insurance

(1,657,010)

(1,831,240)

Other Expenditure

(2,046,758)

(1,685,674)

-

-

(170,345,817)

(165,428,195)

39,149,788

39,200,830

New & Redevelopment of Community Infrastructure

(39,124,222)

(30,560,618)

Payments for Purchase of Property, Plant & Equipment

(16,895,639)

(22,744,974)

(89,349)

(84,252)

Proceeds from Investment in Other Entity

5,000,002

10,333,332

Proceeds from Sale of Property, Plant & Equipment

3,234,437

3,245,201

14,545,703

21,963,013

Net Cash Used in Investing Activities

(33,329,068)

(17,848,298)

Net Increase in Cash & Cash Equivalent

5,820,720

21,352,532

Cash Flows from Operating Activities
Receipts
Rates
Fees from Regulatory Services
User Charges

Activity Functional Operating Revenue

Payments

Interest

Net Cash from Operating Activities

16d

Cash Flows Used in Investing Activities

Payments for Investment in Other Entity

Capital Grants & Contributions (Govt & Non-Govt)

Cash & Cash Equivalent at Beginning of Reporting Period

16a

132,424,537

111,072,005

Cash & Cash Equivalent at End of Reporting Period

16a

138,245,257

132,424,537

The Statement of Cash Flows should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes to the Financial Statements.
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Rate Setting Statement
– by Nature or Type
For the year ended 30 June 2016

Note

2016 Budget
$

2016 Actual
$

2015 Actual
$

2,796,000

2,825,618

2,735,800

12,250,384

9,730,261

14,269,363

2,239,276

3,410,578

3,440,671

Rubbish Service Charges

31,825,226

31,638,809

30,289,527

Fees & Charges

19,564,819

19,544,086

18,725,688

Interest Earnings

7,066,604

5,770,134

6,140,463

Profit on Asset Disposal

2,458,107

529,953

168,107

Registrations/Licences & Permits

5,941,650

5,491,381

6,115,820

Other Revenue/Income

3,899,749

5,470,750

4,081,380

88,041,815

84,411,570

85,966,819

Employee Costs

(98,689,713)

(92,830,964)

(90,389,384)

Materials & Contracts Direct Mtce of Non-Current Assets

(42,733,129)

(40,491,244)

(40,271,831)

Materials & Contracts Other Works

(67,714,509)

(66,337,669)

(61,926,879)

Utilities (gas, electricity, water etc)

(8,762,819)

(7,657,039)

(7,450,321)

(32,138,869)

(29,656,442)

(27,386,473)

(6,500)

-

-

(575,578)

(1,743,744)

(759,592)

Insurance Expenses

(1,826,054)

(1,657,010)

(1,831,240)

Other Expenditure

(2,395,927)

(2,046,758)

(1,685,674)

(254,843,098)

(242,420,870)

(231,701,394)

47,081,359

42,783,544

45,662,819

Total Expenditure from Ordinary Activities After
Allocation to Works & Services

(207,761,739)

(199,637,326)

(186,038,575)

Total Operating

(119,719,924)

(115,225,756)

(100,071,756)

Revenue
Security Charge
Grants & Subsidies
Contributions, Reimbursements & Donations

Total Revenue from Ordinary Activity
Expenses

Depreciation on Non-Current Assets
Interest Expenses
Loss on Asset Disposal

Total Expenditure from Ordinary Activities
Less: Allocated to Works & Services
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Rate Setting Statement
– by Nature or Type (continued)
For the year ended 30 June 2016

Note

2016 Budget
$

2016 Actual
$

2015 Actual
$

Capital Grants & Contributions

3,865,353

7,578,984

7,498,540

Proceeds from Sale of Assets

4,464,550

3,230,685

3,245,201

32,138,869

29,656,442

27,386,473

575,578

1,743,744

759,592

8,666,667

8,461,634

10,877,241

Underground Power

-

7,064

38,381

Movement in Committed Cash

-

(553,534)

430,614

-

680,785

998,250

16,616,539

18,456,561

22,002,629

66,327,556

69,262,365

73,236,921

(68,279,833)

(51,312,981)

(54,650,911)

Town Planning Schemes

(134,745)

(107,731)

(108,037)

Gifted & Acquired Assets

-

(142,496)

(112,895)

Movement Non-Current Assets & Liabilities

-

581,030

(359,588)

(2,458,107)

(529,953)

(168,107)

(30,935,320)

(30,800,641)

(25,141,727)

(101,808,005)

(82,312,772)

(80,541,265)

29,648,811

38,655,919

24,530,454

-

36,080,952

38,655,919

125,551,562

125,701,196

121,501,565

Plus

Depreciation Written Back
Loss Written Back
Equity Share of Investment

Movement Current Leave Provision
Transfers from Reserves
Sub Total

9

Less
Capital Works

Profit on Disposal Written Back
Transfers to Reserves
Sub Total
Opening Funds
Closing Funds
Amount Required to be Raised from Rates

City of Stirling Annual Report 2015/16 | 193

Notes to and Forming Part of
the Financial Statements
For the year ended 30 June 2016

1. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
a)

Basis of Preparation
The financial report comprises
general purpose financial
statements which have been
prepared in accordance
with Australian Accounting
Standards (as they apply to local
governments and not-for-profit
entities), Australian Accounting
Interpretations, other authoritative
pronouncements of the Australian
Accounting Standards Board, the
Local Government Act 1995 and
accompanying regulations. Material
accounting policies which have
been adopted in the preparation of
this financial report are presented in
Note 2 and have been consistently
applied unless stated otherwise.
Except for cash flow and rate
setting information, the report has
also been prepared on the accrual
basis and is based on historical
costs, modified, where applicable,
by the measurement at fair value
of selected non-current assets,
financial assets and liabilities.
Critical Accounting Estimates
The preparation of a financial
report in conformity with Australian
Accounting Standards requires
management to make judgements,
estimates and assumptions that
affect the application of policies
and reported amounts of assets
and liabilities, income and
expenses.
The estimates and associated
assumptions are based on
historical experience and various
other factors that are believed
to be reasonable under the
circumstances; the results of
which form the basis of making
the judgements about carrying
values of assets and liabilities that
are not readily apparent from other

194

sources. Actual results may differ
from these estimates.

c)

Cash and cash equivalents
includes cash on hand and a
municipal fund bank account that
are highly liquid investments that
are readily convertible to cash and
are subject to an insignificant risk
of changes in values.

The Local Government
Reporting Entity
All funds through which the City
controls resources to carry on its
functions have been included in the
financial statements forming part of
this financial report. In the process
of reporting on the City as a single
unit, all transactions and balances
between those funds (for example,
loans and transfers between funds)
have been eliminated. All monies
held in the Trust Fund are excluded
from the financial statements.
A separate statement of these
monies appears in Note 13 to these
financial statements.

d) Trade and Other Payable
Receivables are recognised as the
amount to be received for goods
and services provided.
Collectability of trade and other
receivables is reviewed on an
ongoing basis. Debts that are
known to be uncollectible are
written off when identified. An
allowance for doubtful debts is
raised when there is objective
evidence that they will not be
collectible.

b) Goods and Services Tax (GST)
Revenues, expenses and assets
are recognised net of the amount
of GST, except where the amount
of GST incurred is not recoverable
from the Australian Taxation Office
(ATO).
Receivables and payables are
stated inclusive of GST receivable
or payable. The net amount of GST
recoverable from, or payable to, the
ATO is included with receivables
or payables in the Statement of
Financial Position.
Cash flows are presented on a
gross basis. The GST components
of cash flows arising from investing
or financing activities which are
recoverable from, or payable to,
the ATO are presented as operating
cash flows.

Cash and Cash Equivalents

e)

Inventories
General
Inventories are measured at the
lower of cost and net realisable
value.
Net realisable value is the
estimated selling price in the
ordinary course of business less
the estimated costs of completion
and the estimated costs necessary
to make the sale.
Land Held for Sale
Land held for development and
sale is the City’s equity share of lots
completed and under construction
being undertaken by Tamala Park
Regional Council on behalf of the
City and other member councils.
The City’s equity shares of any gains
on sale of lots are recognised in the
operating statement at the time of
settlement of contract of sale.

Notes to and Forming Part of the
Financial Statements (continued)
For the year ended 30 June 2016

1. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)
f)

Fixed Assets
Each class of fixed assets
within either property, plant and
equipment or infrastructure, is
carried at cost or fair value as
indicated less, where applicable,
any accumulated depreciation and
impairment losses.
Mandatory Requirement to
Revalue Non-Current Assets
Effective from 1 July 2012, the
Local Government (Financial
Management) Regulations were
amended and the measurement
of non-current assets at Fair Value
became mandatory.
The amendments allowed for a
phasing in of fair value in relation
to fixed assets over three years as
follows:
(a) for the financial year ending on
30 June 2013, the fair value of
all of the assets of the City that
are plant and equipment; and
(b) for the financial year ending on
30 June 2014, the fair value of
all of the assets of the City (i)

that are plant and
equipment; and

(ii)

that are (I)

land and buildings; or-

(II) Infrastructure;
and
(c)

for the financial year ending
on or after 30 June 2015, the
fair value of all of the assets of
the City.

Thereafter, in accordance with the
regulations, each asset class must
be revalued at least every 3 years.
In 2016, the City recommenced the
process of revaluing non-current

assets for Fair Value in accordance
with the Regulations.
Relevant disclosures, in
accordance with the requirements
of Australian Accounting
Standards, have been made in the
financial report as necessary.
Land Under Control
In accordance with Local
Government (Financial
Management) Regulation 16(a), the
City was required to include as an
asset (by 30 June 2013), Crown
Land operated by the City as a golf
course, showground, racecourse
or other sporting or recreational
facility of State or Regional
significance.
At 30 June 2016 the City had a golf
course within the City boundaries
which has been included in the
City’s fixed assets as land. This
golf course has been valued in
accordance with the above Local
Government Regulations.
Easements
In accordance with Local
Government (Financial
Management) Regulation 16(b),
easements are required to be
recognised as assets. At 30 June
2016 the City Easements have
been included in the City’s fixed
assets as Land. These have
been recognised and revalued in
accordance with the above Local
Government Regulations.

In relation to this initial
measurement, cost is determined
as the fair value of the assets
given as consideration plus costs
incidental to the acquisition. For
assets acquired at no cost or for
nominal consideration, cost is
determined as fair value at the
date of acquisition. The cost of
non-current assets constructed
by the City includes the cost of
all materials used in construction,
direct labour on the project and an
appropriate proportion of variable
and fixed overheads.
Subsequent costs are included
in the asset’s carrying amount or
recognised as a separate asset,
as appropriate, only when it is
probable future economic benefits
associated with the item will flow
to the City and the cost of the
item can be measured reliably. All
other repairs and maintenance
are recognised as expenses in
the Statement of Comprehensive
Income in the period in which they
are incurred.
Revaluation
Increases in the carrying amount
arising on revaluation of assets are
credited to a revaluation surplus
in equity. Decreases that offset
previous increases of the same
asset are recognised against
revaluation surplus directly in
equity. All other decreases are
recognised in the Statement of
Comprehensive Income.

Initial Recognition and
Measurement between
Mandatory Revaluation Dates
All assets are initially recognised
at cost and subsequently revalued
in accordance with the mandatory
measurement framework detailed
above.
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Notes to and Forming Part of the
Financial Statements (continued)
For the year ended 30 June 2016

1. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)
Land Under Roads
In Western Australia, all land
under roads is Crown Land, the
responsibility for managing which,
is vested in the local government.
Effective as at 1 July 2008, the City
elected not to recognise any value
for land under roads acquired on or
before 30 June 2008. This accords
with the treatment available in
Australian Accounting Standard
AASB 1051 Land Under Roads
and the fact Local Government
(Financial Management) Regulation
16(a)(i) prohibits local governments
from recognising such land as an
asset.
In respect of land under roads
acquired on or after 1 July 2008, as
detailed above, Local Government
(Financial Management) Regulation
16(a)(i) prohibits local governments
from recognising such land as an
asset.
Whilst such treatment is
inconsistent with the requirements
of AASB 1051, Local Government
(Financial Management) Regulation
4(2) provides, in the event of
such an inconsistency, the
Local Government (Financial
Management) Regulations prevail.
Consequently, any land under
roads acquired on or after 1 July
2008 is not included as an asset of
the City.
Depreciation
All non-current assets having a
limited useful life are systematically
depreciated over their useful
lives in a manner which reflects
the consumption of the future
economic benefits embodied in
those assets.
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Property, Plant and Equipment,
including buildings but excluding
freehold land, are depreciated
over their estimated useful lives on
a straight line basis, using rates
which are reviewed each reporting
period. The carrying cost of
infrastructure assets is depreciated
on an annual basis to reflect their
expected life.
Infrastructure Assets are
depreciated on a basis that reflects
their consumed economic benefit,
which is reviewed each reporting
period. Assets are depreciated from
the date of acquisition or from the
time an asset is held for use.
The expected useful lives
are as follows:
Artwork

Not Depreciated

Buildings

25 to 75 years

Furniture &
Equipment

2 to 10 years

Plant &
Equipment

5 to 15 years

Mobile Vehicles 2 to 10 years
& Plant
Computer
Equipment &
Photocopiers

2 to 10 years

Recreation
Equipment

10 to 15 years

Roads

10 to 75 years

Drainage

10 to 75 years

Footpaths

10 to 75 years

Other
Engineering
Infrastructure

10 to 75 years

Reticulation &
Other Parks
Infrastructure

10 to 75 years

Reserves

Not Depreciated

The asset’s residual values and
useful lives are reviewed, and
adjusted if appropriate, at the end
of each reporting period.
An asset’s carrying amount is
written down immediately to its
recoverable amount if the asset’s
carrying amount is greater than its
estimated recoverable amount.
Gains and losses on disposals are
determined by comparing proceeds
with the carrying amount. These
gains and losses are included in
the Statement of Comprehensive
Income in the period in which they
arise.
When revalued assets are disposed
of, amounts included in the
revaluation surplus relating to that
asset are transferred to retained
surplus.
Capitalisation Threshold
Property, Plant and Equipment
with a value exceeding $1,000 are
capitalised on date of acquisition or
in respect of internally constructed
assets from the time asset is ready
for use. Infrastructure Assets ready
for use are capitalised annually,
with depreciation commencing
from first reporting period after
capitalisation. The impact on
depreciation as a result of
capitalising infrastructure assets
annually instead of periodically is
not considered material.

Notes to and Forming Part of the
Financial Statements (continued)
For the year ended 30 June 2016

1. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)
g) Fair Value of Assets
and Liabilities
When performing a revaluation,
the City uses a mix of both
independent and management
valuations using the following as a
guide:
Fair Value is the price that the City
would receive to sell the asset or
would have to pay to transfer a
liability, in an orderly (i.e. unforced)
transaction between independent,
knowledgeable and willing market
participants at the measurement
date.
As fair value is a market-based
measure, the closest equivalent
observable market pricing
information is used to determine
fair value. Adjustments to market
values may be made having regard
to the characteristics of the specific
asset. The fair values of assets
that are not traded in an active
market are determined using one or
more valuation techniques. These
valuation techniques maximise,
to the extent possible, the use of
observable market data.
To the extent possible, market
information is extracted from either
the principal market for the asset
(i.e. the market with the greatest
volume and level of activity for the
asset) or, in the absence of such
a market, the most advantageous
market available to the entity at the
end of the reporting period (i.e. the
market that maximises the receipts
from the sale of the asset after
taking into account transaction
costs and transport costs).
For non-financial assets, the fair
value measurement also takes
into account a market participant’s
ability to use the asset in its highest
and best use or to sell it to another
market participant that would use
the asset in its highest and best use.

Fair Value Hierarchy
AASB 13 requires the disclosure
of fair value information by level
of the fair value hierarchy, which
categorises fair value measurement
into one of three possible levels
based on the lowest level that
an input that is significant to the
measurement can be categorised
into as follows:
Level 1
Measurements based on quoted
prices (unadjusted) in active
markets for identical assets or
liabilities that the City can access
at the measurement date.
Level 2
Measurements based on inputs
other than quoted prices included
in Level 1 that are observable for
the asset or liability, either directly
or indirectly.
Level 3
Measurements based on
unobservable inputs for the asset
or liability.
The fair values of assets and
liabilities that are not traded in an
active market are determined using
one or more valuation techniques.
These valuation techniques
maximise, to the extent possible,
the use of observable market data.
If all significant inputs required to
measure fair value are observable,
the asset or liability is included in
Level 2. If one or more significant
inputs are not based on observable
market data, the asset or liability is
included in Level 3.
Valuation Techniques
The City selects a valuation
technique that is appropriate in
the circumstances and for which
sufficient data is available to
measure fair value. The availability
of sufficient and relevant data

primarily depends on the specific
characteristics of the asset or
liability being measured. The
valuation techniques selected by
the City are consistent with one
or more of the following valuation
approaches:
Market Approach
Valuation techniques that
use prices and other relevant
information generated by market
transactions for identical or similar
assets or liabilities.
Income Approach
Valuation techniques that convert
estimated future cash flows or
income and expenses into a single
discounted present value.
Cost Approach
Valuation techniques that reflect
the current replacement cost of an
asset at its current service capacity.
Each valuation technique requires
inputs that reflect the assumptions
that buyers and sellers would use
when pricing the asset or liability,
including assumptions about
risks. When selecting a valuation
technique, the City gives priority
to those techniques that maximise
the use of observable inputs and
minimise the use of unobservable
inputs. Inputs that are developed
using market data (such as
publicly available information on
actual transactions) and reflect
the assumptions that buyers and
sellers would generally use when
pricing the asset or liability are
considered observable, whereas
inputs for which market data
is not available and therefore
are developed using the best
information available about such
assumptions are considered
unobservable.
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Notes to and Forming Part of the
Financial Statements (continued)
For the year ended 30 June 2016

1. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)
As detailed on previous page,
the mandatory measurement
framework imposed by the
Local Government (Financial
Management) Regulations requires,
as a minimum, all assets carried at
a revalued amount to be revalued
at least every 3 years.
h)

i)

Impairment of Assets
In accordance with Australian
Accounting Standards the City’s
assets, other than inventories, are
assessed at each reporting date
to determine whether there is any
indication they may be impaired.
Where such an indication exists,
an impairment test is carried out
on the asset by comparing the
recoverable amount of the asset,
being the higher of the asset’s fair
value less costs to sell and value in
use, to the asset’s carrying amount.

Financial Instruments
Investments and Other Financial
Assets
Financial assets in the scope of
AASB139: “Financial Instruments:
Recognition and measurement”
are classified as either financial
assets at fair value through profit
or loss, loans and receivables,
recognised held-to-maturity
investments, or available-for-sale
financial assets. When financial
assets are recognised initially, they
are measured at fair value, plus, in
the case of investments not at fair
value through profit or loss, directly
attributable transaction costs. The
City determines the classification
of its financial assets after initial
recognition and, when allowed
and appropriate, re-evaluates this
designation at each financial year.

Any excess of the asset’s carrying
amount over its recoverable
amount is recognised immediately
in profit or loss, unless the asset
is carried at a revalued amount in
accordance with another standard
(e.g. AASB 116) whereby any
impairment loss of a revalued asset
is treated as a revaluation decrease
in accordance with that other
standard.
For non-cash generating assets
such as roads, drains, public
buildings and the like, value in use
is represented by the depreciated
replacement cost of the asset.

Liquidity and Interest Rate Risk
The City’s exposure to interest
rate risk, which is the risk that a
financial instruments value will
fluctuate as a result of changes in
market interest rates, is considered
negligible for all financial
instruments.
Liquidity risk is managed through
maintaining adequate cash
reserves and borrowing facilities.
This is achieved by continuously
monitoring forecast and actual cash
flows, maintaining an appropriate
mix of financial institutions to invest
with and setting limits in terms of
borrowing and investments.
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j)

Trade and Other Payables
Trade and other payables represent
liabilities for goods and services
provided to the City prior to the end
of the financial year that are unpaid
and arise when the City becomes
obliged to make future payments
in respect of the purchase of these
goods and services. The amounts
are unsecured, are recognised as
a current liability and are normally
paid within 30 days of recognition.

k)

Employee Benefits
The provision for employee
entitlements relates to amounts
expected to be paid to employees
for long service leave and annual
leave and is based on legal and
contractual entitlements. The
funds in the City’s long service
leave reserve bank account are
considered adequate.
Provisions made in respect of
wages and salaries, annual leave
and other long service leave
expected to be settled within
12 months, are measured at
their nominal values using the
remuneration rate expected to
apply at the time of settlement.
Provisions made in respect of
long service leave which are not
expected to be settled within
12 months are measured as the
present value of the estimated
future cash outflows to be made
by the City in respect of services
provided by employees up to
reporting date.
Provisions for sick leave are not
made in the accounts as they are
non-vesting and are paid when
incurred.

Notes to and Forming Part of the
Financial Statements (continued)
For the year ended 30 June 2016

1. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)
l)

Leases
Lease payments for operating
leases, where substantially all the
risks and benefits remain with the
lessor, are charged as expenses
in the periods in which they are
incurred.
The City has no finance leases.

m) Interest in Regional Council
The Council’s interest in two
Regional Councils has been
recognised in the financial
statements at cost of contributed
equity or the City’s calculated
equity share of Council. Information
about the Regional Councils is set
out in Note 15.
n)

Rates, Grants, Donations
and Other Contributions
Rates, grants, donations and other
contributions are recognised as
revenues when the City obtains
control over the assets comprising
the contributions.
Control over assets acquired
from rates is obtained at the
commencement of the rating
period or, where earlier, upon
receipt of the rates.
Where contributions recognised
as revenues during the reporting
period were obtained on the
condition that they be expended
in a particular manner or used
over a particular period, and those
conditions were undischarged as
at the reporting date, the nature
of and amounts pertaining to
those undischarged conditions
are disclosed in Note 4(g). That
note also discloses the amount

of contributions recognised as
revenues in a previous reporting
period which were obtained in
respect of the City’s operations for
the current reporting period.

12 months except for land held for
sale where it is held as non-current
based on the City’s intentions to
release for sale.
r)

o) Superannuation
The City contributes to a number
of Superannuation Funds on behalf
of employees. All funds to which
the City contributes are defined
contribution plans.

All figures shown in this annual
financial report, other than a rate
in the dollar, are rounded to the
nearest dollar.
s)

q) Current and Non-Current
Classification

Comparative Figures
Where required, comparative
figures have been adjusted
to conform with changes in
presentation for the current
financial year.

p) Borrowings
The balance of the bank overdraft
amount reflects the book position
and includes cheques that have
been drawn but have not yet been
debited to the bank account. Funds
are maintained in investment until
required.

Rounding Off Figures

t)

Budget Comparative Figures
Unless otherwise stated, the
budget comparative figures shown
in this annual financial report relate
to the original budget estimate for
the relevant item of disclosure.

In the determination of whether
an asset or liability is current or
non-current, consideration is given
to the time when each asset or
liability is expected to be settled.
The asset or liability is classified
as current if it is expected to be
settled within the next 12 months,
being the City’s operational
cycle. In the case of liabilities
where the City does not have
the unconditional right to defer
settlement beyond 12 months,
such as vested long service
leave, the liability is classified as
current even if not expected to be
settled within the next 12 months.
Inventories held for trading are
classified as current even if not
expected to be realised in the next
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Notes to and Forming Part of the
Financial Statements (continued)
For the year ended 30 June 2016

2. Disclosures of Changes in Accounting Policy
a)

New Accounting Standards and Interpretations for Application in Future Periods
The AASB has issued a number of new and amended Accounting Standards and Interpretations that have mandatory
application dates for future reporting periods, some of which are relevant to the City.
Management’s assessment of the new and amended pronouncements that are relevant to the City, applicable to future
reporting periods and which have not yet been adopted are set out as follows:

Title

Issued /
Compiled

Applicable

Impact

(i)

AASB 9 Financial
Instruments
(incorporating
AASB 2014-7 and
AASB 2014-8)

December
2014

1 January
2018

Nil – The objective of this Standard is to improve and simplify the
approach for classification and measurement of financial assets
compared with the requirements of AASB 139. Given the nature of
the financial assets of the City, it is not anticipated the Standard will
have any material effect.

(ii)

AASB 15 Revenue
from Contracts
with Customers

December
2014

1 January
2017

This Standard establishes principles for entities to apply to report
useful information to users of financial statements about the nature,
amount, timing and uncertainty of revenue and cash flows arising
from a contract with a customer.
The effect of this Standard will depend upon the nature of future
transactions the City has with those third parties it has dealing with. It
may or may not be significant.

(iii)

AASB 16 Leases

February
2016

1 January
2019

Under AASB 16 there is no longer a distinction between finance and
operating leases. Lessees will now bring to account a right-to-use
asset and lease liability onto their statement of financial position
for all leases. Effectively this means the vast majority of operating
leases as defined by the current AASB 117 Leases which currently
do not impact the statement of financial position will be required to
be capitalised on the statement of financial position once AASB 16 is
adopted.
Currently, the City will not be impacted by AASB 16.

(iv)

AASB 2014-3
Amendments
to Australian
Accounting
Standards –
Accounting for
Acquisitions of
Interests in Joint
Operations

August
2014

1 January
2016

This Standard amends AASB 11: Joint Arrangements to require the
acquirer of an interest (both initial and additional) in a joint operation
in which the activity constitutes a business, as defined in AASB 3:
Business Combinations, to apply all of the principles on business
combinations accounting in AASB 3 and other Australian Accounting
Standards except for those principles that conflict with the guidance
in AASB 11; and disclose the information required by AASB 3 and
other Australian Accounting Standards for business combination.
Since adoption of this Standard would impact only acquisitions of
interests in joint operations on or after 1 January 2016, management
believes it is impracticable at this stage to provide a reasonable
estimate of such impact on the City's financial statements
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2. Disclosures of Changes in Accounting Policy (continued)
Title

Issued /
Compiled

Applicable

Impact

(v)

AASB 2014-4
Amendments
to Australian
Accounting
Standards Clarification
of Acceptable
Methods of
Depreciation and
Amortisation
[AASB 116 & 138]

August
2014

1 January
2016

This Standard amends AASB 116 and AASB 138 to establish the
principle for the basis of depreciation and amortisation as being the
expected pattern of consumption of the future economic benefits of an
asset. It also clarifies the use of revenue-based methods to calculate
the depreciation of an asset is not appropriate nor is revenue generally
an appropriate basis for measuring the consumption of the economic
benefits embodied in an intangible asset.
Given the City currently uses the expected pattern of consumption of
the future economic benefits of an asset as the basis of calculation of
depreciation, it is not expected to have a significant impact.

(vi)

AASB 2014-5
Amendments
to Australian
Accounting
Standards arising
from AASB 15

December
2014

1 January
2017

Consequential changes to various Standards arising from the issuance
of AASB 15. It will require changes to reflect the impact of AASB 15.

(vii)

AASB 2015-2
Amendments
to Australian
Accounting
Standards –
Disclosure
Initiative:
Amendments
to AASB 101
[AASB 7, 101, 134
& 1049]

January
2015

1 January
2016

This Standard amends AASB 101 to provide clarification regarding
the disclosure requirements in AASB 101. Specifically, the Standard
proposes narrow-focus amendments to address some of the
concerns expressed about existing presentation and disclosure
requirements and to ensure entities are able to use judgement when
applying a Standard in determining what information to disclose in
their financial statements.
This Standard also makes editorial and consequential amendments
as a result of amendments to the Standards listed in the title column.
It is not anticipated it will have any significant impact on disclosures
as they currently exist and any changes will relate to presentation.

March
2015

1 July 2016

The objective of this Standard is to extend the scope of AASB 124
Related Party Disclosures to include not-for-profit sector entities.
The Standard is expected to have a significant disclosure impact on
the financial report of the City as both Elected Members and Senior
Management will be deemed to be Key Management Personnel and
resultant disclosures will be necessary.

(viii) AASB 2015-6
Amendments
to Australian
Accounting
Standards Extending Related
Party Disclosures
to Not-for-Profit
Public Sector
Entities [AASB 10,
124 & 1049]

Notes: (1) Applicable to reporting periods commencing on or after the given date.
b) Adoption of New and Revised Accounting Standards
During the current year, the City adopted all of the new and revised Australian Accounting Standards and Interpretations
which were compiled, became mandatory and which were applicable to its operations.
These new and revised standards were as follows:
(i)
AASB 2015-3 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from the withdrawal of AASB 1031 Materiality
(ii)

AASB 2015-7 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards - Fair Value Disclosures of Not-for-Profit Public Sector
Entities
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3. Critical Accounting Estimates and Judgements
The carrying values of certain assets and liabilities are continually evaluated based on historical experience and other factors,
including estimates and expectations of future events.
There have been no critical accounting estimates or critical accounting judgements in applying the City’s accounting policies
made by management in preparing these financial statements that have a material impact.

4. Operating Revenues and Expenses
a)

The Change in Net Assets Resulting from Operations was Arrived at After Charging the Following Items:
2016
$

2015
$

Buildings

5,329,014

3,097,230

Plant & Equipment

1,732,122

1,330,454

Mobile Vehicles & Plant

3,215,464

3,479,450

Furniture & Office Equipment

1,513,721

1,609,164

Depreciation on:

Recreation Equipment

479,546

454,366

Roads

8,028,624

7,904,797

Drainage

2,655,684

2,598,747

Footpaths

1,616,209

1,606,327

Other Engineering Infrastructure

5,086,058

5,305,938

29,656,442

27,386,473

(1,213,791)

(591,485)

100

100

100

100

22,731

35,169

22,731

35,169

Profit/(Loss) on Sale of Non-Current Assets
Rental
Operating Leases

Auditors Remuneration
Audit of the Annual Financial Report
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4. Operating Revenues and Expenses (continued)
b) The Change in Net Assets Resulting from Operations was Arrived at After Crediting the Following Items:
2016
$

2015
$

-

(38,381)

(7,064)

-

(7,064)

(38,381)

8,461,634

10,877,241

8,461,634

10,877,241

Interest on Reserve Fund Investments

2,346,776

2,644,695

Interest on Other Money Investments

2,988,965

3,000,828

434,393

481,297

5,770,134

6,126,820

Underground Power
Coolbinia Underground Power
Other Underground Power

Equity Share of Investment
Equity Share of Tamala Park Regional Council Sales

Interest Earnings

Other Interest
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4. Operating Revenues and Expenses (continued)
c)

Statement of Objective
The City is dedicated to providing high quality services to the community through the various service orientated
programmes which it has established.
Governance
To manage the administrative functions of the Council.
Law, Order and Public Safety
To increase the support to protection of life and property within the City and reduce inconvenience through the
enforcement of statutory powers and the provision of public order, safety and security services.
Health
To maintain and improve the health and well-being of the community.
Education and Welfare
To facilitate the provision of a range of services and encourage their utilisation for the social well-being of the community.
Community Amenities
To develop waste and environment management programmes which recognise community needs.
Recreation and Culture
To plan, construct, maintain and initiate a range of facilities and programmes which enables the community to satisfy its
need for information, personal development, recreation and leisure.
Transport
To provide facilities and services within the road reserve which promote safety, ease of access and improve the amenity of
the locality.
General Purpose Funding
To minimise the costs of financing City operations through effective financial planning and management.
Economic Services
To plan facilities and regulate land use consistent with community expectations and environmental considerations.
Other Property and Services
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1.

To provide a community information network that complements and supports the corporate and programme
objectives of the City.

2.

To facilitate, develop and maintain City buildings and property.
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4. Operating Revenues and Expenses (continued)
d) Carrying Cost of Assets (by Program)
2016
Current
Assets
$

2016
Non-Current
Assets
$

2016
Non-Current
Assets – Capital
$

2016
Non-Current
Assets – Infrast.
$

150,279,638

19,555,675

46,053,445

-

Law, Order & Public Safety

-

-

2,682,285

-

Health

-

-

1,431,356

-

Education & Welfare

-

-

22,515,167

-

Community Amenities

-

-

17,507,378

8,640,260

Recreation & Culture

-

-

190,735,100

138,670,994

Transport

-

-

4,351,170

1,587,781,270

Economic Services

-

-

536,608

-

Other Property & Services

-

-

685,328,055

-

150,279,638

19,555,675

971,140,564

1,735,092,524

Governance

Total Carrying Cost of Assets

e)

2,876,068,401

Depreciation of Assets (by Program)
$

Governance
Law, Order & Public Safety
Health
Education & Welfare

683,176
90,382
39,277
521,993

Community Amenities

1,155,774

Recreation & Culture

9,902,797

Transport
Economic Services
Other Property & Services

12,722,988
73,726
4,466,329
29,656,442
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4. Operating Revenues and Expenses (continued)
f)

Disposal of Assets (by Program)
Net Book Value
$

Sale Price
$

Profit or (Loss)
on Sales
$

Governance

347,309

277,834

(69,475)

Law, Order & Public Safety

225,940

210,864

(15,076)

47,502

43,636

(3,866)

Health
Education & Welfare

254,781

85,864

(168,917)

Community Amenities

353,591

301,422

(52,169)

Recreation & Culture

651,990

232,176

(419,814)

Transport

265,297

234,164

(31,133)

42,638

36,591

(6,047)

2,255,428

1,808,134

(447,294)

4,444,476

3,230,685

(1,213,791)

Economic Services
Other Property & Services

g) Conditions over Contributions
Grants and Contributions which were recognised as revenue during the year or prior years and which were obtained on
the condition that they be expended on the acquisition of non-current assets but have yet to be applied in that manner at
the reporting date were:

Road Construction & Development
Community Safety Programs

2016
$

2015
$

-

62,512

701,621

85,575

Funded Projects

-

-

Social Services Programs

-

-

701,621

148,087
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5. Cash and Cash Equivalents
a)

Cash on Hand
2016
$

2015
$

32,910

41,354

32,910

41,354

2016
$

2015
$

Restricted

96,176,315

83,724,505

Unrestricted

42,036,032

48,658,678

138,212,347

132,383,183

Unrestricted

b) Short Maturity Investments

The following restrictions have been imposed by regulations or other externally imposed requirements:
2016
$

2015
$

92,430,509

80,086,429

Town Planning Scheme No 18

295,829

287,321

Town Planning Scheme No 25

531,609

516,320

Town Planning Scheme No 27

2,171,124

2,108,682

Town Planning Scheme No 28

747,244

725,753

96,176,315

83,724,505

Consolidated Reserve
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6. Trade and Other Receivables
a)

Trade and Other Receivables
2016
$

2015
$

2,323,409

2,139,488

Libraries

286,489

308,199

Commercial Waste

636,276

656,504

Fines & Penalties

627,698

575,350

Current
Rates Outstanding
Debtors:

Interest Due on Investments not Matured
Sundry
Underground Power
Australian Taxation Office - GST
Less:

Allowance for Doubtful Debts

997,102

854,038

2,506,603

683,344

599,578

1,083,805

677,875

956,159

(146,477)

(176,266)

8,508,553

7,080,621

(176,266)

(149,237)

29,789

(27,029)

(146,477)

(176,266)

2016
$

2015
$

1,367,719

1,338,351

Movement in Allowance for Doubtful Debts
Balance at Beginning of Year
Reduction/(Increase) to Provision
Balance at End of Year
b) Trade and Other Receivables

Non-Current
Rates Outstanding - Pensioners
Deferred Debtors

c)

546,295
1,884,646

2016
$

2015
$

223,879

162,519

223,879

162,519

Other Assets

Current Prepayments
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7. Inventories
2016
$

2015
$

251,033

272,246

Land for Resale

3,050,916

2,667,326

Total

3,301,949

2,939,572

Inventories
Construction Materials & Fuel
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8. Property, Plant, Equipment and Infrastructure
a)

Movement in Carrying Amounts of Each Class of Property, Plant & Equipment
2016
$

2015
$

- Independent Valuation

662,793,312

665,399,724

Net Book Value at End of Reporting Period

662,793,312

665,399,724

- Independent Valuation

259,340,376

259,340,376

- Management Valuation

5,459,755

-

(5,211,361)

-

259,588,770

259,340,376

13,804,607

16,290,011

-

(2,543,854)

13,804,607

13,746,157

18,629,821

27,019,143

-

(6,398,608)

18,629,821

20,620,535

4,163,466

7,396,642

-

(3,121,556)

4,163,466

4,275,086

2,464,739

3,696,458

-

(905,145)

2,464,739

2,791,313

9,695,849

4,789,828

-

-

9,695,849

4,789,828

Land

Buildings

Less Accumulated Depreciation
Net Book Value at End of Reporting Period
Plant & Equipment
- Management Valuation
Less Accumulated Depreciation
Net Book Value at End of Reporting Period
Mobile Vehicles & Plant
- Management Valuation
Less Accumulated Depreciation
Net Book Value at End of Reporting Period
Furniture & Office Equipment
- Management Valuation
Less Accumulated Depreciation
Net Book Value at End of Reporting Period
Recreation Equipment
- Management Valuation
Less Accumulated Depreciation
Net Book Value at End of Reporting Period
Assets Under Construction
- Cost
- Transferred
Net Book Value at End of Reporting Period
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8. Property, Plant, Equipment and Infrastructure (continued)
a)

Movement in Carrying Amounts of Each Class of Property, Plant & Equipment (continued)
2016
$

2015
$

- Independent Valuation

922,133,688

924,740,100

- Management Valuation

44,522,388

54,402,254

Total Property, Plant & Equipment

- Cost
Less Accumulated Depreciation
Net Book Value at End of Reporting Period

9,695,849

4,789,828

(5,211,361)

(12,969,163)

971,140,564

970,963,019

The fair value of Property, Plant and Equipment is determined at least every three years in accordance with the regulatory
framework, Local Government (Financial Management) Regulation 17A (2).
Refer to Note 8(c) for which year each asset category was assesed and level of fair value hierarchy.
As at 30 June 2016 a parcel of assets in the Building asset category were assesed and deemed appropriate to revalue at fair
value.
Additions since date of valuations are shown at cost, at the end of each reporting period the valuation is reviewed and where
appropriate fair value is updated to reflect current market conditions.
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8. Property, Plant, Equipment and Infrastructure (continued)
b) Movements in Carrying Amounts of Property, Plant & Equipment
Movement in the carrying amounts of each class of property, plant and equipment between the beginning and the end of
the current financial year.
Balance
at the
Beginning of
the Year
$

Additions
$

Impairments
(Losses)/
Reversals
$

Depreciation
(Expense)
$

Land

665,399,724

-

(2,606,412)

-

-

-

- 662,793,312

Total Land

665,399,724

-

(2,606,412)

-

-

-

- 662,793,312

Buildings

259,340,376

732,286

(415,671)

676,506

-

(5,329,014)

4,584,287 259,588,770

Total
Buildings

259,340,376

732,286

(415,671)

676,506

-

(5,329,014)

4,584,287 259,588,770

Total Land
& Buildings

924,740,100

732,286

(3,022,083)

676,506

-

(5,329,014)

4,584,287 922,382,082

Plant &
Equipment

13,746,157

867,016

(85,561)

(208,526)

-

(1,732,122)

1,217,643

13,804,607

Mobile
Vehicle
& Plant

20,620,535

3,341,367

(1,780,150)

(336,467)

-

(3,215,464)

-

18,629,821

Furniture
& Office
Equipment

4,275,086

1,171,478

(22,270)

34,162

-

(1,513,721)

218,731

4,163,466

Recreation
Equipment

2,791,313

45,163

(2,438)

-

-

(479,546)

110,247

2,464,739

Assets Under
Construction

4,789,828

10,272,172

(3,750)

-

-

-

(5,362,401)

9,695,849

970,963,019

16,429,482

(4,916,252)

165,675

Total
Property,
Plant &
Equipment
212

(Disposals)
Revaluation
Net Increments/
$ (Decrements)
$

- (12,269,867)

Reclass/
Transfers
$

Carrying
Amount at
the End of
Year
$

768,507 971,140,564
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8. Property, Plant, Equipment and Infrastructure (continued)
c)

Fair Value Measurements of Property, Plant and Equipment

Asset Class

Fair Value
Hierarchy

Valuation Technique

Basis of
Valuation

Date of Last
Valuation

Inputs Used

Land

2

Market approach using recent
observable market data for
similar properties / income
approach using discounted
cashflow methodology

Independent
registered
valuers

June 2015

Price per hectare /
market borrowing
rate

Land - Golf
Course

3

Improvements to land valued
using cost approach using
depreciated replacement cost

Independent
registered
valuers

June 2015

Improvements
to land using
construction
costs and current
condition (Level
2), residual
values and
remaining useful
life assessments
(Level 3) inputs

Specialised
Buildings

2

Market approach using recent
observable market data for
similar properties / income
approach using discounted
cashflow methodology

Independent
registered
valuers

June 2015

Construction
costs and current
condition (Level 2)

Non Specialised
Buildings

3

Cost approach using
replacement cost to calculate
value, and then adjusted to
take account of accumulated
depreciation.

Independent
registered
valuers and
Management
Valuation

June 2015 and
June 2016

Construction
costs and current
condition (Level 3)

Plant &
Equipment

2

Market approach using recent
observable market data for
similar Plant and Equipment

Management
valuation

June 2016

Price per item

Mobile Fleet
& Plant

2

Market approach using recent
observable market data for
similar Mobile Fleet and Plant

Management
valuation

June 2016

Price per item

Furniture
& Office
Equipment

2

Market approach using recent
observable market data for
similar Furniture and Office
Equipment

Management
valuation

June 2016

Price per item

Recreation
Equipment

2

Market approach using recent
observable market data for
similar Recreation Equipment

Management
valuation

June 2016

Price per item

Assets Under
Construction

2

Cost approach using cost of
goods or service at acquisition

Actual cost

June 2016

Purchase costs
and current stage
of works
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8. Property, Plant, Equipment and Infrastructure (continued)
d) Movement in Carrying Amounts of Each Class of Infrastructure
2016
$

2015
$

1,156,044,044

1,143,350,383

(76,391,260)

(68,362,637)

1,079,652,784

1,074,987,746

- Independent Valuation

443,584,172

440,906,324

Less Accumulated Depreciation

(38,256,981)

(35,601,298)

Net Book Value at End of Reporting Period

405,327,191

405,305,026

99,580,313

97,307,195

(14,020,320)

(12,404,111)

85,559,993

84,903,084

- Independent Valuation

18,369,797

17,010,913

Less Accumulated Depreciation

(8,140,425)

(7,306,128)

Net Book Value at End of Reporting Period

10,229,372

9,704,785

41,063,056

36,281,280

-

-

41,063,056

36,281,280

- Independent Valuation

133,601,564

131,381,912

Less Accumulated Depreciation

(36,342,131)

(32,090,369)

97,259,433

99,291,543

Roads
- Independent Valuation
Less Accumulated Depreciation
Net Book Value at End of Reporting Period
Drainage

Footpaths
- Independent Valuation
Less Accumulated Depreciation
Net Book Value at End of Reporting Period
Other Engineering Infrastructure

Reserves
- Cost
Less Accumulated Depreciation
Net Book Value at End of Reporting Period
Reticulation & Other Parks

Net Book Value at End of Reporting Period

214

Notes to and Forming Part of the
Financial Statements (continued)
For the year ended 30 June 2016

8. Property, Plant, Equipment and Infrastructure (continued)
d) Movement in Carrying Amounts of Each Class of Infrastructure (continued)
2016
$

2015
$

16,000,695

8,063,793

-

-

16,000,695

8,063,793

1,851,179,890

1,829,956,727

Assets Under Construction
- Cost
- Transferred
Net Book Value at End of Reporting Period
Total Infrastructure
- Independent Valuation
- Cost
Less Accumulated Depreciation
Net Book Value at End of Reporting Period

57,063,751

44,345,073

(173,151,117)

(155,764,543)

1,735,092,524

1,718,537,257

The fair value of Infrastructure is determined at least every three years in accordance with the regulatory framework, Local
Government (Financial Management) Regulation 17A (2).
Refer to Note 8(f) for which year each asset category was assesed and level of fair value hierarchy.
Additions since date of valuations are shown at cost, at the end of each reporting period the valuation is reviewed and where
appropriate fair value is updated to reflect current market conditions.
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8. Property, Plant, Equipment and Infrastructure (continued)
e)

Movements in Carrying Amounts of Infrastructure
Movement in the carrying amounts of each class of infrastructure between the beginning and the end of the current
financial year.
Balance at the
Beginning of
the Year
$

Roads

Additions (Disposals) Revaluation Impairments Depreciation
$
Net Increments/
(Losses)/
(Expense)
$ (Decrements)
Reversals
$
$
$

Reclass/
Transfers
$

Carrying
Amount at the
End of Year
$

1,074,987,746

-

-

-

-

(8,028,624)

Drainage

405,305,026

-

-

-

-

(2,655,684)

2,677,849

405,327,191

Footpaths

84,903,084

-

-

-

-

(1,616,209)

2,273,118

85,559,993

9,704,785

-

-

-

-

(834,297)

1,358,884

10,229,372

Reserves

36,281,280

-

-

-

-

-

4,781,776

41,063,056

Reticulation &
Other Parks

99,291,543

-

-

-

-

(4,251,761)

2,219,652

97,259,433

8,063,793 34,710,350

-

-

-

- (26,773,448)

16,000,695

-

-

- (17,386,575)

Other
Engineering
Infrastructure

Assets Under
Construction
Total
Infrastructure
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1,718,537,257

34,710,350

12,693,662 1,079,652,784

(768,507) 1,735,092,524
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8. Property, Plant, Equipment and Infrastructure (continued)
f)

Fair Value Measurements of Infrastructure

Asset Class

Fair Value
Hierarchy

Valuation Technique

Basis of
Valuation

Date
of Last
Valuation

Inputs Used

Roads

3

Measurements based on unobservable
inputs for the asset or liability.

Independent
valuation

June
2014

Construction
costs and
current
condition

Drainage

3

Measurements based on unobservable
inputs for the asset or liability.

Independent
valuation

June
2014

Construction
costs and
current
condition

Footpaths

3

Measurements based on unobservable
inputs for the asset or liability.

Independent
valuation

June
2014

Construction
costs and
current
condition

Other
Engineering
Infrastructure

3

Measurements based on unobservable
inputs for the asset or liability.

Independent
valuation

June
2014

Construction
costs and
current
condition

Reserves

3

Actual cost of acquisition

Actual cost

June
2016

Reticulation &
Other Parks

3

Measurements based on unobservable
inputs for the asset or liability.

Independent
valuation

June
2015

Assets Under
Construction

2

Historical cost of acquisition

Actual cost

June
2016

Purchase
costs and
current stage
of works

Level 3 inputs are based on assumptions with regards to future values and patterns of consumption utilising current
information. If the basis of these assumptions were varied, they have the potential to result in a significantly higher or lower
fair value measurement.
During the period there were no changes in the valuation techniques used to determine the fair value of infrastructure using
level 3 inputs.
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9. Trade Payable and Provisions
2016
$

2015
$

Trade Payables

5,808,097

6,927,910

Accrued Creditors

8,049,001

10,316,312

Accrued Wages & Salaries

1,786,373

1,115,190

Income Received in Advance

1,677,279

1,719,326

Provision for Annual Leave

6,224,118

6,188,658

Provision for Long Service Leave

6,334,262

5,688,937

29,879,130

31,956,333

1,507,353

926,323

1,507,353

926,323

895

900

Current

Non-Current
Provision for Long Service Leave

Number of Employees (Full Time Equivalent)
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10. Reserve Accounts
a)

Restricted Reserves - Cash Backed
2016 Budget
$

2016 Actual
$

2015 Actual
$

Opening Balance

3,306,567

3,521,510

2,783,508

Amount Set Aside / Transfer to Reserve

3,060,601

2,181,190

2,823,605

(2,884,015)

(3,050,672)

(2,085,603)

3,483,153

2,652,028

3,521,510

Workers Compensation Reserve

Amount Used / Transfer from Reserve
Closing Balance

The scope of this reserve is the payment of premium obligations and common law claims with respect to work related
injuries for which the City as employer has a statutory or common law liability.
MGB Replacement
Opening Balance
Amount Set Aside / Transfer to Reserve
Amount Used / Transfer from Reserve
Closing Balance

860,176

860,176

831,230

35,923

23,337

28,946

-

-

-

896,099

883,513

860,176

This Reserve account is designed to cushion any unpredicted peaks in the cost of ongoing replacement of Mobile Garbage
Bins. These are used for the collection of domestic refuse from premises within the City.
Plant Replacement
Opening Balance
Amount Set Aside / Transfer to Reserve
Amount Used / Transfer from Reserve
Closing Balance

4,589,517

5,717,813

4,260,507

1,469,967

1,238,365

2,351,306

(3,070,000)

-

(894,000)

2,989,484

6,956,178

5,717,813

This Reserve account is designed to eliminate the need for substantial allocations from rates in any year. The principle
behind the Reserve is that a proportionate payment will be made from the general fund annually that relates to utilisation
(consumption) of existing plant and provides for plant replacement.
Previous Employees Long Service Leave Provision Reserve
Opening Balance

345,608

316,818

314,079

40,000

110,889

73,872

Amount Used / Transfer from Reserve

(40,000)

(34,388)

(71,133)

Closing Balance

345,608

393,319

316,818

Amount Set Aside / Transfer to Reserve

The purpose of this Reserve is to provide for liabilities for long service leave payments that may need to be made to other
local governments in respect of the transferred service entitlement of past employees of the City. Regulations provide that
long service leave entitlements are transferable from Council to Council for an employee’s uninterrupted service in local
government.
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10. Reserve Accounts (continued)
a)

Restricted Reserves - Cash Backed (continued)
2016 Budget
$

2016 Actual
$

2015 Actual
$

12,232,150

11,901,917

11,501,408

510,848

322,906

400,509

-

-

-

12,742,998

12,224,823

11,901,917

Staff Leave Liability Reserve
Opening Balance
Amount Set Aside / Transfer to Reserve
Amount Used / Transfer from Reserve
Closing Balance

It is the function of this Reserve to cash-back the liability of the City for long service leave and annual leave for continuing
employees. The liability is calculated based on legal and contractual entitlements. Current wage and salary rates are used in
the calculation of provisions. The calculation of the provisions is audited annually and included in the accounts. Provisions
for sick leave are not made in the accounts as they are paid as incurred.
Road Widening Reserve
Opening Balance
Amount Set Aside / Transfer to Reserve
Amount Used / Transfer from Reserve
Closing Balance

408,693

408,693

394,940

17,068

11,088

13,753

-

-

-

425,761

419,781

408,693

The Road Widening Reserve was set up within the 2012/13 financial year to be used for compensation payments associated
with the compulsory acquisition of land for the Inglewood Town Centre Urban Design Project.
Security Service Charge Reserve
Opening Balance

340,000

397,051

339,580

Amount Set Aside / Transfer to Reserve

350,000

628,536

397,051

(340,000)

(397,051)

(339,580)

350,000

628,536

397,051

Amount Used / Transfer from Reserve
Closing Balance

This reserve was created to accommodate excess funds from the charge levied for the Property Surveillance and Security
services. In accordance with the provisions of Section 6.38 of the Local Government Act 1995 any surplus generated from
this charge is to be allocated to a Reserve and used for Security Services, or be repaid to owners.
Surplus Waste Levy Reserve
Opening Balance

4,219,228

8,697,016

14,430,706

Amount Set Aside / Transfer to Reserve

1,078,922

1,721,714

6,266,310

(75,000)

-

-

-

-

(12,000,000)*

5,223,150

10,418,730

8,697,016

Amount Used / Transfer from Reserve
Amount Transferred to 3 Bin Replacement Reserve
Closing Balance

This Reserve was created in 2000/01 to accommodate funds from the Waste Service Charge which were excess to
requirements in any particular year. These funds are used towards operating or capital expansion costs where appropriate.
* $12,000,000 was transferred from Surplus Waste Levy Reserve to 3 Bin Replacement Reserve.
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10. Reserve Accounts (continued)
a)

Restricted Reserves - Cash Backed (continued)
2016 Budget
$

2016 Actual
$

2015 Actual
$

3,680,047

3,680,046

3,555,361

153,689

606,714

136,307

-

-

(11,622)

3,833,736

4,286,760

3,680,046

Payment in Lieu of Parking Reserve
Opening Balance
Amount Set Aside / Transfer to Reserve
Amount Used / Transfer from Reserve
Closing Balance

These funds are provided by developers where it is impractical to provide the number of parking spaces generally required
for a particular development/use. These are held until an opportunity arises where suitable parking may be provided. Care
is taken to ensure that the funds are separately identified to enable them to be applied only to works within the specific
areas from which the revenue was sourced.
Corporate Projects Reserve
Opening Balance
Amount Set Aside / Transfer to Reserve
Amount Used / Transfer from Reserve
Closing Balance

17,780,688

18,548,332

24,808,408

889,482

17,656,126

955,041

(18,118,019)

(9,836,491)

(7,215,117)

552,151

26,367,967

18,548,332

Created in 2004/05 to accommodate future development needs of the City. The finalisation of the Strategic Community
Plan, together with the long term works plan will assist in identifying appropriate uses for these funds.
Asset Acquisition Reserve
Opening Balance
Amount Set Aside / Transfer to Reserve
Amount Used / Transfer from Reserve
Closing Balance

2,590,190

3,375,190

2,503,028

108,173

70,273

872,162

-

(785,000)

-

2,698,363

2,660,463

3,375,190

Created in 2004/05 to accommodate anticipated revenues from land sales which are an integral part of the City’s overall
asset rationalisation program.
Coastal Aquatic Facility Reserve
Opening Balance
Amount Set Aside / Transfer to Reserve
Amount Used / Transfer from Reserve
Closing Balance

2,211,007

3,476,007

3,359,037

92,338

94,306

116,970

(831,338)

(831,107)

-

1,472,007

2,739,206

3,476,007

This Reserve was created in 2012/13 by transferring funds from the Trigg Beach Masterplan Reserve after the purpose of
the latter Reserve was amended. These funds will be help pay for associated costs arising from development of the Coastal
Aquatic Facility.
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10. Reserve Accounts (continued)
a)

Restricted Reserves - Cash Backed (continued)
2016 Budget
$

2016 Actual
$

2015 Actual
$

36,207

36,206

34,989

1,512

982

1,217

-

-

-

37,719

37,188

36,206

Edith Cowan Reserve Lighting
Opening Balance
Amount Set Aside / Transfer to Reserve
Amount Used / Transfer from Reserve
Closing Balance

These funds were provided by the developer of the estate surrounding the Churchlands Reserve. Council resolved to place
the funds in a financial reserve fund to pay for future maintenance and running costs associated with the lighting on this
reserve.
Mirrabooka Regional Centre Strategy
Opening Balance
Amount Set Aside / Transfer to Reserve
Amount Used / Transfer from Reserve
Closing Balance

1,299,524

1,451,213

2,370,882

-

39,372

82,560

(1,289,524)

(1,490,585)

(1,002,229)

10,000

-

1,451,213

This Reserve is to hold funds from contributions and the sale of land in the Mirrabooka Regional Centre Strategy Project
area until required to meet the expenditure on associated works and services.
Future Fund
Opening Balance
Amount Set Aside / Transfer to Reserve
Amount Used / Transfer from Reserve
Closing Balance

2,584,582

2,584,582

2,497,609

107,939

70,121

86,973

-

-

-

2,692,521

2,654,703

2,584,582

The Future Fund is to be used as seed funding for projects that will produce revenue that will assist in meeting the
operational requirements of the City and reduce the reliance on rates.
Tamala Park Reserve
Opening Balance

2,769,348

12,078,672

2,962,059

Amount Set Aside / Transfer to Reserve

8,666,667

5,000,002

10,535,145

Amount Used / Transfer from Reserve
Closing Balance

(3,487,424)

(201,339)

(1,418,532)

7,948,591

16,877,335

12,078,672

The City will be receiving funds over the next few years for the sale of land developed at Tamala Park. It is proposed that
the funds be used for income generating projects which in turn will help create a sustainable City.
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10. Reserve Accounts (continued)
a)

Restricted Reserves - Cash Backed (continued)
2016 Budget
$

2016 Actual
$

2015 Actual
$

800,000

3,035,187

-

3 Bin Replacement Reserve
Opening Balance
Amount Set Aside / Transfer to Reserve
Amount Used / Transfer from Reserve
Amount Transferred from Surplus Waste Levy Reserve
Closing Balance

33,410

82,346

-

(800,000)

(1,829,928)

(8,964,813)

-

-

12,000,000*

33,410

1,287,605

3,035,187

These funds were provided for three bin strategy, amount was transferred from Surplus Waste
reserve to fund 3 Bin Replacement Reserve.
* $12,000,000 was transferred from Surplus Waste Reserve to 3 Bin Replacement Reserve.
Investment Income Reserve
Opening Balance

-

-

-

Amount Set Aside / Transfer to Reserve

-

157,374

-

Amount Used / Transfer from Reserve

-

-

-

Closing Balance

-

157,374

-

The Investment Income Reserve will hold rent from investment properties,dividends and distributions from other investments
and interest earned on Capital Investment Reserve
Capital Investment Reserve
Opening Balance

-

-

-

Amount Set Aside / Transfer to Reserve

-

785,000

-

Amount Used / Transfer from Reserve

-

-

-

Closing Balance

-

785,000

-

The Capital Investment Reserve will hold proceeds of any sale of investment property, funds allocated by Council for
investment purposes, surplus funds from investment purposes and any other funds as determined by Council
Total Restricted Reserve Accounts
Opening Balance

60,053,532

80,086,429

76,947,331

Amount Set Aside / Transfer to Reserve

16,616,539

30,800,641

25,141,727

(30,935,320)

(18,456,561)

(22,002,629)

45,734,751

92,430,509

80,086,429

Amount Used / Transfer from Reserve
Closing Balance
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10. Reserve Accounts (continued)
b) Revaluation Reserves - Non Cash Backed
2016 Budget
$

2016 Actual
$

2015 Actual
$

Opening Balance

-

241,514

241,514

Amount Set Aside / Transfer to Reserve

-

-

-

Amount Used / Transfer from Reserve

-

(211,767)

-

Closing Balance

-

29,747

241,514

Opening Balance

-

1,280,082

1,817,131

Amount Set Aside / Transfer to Reserve

-

-

-

Amount Used / Transfer from Reserve

-

(310,193)

(537,049)

Closing Balance

-

969,889

1,280,082

Opening Balance

-

215,935

215,935

Amount Set Aside / Transfer to Reserve

-

34,160

-

Amount Used / Transfer from Reserve

-

-

-

Closing Balance

-

250,095

215,935

Opening Balance

-

13,690

16,688

Amount Set Aside / Transfer to Reserve

-

-

-

Amount Used / Transfer from Reserve

-

-

(2,998)

Closing Balance

-

13,690

13,690

Opening Balance

-

631,985,807

631,985,807

Amount Set Aside / Transfer to Reserve

-

-

-

Plant & Equipment Revaluation Reserve

Mobile Vehicle & Plant Revaluation Reserve

Furniture & Office Equipment Revaluation Reserve

Recreation Equipment Revaluation Reserve

Roads Revaluation Reserve

Amount Used / Transfer from Reserve

-

-

-

Closing Balance

-

631,985,807

631,985,807

Opening Balance

-

291,119,241

291,119,241

Amount Set Aside / Transfer to Reserve

-

-

-

Amount Used / Transfer from Reserve

-

-

-

Closing Balance

-

291,119,241

291,119,241

Drainage Revaluation Reserve
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10. Reserve Accounts (continued)
b) Revaluation Reserves - Non Cash Backed (continued)
2016 Budget
$

2016 Actual
$

2015 Actual
$

Footpath Revaluation Reserve
Opening Balance
Amount Set Aside / Transfer to Reserve
Amount Used / Transfer from Reserve
Closing Balance

-

62,534,899
62,534,899

62,534,899
62,534,899

Other Engineering Infrastructure Revaluation Reserve
Opening Balance
Amount Set Aside / Transfer to Reserve
Amount Used / Transfer from Reserve
Closing Balance

-

2,106,318
2,106,318

2,106,318
2,106,318

Reserve Revaluation Reserve
Opening Balance
Amount Set Aside / Transfer to Reserve
Amount Used / Transfer from Reserve
Closing Balance

-

30,011,839
30,011,839

30,011,839
30,011,839

Other Parks Infrastructure Revaluation Reserve
Opening Balance
Amount Set Aside / Transfer to Reserve
Amount Used / Transfer from Reserve
Closing Balance

-

8,383,985
8,383,985

8,383,985
8,383,985

Land Revaluation Reserve
Opening Balance
Amount Set Aside / Transfer to Reserve
Amount Used / Transfer from Reserve
Closing Balance

-

645,927,796
(468,299)
645,459,497

645,927,796
645,927,796

Building Revaluation Reserve
Opening Balance
Amount Set Aside / Transfer to Reserve
Amount Used / Transfer from Reserve
Closing Balance

-

139,354,042
909,859
140,263,901

139,354,042
139,354,042

Total Asset Revaluation Reserves
Opening Balance
Amount Set Aside / Transfer to Reserve
Amount Used / Transfer from Reserve
Closing Balance

-

1,813,175,148
944,019
(990,259)
1,813,128,908

1,028,433,357
785,281,838
(540,047)
1,813,175,148
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11. Operating Lease Commitments
At the reporting date, the City had the following obligations under non-cancellable operating leases (these obligations are not
recognised as liabilities):

Not Later Than One Year
Later Than One Year but Not Later Than Five Years
Later Than Five Years

2016
$

2015
$

100

100

400

400

2,200

2,300

2,700

2,800

Operating lease relates to a parcel of land for use by the City for 50 years. The City does not have the option to purchase the
leased land at the expiry of the lease period.

12. Superannuation
The City makes compulsory contributions to Superannuation Plans on behalf of its employees. Amendments to the Local
Government Regulations in 2006 enabled freedom of choice for superannuation under the requirements of the Commonwealth
Government rules for superannuation schemes. This change allows employees to choose superannuation plans other than
the WA Local Government Superannuation Plan (WALGSP) and also provides for the current WALGSP to be the default
scheme should an employee not choose another scheme.
Contributions relating to superannuation plans are recognised as expenses in the Income Statement. The amount of
superannuation contributions made by the City during the reporting period was $8,846,145 (2015: $8,616,520)
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13. Trust Funds
Funds over which the City has no control and which are not included in the Financial Statements are as follows:
Purpose of Trust Fund

Opening Balance
1 July 2015
$

Receipts
$

Paid Out
$

Closing Balance
30 June 2016
$

Verge Bonds

4,095,000

2,120,000

2,178,500

4,036,500

Book Bonds

250

820

745

325

Client Bonds

400

2,900

2,800

500

44,388

246,451

244,887

45,952

665,256

21,900

3,257

683,899

9,927

250

380

9,797

4,106,827

238,590

677,737

3,667,680

Reserve Hire Bond

1,250

30,327

20,307

11,270

Unclaimed Monies

253,371

12,183

5,506

260,048

Land - Section 20A

1,722,744

-

-

1,722,744

Laneways

1,284,038

97,845

164,908

1,216,975

BRB Levy

(4,149)

1,383,134

1,379,516

(531)

Hall Hire Bonds
Other Bonds
Key Bonds
Performance Bonds

Other Trusts
Payment in Lieu of Open Space

859,137

20,147

-

879,284

9,999,742

1,324,067

-

11,323,809

23,038,181

10,204,559

9,384,488

23,858,252
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14. Commitments and Contingencies
a)

Capital Expenditure Commitments
At the reporting date, the City had capital expenditure commitments of $8,304,113 for the purchase of property, plant &
equipment and infrastructure which have not been provided for elsewhere in the financial statements.

b) Commitments to Compensation for Compulsory Land Acquisitions
From time to time, the City of Stirling has reason to invoke powers of compulsory purchase of land to facilitate the
advancement of specific projects such as road widening.
The City intends to acquire land in the following streets in order to carry out road widening operations. Anticipated costs
are based on the City’s valuations plus solatium, if an agreed amount is not available. Any amounts paid prior to 30 June
2016 have been included in the amounts provided in this note.
2016
$

2015
$

-

-

Harbourne Street, Glendalough

447,741

447,741

Scarborough Beach Road, Innaloo

767,412

767,412

Oswald Street, Innaloo

223,000

223,000

1,438,153

1,438,153

Grindleford Road, Balcatta

c)

Contingent Liability - Guarantee for Mindarie Regional Council
The City, along with other member councils of the Mindarie Regional Council, has agreed to provide a financial guarantee
to the operators of the resource recovery facility to be built at the Mindarie Regional Council site at Neerabup.
The guarantee will cover Mindarie Regional Council’s obligations to make a termination payment to the facility operators if
there is a Force Majeure event, a default event under the Resource Recovery Facility Agreement by the Mindarie Regional
Council or where member Councils of Mindarie Regional Council fail to pay the applicable gate fees.
The financial guarantee is to provide comfort to the operator (and its Financiers) by providing a direct contractual
relationship between each member council and the operator.
Contingent Asset - Investment in Tamala Park Regional Council
The City along with the City of Perth, City of Joondalup, City of Wanneroo, City of Vincent, Town of Cambridge and Town
of Victoria Park is a member of the Tamala Park Regional Council. As at the 30 June 2016 the City has adjusted the
equity of its investment by its share of any development and sale of land by the Tamala Park Regional Council.
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15. Investments
a)

Equity Contributions in Other Unlisted Entities

Tamala Park Regional Council
Mindarie Regional Council

2016
$

2015
$

16,406,857

16,031,421

1,234,804

1,145,455

17,641,661

17,176,876

Mindarie Regional Council
The City, along with the City of Perth, City of Joondalup, City of Wanneroo, City of Vincent, Town of Cambridge and Town of
Victoria Park is a member of the Mindarie Regional Council. The Mindarie Regional Council’s objective is to establish and
operate a long term refuse disposal site on Mindarie Super lot 118.
The City has contributed one third of the land and establishment costs of the refuse disposal facility. The City uses the
refuse disposal facility at Mindarie to deposit all non recyclable waste collected by the City’s domestic and commercial waste
services.
The City has received its share of lease fees, since the facility became operational. Capital contributions paid during
establishment are represented in the accounts of the City as a Non Current Asset.
The City currently has a contingent liability in relation to the Mindarie Regional Council Details of this contingent liability are
provided in note 14(c).
The City considers the Mindarie Regional Council to have nil future economic value to the City once the landfill of the site is
completed and restoration has been made to public open space. The investment has initially been recognised at cost and will
be revalued to fair value in the future according to any Local Government (Financial Management) Regulations.
Tamala Park Regional Council
The City, along with the City of Perth, City of Joondalup, City of Wanneroo, City of Vincent, Town of Cambridge and Town
of Victoria Park is a member of the Tamala Park Regional Council. On the 21 February 2006 the Council received a report
advising the formal establishment of the Tamala Park Regional Council under Section 3.61 of the Local Government Act. The
Tamala Park Regional Council formally came into existence on the 3rd February 2006.
The Tamala Park Regional Council’s activities will centre around the development of part Lot 118 Mindarie. Lot 118 was
initially purchased in 1981 to provide a refuse landfill site for member councils of the Mindarie Regional Council, this lot is now
being developed with a purpose of creating a new urban land development and a new urban community.
The investment in the Tamala Park Regional Council has been recognised at the value of its equity contributions. The City has
undertaken a revaluation of its investments to fair value according to Local Government (Financial Management) Regulations.
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15. Investments (continued)
a)

Equity Contributions in Other Unlisted Entities (continued)

City of Stirling Equity Share of Investment In Tamala Park Regional Council

Tamala Park Regional Council
Equity Share of Sales

2016
$

2015
$

16,031,421

14,142,193

8,461,634

10,877,241

Equity Share of Finished Goods

(3,950,536)

2,702,607

Equity Distribution

(5,000,002)

(10,333,332)

Land Held for Resale

864,340

(1,357,288)

16,406,857

16,031,421

Total Equity Tamala Park Regional Council

49,220,570

48,094,263

City’s Share of Equity (One Third)

16,406,857

16,031,421

16. Notes to The Statement of Cash Flows
a)

Reconciliation of Cash
For the purpose of the Statement of Cash Flows, cash and cash equivalents includes cash on hand, cash at bank and
investments in short term money market activity, net of any outstanding bank overdraft. All trust monies are excluded.
Cash at the end of the reporting period as shown in the Statement of Cash Flows is reconciled to the related items in the
balance sheet as follows:
2016
$

Cash at Bank
Short Maturity Investment

32,910

41,354

138,212,347

132,383,183

138,245,257

132,424,537

b) Non-Cash Investing Activities
During the reporting period the City did not acquire any assets by means of donations.
c)

Taxation

Except for the Goods and Service and Fringe Benefits Tax, the activities of the City are exempt from taxation.
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16. Notes to The Statement of Cash Flows (continued)
d) Reconciliation of Net Cash Used in Operating Activities to Change in Net Assets.
2016
$

2015
$

Net Result

25,451,508

40,024,446

Depreciation

29,656,441

27,386,473

(29,789)

27,029

(Decrease)/Increase in Allowance for Doubtful Debts
Increase in Employee Entitlements
(Decrease)/Increase in Payables & Provisions
(Decrease)/Increase in Income in Advance
(Increase)/Decrease in Receivables
(Increase)/Decrease in Prepayments
Increase in Inventories
(Increase)/Decrease in Investments
(Increase) in Assets Under Construction
Loss on Sale of Non-Current Assets
Acquired Assets
(Decrease) in Value of Non-Current Assets

1,932,999

9,248

(3,387,124)

3,075,392

(42,047)

162,003

(1,427,932)

2,887,005

(61,360)

247,788

(362,377)

(25,059)

(89,349)

1,973,480

(12,842,923)

(10,680,166)

1,213,791

591,485

(142,496)

112,895

(1,221,315)

-

3,461,632

(4,628,177)

Government Subsidies

(2,959,872)

(21,963,013)

Net Cash from Operating Activities

39,149,787

39,200,829

2016
$

2015
$

500,000

500,000

Equity Share of Investment

e)

Credit Standby Arrangements

Bank Overdraft Limit
Bank Overdraft at Reporting Date

-

-

Total Amount of Credit Unused

500,000

500,000
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17. Rates and Service Charges
a)

General Rate
2016 Budget
$

2016 Actual
$

2015 Actual
$

99,379,562

99,329,905

95,394,422

24,926,020

24,842,773

24,221,187

17,480

17,480

17,066

1,228,500

1,511,038

1,868,890

22,174

21,333

17,823

125,573,736

125,722,529

121,519,388

Late Payment Penalties

280,000

318,166

308,888

Instalment Charges & Interest

475,000

350,451

481,443

General Rate
GRV Rate in the $: 4.563 cents
Rateable Value General Rates $2,177,943,480
Estimated Number of Properties 63,049
Minimum Payments
GRV Number of Assessments 30,964 at $805
GRV Number of Assessments 23 at $760
Interim Rates
Specific Area Rate
GRV Rate in the $: 3.160 cents
Rateable Value Specific Area $701,700
Number of Properties 23
Total General Rates Levied
Plus

Arrears Rates
General Purpose Grant
Pensioner Deferred Rates Interest Grant
Other General Purpose Funding
Total General Purpose Funding
Shown on Income Statement

232

613,000

627,007

594,749

4,642,130

2,254,971

6,961,739

50,000

-

-

7,216,603

6,734,696

6,163,766

138,850,469

136,007,820

136,029,973

Notes to and Forming Part of the
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17. Rates and Service Charges (continued)
b) Security Service Charges
The City provided a Security Patrol service with a mission “To reduce the incidence of preventable crime, anti-social
behaviour and residents fear of crime within the boundaries of the City of Stirling through patrols and proactive security
measures”. The charge per property was fixed at $29.50 and the revenue raised was $2,825,618. The original budget
was $2,796,000.
c)

Instalment Option for Rates
The City operates four payment option plans consisting of a one payment option that is eligible to be in the City’s early
payment incentive scheme plus a one payment option that is ineligible for the City’s early payment incentive scheme,
plus two or four instalment options. The one payment option must be received within 35 days of issue of statements and
comprised of any arrears, current rubbish charge, current security charge and current pool fence inspection charge (if
any). To be eligible for the early payment incentive scheme the one payment option must be received within 28 days of
issue of statements. For the two and four instalment options, payments are required to be 25% or 50% of current rates,
plus the instalment charge and instalment interest. Subsequent instalments comprise 25% or 50% of current rates plus
any instalment charge and instalment interest.
The instalment administration charge was $9 for each instalment after the initial instalment was paid. This charge is in
addition to instalment interest.
The amount of revenue raised from the imposition of the instalment charge was $627,007.
The original budget was $613,000.

d) Rates Early Payment Incentive Scheme
The City operated an incentive scheme in which 34 prizes were donated by sponsors. To be eligible, full payment of
all rates and charges must have been received by 21 August 2015. This excluded pensioner rates deferred under the
provisions of the Rates and Charges (Rebates and Deferments) Act 1992. The selection method involved a computer
programme that selected all assessments eligible to be in the draw. The draw was conducted in the presence of several
senior officers.
The total cost to the City of Stirling for the incentive scheme was $66,619.
The original budget was $107,590.
e)

Concession and Write Offs
The total cost or reduction of revenue from the waiver or grant of concession was Nil.
The total amount of rates written off was Nil. The original budget was Nil.

f)

Late Payment Interest
The rate of interest charged for the late payment of rates and service charges was 9%.
The amount of revenue raised from the imposition of the interest for the late payment of rates and service charges was
$318,166. The original budget was $280,000.
The rate of interest charged for the late payment of any other money was 9%.
The amount of revenue raised from the imposition of the interest for the late payment of any other money was Nil. The
original budget was Nil.
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18. Information About Fees to Council Members
2016 Budget
$

2016 Actual
$

2015 Actual
$

Communications & IT Allowance

49,000

49,000

50,470

Travel Expenses

30,000

14,499

16,926

448,050

448,611

450,105

Mayoral Allowance

87,550

87,659

83,762

Deputy Mayoral Allowance

21,887

21,792

21,941

636,487

621,561

623,204

Meeting Fee Allowance

19. Major Land Transaction Information
a)

The Development and Subdivision of Tamala Park
Tamala Park Regional Council
The Tamala Park Regional Council was established for the specific purpose of creating an urban development on 165
hectares of land immediately south of Neerabup Road and the Mindarie Regional Council. The project is expected to
have a ten-year life cycle with more than 2,500 lots developed for housing that will be progressively sold in stages. The
first stage of the development commenced in early 2011 and the first lots were released for sale in July 2012.
The City along with the City of Perth, City of Joondalup, City of Wanneroo, City of Vincent, Town of Cambridge and
Town of Victoria Park is a member of the Tamala Park Regional Council. The City will contribute one third of any funding
required for capital or operating costs and will also be entitled to one third of revenue from the sale of lots of land.
As at 30 June 2016 the value of the City’s equity share of its investment in the Tamala Park Regional Council was
$16,406,857 (refer note 15).
City of Stirling Equity Share of Sales & Expenditure of Tamala Park Land
2016
$

Total to
30 June 2015
$

Total
$

Income from Sales

12,846,498

37,821,208

50,667,706

Cost of lots Sold

(3,023,146)

(13,065,280)

(16,088,426)

Direct Selling Costs

(1,013,712)

(4,026,679)

(5,040,391)

Marketing Costs

(111,599)

(126,018)

(237,617)

Administration Cost

(709,221)

(268,822)

(978,043)

Finance

-

(2,667)

(2,667)

Contingencies

-

(6,788)

(6,788)

7,988,820

20,324,954

28,313,774

Surplus/(Deficit)
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20. Financial Risk Management
The City’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks including price risk, credit risk, liquidity risk and interest rate risk.
The City’s overall risk management focuses on the unpredictability of financial markets and seeks to minimise potential
adverse effects on the financial performance of the City.
The City does not engage in transactions expressed in foreign currencies and is therefore not subject to foreign currency risk.
Financial risk management is carried out by the Finance area under policies approved by Council.
The City held the following financial instruments at the balance date:
Carrying Value

Fair Value

2016
$

2015
$

2016
$

2015
$

138,245,257

132,424,537

138,245,257

132,424,537

Financial Assets
Cash & Cash Equivalents
Receivables

8,508,553

7,080,621

8,508,553

7,080,621

146,753,810

139,505,158

146,753,810

139,505,158

29,879,130

31,956,333

29,879,130

31,956,333

29,879,130

31,956,333

29,879,130

31,956,333

Financial Liabilities
Payables

Fair Value for Cash and Cash Equivalent, Receivables, Payables and Borrowings are estimated as the carrying value, which
approximates to fair value.
Held-to-maturity investments are based on the quoted market price at the reporting date or independent valuation. The City
did not hold any Held-to maturity investments at reporting date.
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20. Financial Risk Management (continued)
a)

Cash and Cash Equivalent
The City’s objective is to maximise its return on cash and investments whilst maintaining an adequate level of liquidity
and preserving capital. The Finance area manages the cash and investments portfolio with the assistance of independent
advisers (where applicable). The City has an investment policy which is subject to review by Council. An Investment
Report is provided to Council on a monthly basis setting out the make-up and performance of the portfolio.
Cash and investments are also subject to interest rate risk – the risk that movements in interest rates could affect returns.
The City manages these risks by diversifying its portfolio and only placing surplus cash with banking institutions with a
high credit rating.

b) Receivables
The City’s major receivables comprise of rates and annual charges and user charges and fees. The major risk associated
with these receivables is credit risk – the risk that the debts may not be repaid. The City manages this risk by monitoring
outstanding debt and employing debt recovery policies. It also encourages ratepayers to pay rates by the due date
through incentive programs.
Credit risk on rates and annual charges is minimised by the ability of the City to recover these debts as a secured charge
over the land – that is, the land can be sold to recover the debt. Council is also able to charge interest on overdue rates
and annual charges at higher than market rates, which further encourages payment.
The City makes suitable provisions for doubtful receivables as required and carries out credit checks on most non-rate
debtors.
There are no material receivables that have been subject to a re-negotiation of repayment terms.
c)

Payables and Borrowing
Payables and borrowings are both subject to liquidity risk – that is the risk that insufficient funds may be on hand to meet
payment obligations as and when they fall due. The City manages this risk by monitoring its cash flow requirements and
liquidity levels and maintaining an adequate cash buffer.
Payment terms can be extended and overdraft facilities drawn upon if required. There is no risk associated with
borrowing as this is a book figure representing unpresented cheques.
Due Within
1 Year
$

Due Between
1 & 5 Years
$

Total Contractual
Cash flows
$

Carrying
Values
$

29,879,130

-

29,879,130

29,879,130

29,879,130

-

29,879,130

29,879,130

2016
Payables

2015
Payables
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31,956,333

-

31,956,333

31,956,333

31,956,333

-

31,956,333

31,956,333
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20. Financial Risk Management (continued)
d) Interest Rate Risk
The City is exposed to interest rate risk mainly through financial assets and liabilities. The following table details the City’s
exposure to interest rate risk as at reporting date.
Fixed Interest Rate Maturity
Av Int
Rate
%

Var Int
Rate
$

Less than
1 Year
$

1 to 5
Years
$

More than
5 Years
$

Non Int
Bearing
$

Total

Cash

2.83

-

-

-

-

32,910

32,910

Cash & Cash
Equivalents

2.83

-

138,212,347

-

-

-

138,212,347

-

138,212,347

-

-

32,910

138,245,257

-

-

-

-

-

13,857,098

13,857,098

Bank Overdraft

1.90

-

-

-

-

-

-

Unpresented
Cheques/EFT's

-

-

-

-

-

5,258,873

5,258,873

Employee
Entitlements

-

-

-

-

-

15,852,106

15,852,106

-

-

-

-

34,968,077

34,968,077

-

-

-

-

43,642

43,642

111,028,363

-

-

-

111,028,363

-

111,028,363

-

-

43,642

111,072,005

-

-

-

-

14,468,830

14,468,830

2016
Financial Assets

Total
Financial Liabilities
Payables

Total
2015
Financial Assets
Cash

3.16

Cash & Cash
Equivalents

3.16

Total
Financial Liabilities
Payables

-

Bank Overdraft

2.09

-

-

-

-

-

-

Unpresented
Cheques/EFT's

-

-

-

-

-

2,236,153

2,236,153

Employee
Entitlements

-

-

-

-

-

13,909,860

13,909,860

-

-

-

-

30,614,843

30,614,843

Total
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20. Financial Risk Management (continued)
e)

Sensitivity to Interest Rate Risk
The City has significant funds invested and returns from those investments are dependent upon current interest rates. If
interest rates were to increase or decrease by 1%, the annual return would increase or decrease by $1,382,453. There
is no real interest rate risk in relation to financial liabilities because the overdraft disclosure is purely a book figure
representing unpresented cheques.

f)

Credit Risk
Credit risk refers to the risk that a counterparty will default on its contractual obligations resulting in financial loss to
the City. The Council has adopted the policy of only dealing with creditworthy counterparties and obtaining sufficient
collateral or other security where appropriate, as a means of mitigating the risk of financial loss from defaults. The City
measures credit risk on a fair value basis.
The City does not have any significant credit risk exposure to any single counterparty or any group of counterparties
having similar characteristics.

g) Fair Value of Financial Instruments
The City considers that the carrying amount of financial assets and financial liabilities recorded in the financial statements
represents their respective fair values.
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21. Performance Measurements
Financial Information by Ratio:
2016

2015

2014

2013

2012

3.0831

2.9252

2.4041

2.7306

3.5718

2.5187

2.7274

1.9540

2.0858

1.8377

0.0000

0.0000

0.0000

0.0000

0.0000

0.0500

0.1039

0.0583

0.0913

0.1069

1.0713

1.1252

0.9811

0.9876

0.9911

0.9382

0.9410

0.9105

0.6339

Not required

1.8890

1.9464

1.9868

1.4759

Not required

0.0109

0.0115

0.0147

0.0307

0.0257

0.6033

0.5909

0.5940

0.5790

0.5687

0.0337

0.0331

0.0329

0.0377

0.0406

3.0335

2.8217

2.1562

2.7471

3.6606

Current Ratio
Current Assets Minus Restricted Current Assets
Current Liabilities Minus Liabilities Associated with
Restricted Assets
Asset Sustainability Ratio
Capital Renewal & Replacement Expenditure
Depreciation Expense
Debt Service Cover Ratio
Annual Operating Surplus Before Interest & Depreciation
Principal & Interest
Operating Surplus Ratio
Operating Revenue Minus Operating Expense
Own Source Operating Revenue
Own Source Revenue Ratio
Own Source Operating Revenue
Operating Expense
Asset Consumption Ratio
Depreciated Replacement Cost of Assets
Current Replacement Cost of Depreciated Assets
Asset Renewal Funding Ratio
Assets Renewals
Depreciation, Amortisation & Impairment
The Debt Ratio
Total Liabilities
Total Assets
The Rate Coverage Ratio
Net Rate Revenue
Operating Revenue
Outstanding Rates Ratio
Rates Outstanding
Rates Collectable
Untied Cash to Trade Creditors Ratio
Untied Cash
Unpaid Trade Creditors
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22. Subsequent Event
There has been no subsequent events of a material nature to report since the end of the financial year.
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23. Opening and Closing Funds
Determination of Opening Funds
Note

2015 Actual
$

2014 Actual
$

132,424,537

111,072,005

7,080,621

9,967,626

162,519

410,307

2,939,572

1,607,344

142,607,249

123,057,282

Payables & Provisions

31,956,333

28,350,102

Total Current Liabilities

31,956,333

28,350,102

110,650,916

94,707,180

Current Assets
Cash & Cash Equivalents
Trade & Other Receivables
Other Assets
Inventories
Total Current Assets
Current Liabilities

Net Current Assets
Budget Adjustments (Non-Cash)

148,087

578,701

Add: Current Long Service Leave

Less: Committed Cash
9

5,688,937

5,072,692

Add: Current Annual Leave

9

6,188,658

5,806,653

11,729,508

10,300,644

5b

80,086,429

76,947,331

5b

3,638,076

3,530,039

38,655,919

24,530,454

Budget Adjustments Net
Less: Restricted Financial Assets Reserves
Restricted Assets Town Planning Schemes
Opening Fund on Rate Setting Statement
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23. Opening and Closing Funds (continued)
Determination of Closing Funds
Note

2016 Actual
$

2015 Actual
$

138,245,257

132,424,537

8,508,553

7,080,621

223,879

162,519

3,301,949

2,939,572

150,279,638

142,607,249

Payables & Provisions

29,879,130

31,956,333

Total Current Liabilities

29,879,130

31,956,333

120,400,508

110,650,916

4g

701,621

148,087

Add: Current Long Service Leave

9

6,334,262

5,688,937

Add: Current Annual Leave

9

Current Assets
Cash & Cash Equivalents
Trade & Other Receivables
Other Assets
Inventories
Total Current Assets
Current Liabilities

Net Current Assets
Budget Adjustments (Non-Cash)
Less: Committed Cash

6,224,118

6,188,658

11,856,759

11,729,508

5b

92,430,509

80,086,429

5b

3,745,806

3,638,076

36,080,952

38,655,919

Budget Adjustments Net
Less: Restricted Financial Assets Reserves
Restricted Assets Town Planning Schemes
Closing Funds on Rate Setting Statement
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a subsidiary or related entity of Grant Thornton Australia Ltd ABN 41 127 556 389
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‘Grant Thornton’ refers to the brand under which the Grant Thornton member firms provide assurance, tax and advisory services to their clients and/or refers to one or more member firms, as the
context
requires.internal
Grant Thornton Australia
Ltd is a member firm of Grant Thornton International Ltd (GTIL). GTIL and the member firms are not a worldwide partnership. GTIL and each member firm
entity’s
control.

is a separate legal entity. Services are delivered by the member firms. GTIL does not provide services to clients. GTIL and its member firms are not agents of, and do not obligate one another and
are not liable for one another’s acts or omissions. In the Australian context only, the use of the term ‘Grant Thornton’ may refer to Grant Thornton Australia Limited ABN 41 127 556 389 and its
Australian subsidiaries and related entities. GTIL is not an Australian related entity to Grant Thornton Australia Limited.

Grant Thornton Audit Pty Ltd ACN 130 913 594
a subsidiary or related entity of Grant Thornton Australia Ltd ABN 41 127 556 389

Liability limited by a scheme approved under Professional Standards Legislation. Liability is limited in those States where a current
scheme applies.
‘Grant Thornton’ refers to the brand under which the Grant Thornton member firms provide assurance, tax and advisory services to their clients and/or refers to one or more member firms, as the
context requires. Grant Thornton Australia Ltd is a member firm of Grant Thornton International Ltd (GTIL). GTIL and the member firms are not a worldwide partnership. GTIL and each member firm
is a separate legal entity. Services are delivered by the member firms. GTIL does not provide services to clients. GTIL and its member firms are not agents of, and do not obligate one another and
are not liable for one another’s acts or omissions. In the Australian context only, the use of the term ‘Grant Thornton’ may refer to Grant Thornton Australia Limited ABN 41 127 556 389 and its
Australian subsidiaries and related entities. GTIL is not an Australian related entity to Grant Thornton Australia Limited.

Liability limited by a scheme approved under Professional Standards Legislation. Liability is limited in those States where a current
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An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates made by the Council, as well as evaluating the
overall presentation of the financial report.
We performed the procedures to assess whether in all material respects the financial report
presents fairly, in accordance with the Local Government Act 1995 Part 6 and Australian
Accounting Standards (including the Australian Accounting Interpretations), a view which is
consistent with our understanding of the City of Stirling’s financial position and of their
performance.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide
a basis for our audit opinion.
Independence

In conducting our audit, we followed applicable independence requirements of Australian
professional ethical pronouncements.
Auditor’s opinion on the financial report

In our opinion, the financial report of the City of Stirling:
(i)

presents fairly of the City of Stirling’s financial position as at 30 June 2016 and of its
performance for the financial year ended 30 June 2016, and

(ii)

complies with Australian Accounting Standards (including the Australian
Accounting Interpretations),

(iii)

are prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Local Government Act
1995 Part 6 (as amended) and Regulations under that Act.

Statutory Compliance

I did not, during the course of my audit, become aware of any instance where the Council
did not comply with the requirements of the Local Government Act 1995 and Local
Government (Financial Management) Regulations 1996 as they apply to financial
statements.

GRANT THORNTON AUDIT PTY LTD
Chartered Accountants

M J Hillgrove
Partner – Audit & Assurance
Perth, 5 October 2016
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